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Mr. Tam Tak Kei Raymond

HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC
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KONG
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99 Queen’s Road Central
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Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Construction Bank Corporation
Bank of China Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

[ arig e STOCK CODE

01600 01600

REEBRBSE INVESTOR RELATIONS

FEh 86371 63707151 Telephone : 86 371 6370 7151

{5 : 86 371 6397 9930 Fax : 863716397 9930

B : hk@tianlungas.com E-mail hk@tianlungas.com

#84k : www.tianlungas.com Website : www.tianlungas.com

ok - HA Address Hong Kong:
EFERIR Unit 3905, 39/F, The Center
SRREH 995 99 Queen’s Road Central
IR 39423905 = Central, Hong Kong
B - Mainland:
FR AT F & BN T Department of Investor Relations,
iyt 4th Floor, Tian Lun Group Building,
kY- No.6 Huang He East Road,
KimEEOiE Zheng Dong Xin District,
B HRIESS Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, the PRC

4w - 450003 Zip Code : 450003

China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

5



TH

ANNIVERSARY
OF LISTING

Em10iBE

b EHE==

6

2002 £
RIEEN Y et L v

The establishment of
Henan Tian Lun Gas Group
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2010 F
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Tian Lun Gas CKfaAR)
was successfully listed
on the Main Board

of Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (Stock code:
01600.HK), and it has
embarked on a new
journey since then

2011

KRR EE
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5

Tian Lun Gas started
its strategic layout of
having merger and
acquisition expansion
nationwide
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IFC )2 IFC Fund AB&X
BR - K AXBIRE
FZREER

IFC and IFC Fund
invested in Tian

Lun Gas, becoming
the second largest
shareholder of Tian Lun
Gas

2018 F

R RIET A A K
FRBET & [BRER
] A1ERSL [HRER
e | MBAREHS
VeSS ERE 3

Tian Lun Gas and
Henan provincial
government investment
and financing platform
“Yuzi Holding”, jointly
established the “Coal-
to-gas Fund”, and
started the coal-to-gas
conversion business in
the townships in Henan
Province

b

2019 %

RimRR AR BRCRE -
AUNEE LD 9N
MSCI

Tian Lun Gas was
included in the
Shanghai-Hong Kong
Stock Connect and
Shenzhen-Hong Kong
Stock Connect (&%),
as well as selected as a
constituent stock of the
Hang Seng Index and
included in MSCI

2020 £
SR LTS IR OB

Accelerated the merger
and acquisition of urban
gas business

China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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Business Regions (Continued)
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Hebi City, Shilin Industrial Assemble Zone, Heqi Industrial
Assemble Zone, Xuchang City, Xuchange New Area, Shangjie
District in Zhengzhou City, High-tech District in Puyang
City, Minquan County, Song County, Xinye County, Weishi
County, Xinwei Industrial Park, Gangwei New District,
Weibei Technology and Food Industrial Park, Lankao County,
Xichuan County, Baofeng County, Ye County, Wugang City,
Xiping County, Shengiu County, township in Jia County,
township in Xichuan County

e - BATH - ARH - NAT - BN BER B
% REDEBLBEHRER  FBREEAS  HRH
Dunhua City, Panshi City, Da'an City, Jiutai City, Tongyu
County, Zhenlai County, Nong’an County, Changchun Airport
Economic Zone, Yitong Manchu Autonomous County, Qian’an
County

2% EET  Em% - RUE BEF% TR%

Huize County, Gejiu City, Guangnan County, Yanshan County,
Ludian County, Hekou County

BE - BER - WETaE - KRG

Cao County, Shan County, Gaoxin District in Heze City,
Dongming County

B ELR

Luzhai County, Guanyang County

BIR™ - HEH - TR
Baiyin City, Jingyuan County, Gulang County

RO - BUES
Dongkou County, Fenghuang County

AFRETHER
Yuhua District in Shijiazhuang

FNTTREASA BN T F R - BINTEREE - ILEEmEE
& AT SR - ZET

Longhu Town in Chaozhou City, Fuyang Town in Chaozhou
City, Dongfeng Town in Chaozhou City, Chenghai District in
Shantou City, Chaoyang District in Shantou City, Lechang
City

W BRE - TNEG KR - REBH

Qian County, Liquan County, Zizhou County, Mizhi County,
Wubu County

RERT TR - RE T E %
Xindu District in Chengdu City,
Jintang County in Chengdu City
=M

Sanming City

KBS - BBE
Datong County, Huzhu County

BSEET - FFE™ - BN R -
RIS S%  ME%  RKH-
WEH - MG - E5% - Film
Hebi City, Xuchang City, Shangjie
District in Zhengzhou City,
Minguan County, Song County,
Xinye County, Weishi County,
Lankao County, Xichuan County,
Ye County, Wugang City

£2AM - ALXH - LA™~ B R&E%
M Bk - HES REMER  Changling

[& County
Panshi City, Da’an City, Jiutai City,
Baicheng City, Tongyu County,

Zhenlai County, Shuangyang

District in Changchun City

Bk - HRE
Baiyin City, Gulang County

TR0 g
Dongkou County

=M
Xingtai City

N% - BRE REZ
Qian County, Liquan County, Wubu
County

KB - BB
Datong County, Huzhu County

Pipeline
FIELL
Pingdingshan
City

AL
Da’an City

RiLh
Wujiang City
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OPERATION & FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

TOTAL GAS SALES VOLUME
(&7 752K) (0000 m3)

62,055
25,759
18,106
10.539 15 471

5,808 :
- W

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

HRBALGRE

STRUCTURE OF REVENUE FROM GAS SALES

23.5%
18.1%
® o ®
fEEAF TE%AP REAP

Residential users  Industrial and commercial users  Transportation users

10 +TEXGREZERERAT 2020FFERHE

156,640 151,461

91,752

129,236
106,359 |

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

FAAREHENTIEAFS  IHERP  BAFP - #t
EEBONHEWAD HMEEHEWA23.5% ~ 52.5% - 6.0%
. 18.0% °

During the year, the revenue from gas sales of the Group
to residential users, industrial and commercial users,
transportation users, gas source trade accounted for 23.5%,
52.5%, 6.0% and 18.0% of total revenue from gas sales,
respectively.

BEED
Gas source trade



R ERAF

AGGREGATE CONNECTIONS USERS
(7 ) (users)

794,217

596,421

120016 459401
164,000 l
||

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

$HREE
GAS SALES STRUCTURE

o o ®
fEEmP THERP REAP

3,247,483
2,354,203
1,636,226
1,334,299
1,022,122 I

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
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Operation & Financial Highlights (Continued)

4,204,256

FR AEBHENEERS IBERFS ERFP It
BEBNREDAIMEMRTRHEE24.8%  50.5% * 5.1% &
19.6% ©

During the year, the volume of gas of the Group sold
to residential users, industrial and commercial users,
transportation users, gas source trade accounted for
24.8%, 50.5%, 5.1% and 19.6% of total gas sales volume,
respectively.

®
BT

Residential users  Industrial and commercial users  Transportation users  Gas source trade

China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

11



BLENVBRE (8
Operation & Financial Highlights (Continued)

PN
REVENUE
A BR#F 7T RMB'000
6,548,618
6,439,777

5,113,254
3,109,014
2,693,094
2,251,970
1,343,936
911,939
716,362

p5g.055 490931 l I
m B

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

FEANE
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

T RMB'000
AT 1,063,673

813,465
600,360
429,157
317,982 334,409
250,939
186,288
149,223
75968 90,353 I I

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
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Operation & Financial Highlights (Continued)

HBREE
Financial Highlights
2019 2020
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AREFIT AR¥T T
N &I Revenue and profit
WA Revenue 6,548,618 6,439,777
: % B8 Bl A8 Profit before income tax 1,127,380 1,418,375
: Frigti & A Income tax expense 313,915 354,702
FEFE Profit for the year 813,465 1,063,673
EERERE Assets and liabilities
IETENEE Non-current assets 8,040,649 8,555,621
: mENEE Current assets 3,898,132 4,362,517
: ERBaE Non-current liabilities 4,438,631 3,381,401
: mEEE Current liabilities 3,312,830 4,556,450
HE RIS ZEEBY Cash and cash equivalents 1,349,836 1,640,081
: s Equity
: A& Share capital 8,430 8,466
F& 7S ) Share premium 1,029,366 817,455
FENAREIMAEE s Equity attributable to owners of the Company 3,890,784 4,699,201
: JEVR S| 2 Non-controlling interests 296,536 281,086
: el Total equity 4,187,320 4,980,287
SRR - ARG Earnings per share — basic earnings per share 0.80 1.04
(AR®IT) (RMB)
: BIRER
:  Financial Indicators
: 2019 2020
E RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETFIT AR%T T
ESEA Gross profit margin 26.0% 27.7%
: P P Net profit margin 12.4% 16.5%
: ML R Current ratio 117.7% 95.7%
BEAER Assets gearing ratio 64.9% 61.4%
= NEIE &40 Return on capital® 22.7% 20.3%
: = BOFE FHEBRAARMEEZ @ Core profit/average equity attributable to owners of the Company
;""'Kl-lﬂllﬁ* 2019 2020\
" e WEILA  Saleof gas 62.0% 58.0%
REVENUE STRUCTURE TiRRE Revenue from engineering  36.0% 39.6%
MARF&UL A construction services
39.6% Hib Others 2.0% 2.4%
36.0%

respectively.

FA - NEEROMRE X LIEERES  TREELREFEBE ©EBRAMLR
WARLLED R A% 58.0% + 39.6% & 2.4% °
During the year, the revenue from transportation and sales of gas business,

engineering construction service business and other operation of the Group
accounted for approximately 58.0%, 39.6% and 2.4% of total revenue,

J

China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

2FERE

ZECTF  aREBEREAYHANEEE -
FEEBEN —THE  BREASEZR
BEIMERBANT  ArKEEEEDN
BIgR - MAERHOARE64.40187T
L =ZE—NEFRENETEE1.7% « BFE
FHARE17.861E L REFRMEGE
#4.8% : FEZLFBEDARKS.95
B =T NFRPEEL10.3% °
—EERF AEEMNBERENR15.15
BUF K SESERAFRFHEET
4,204,256 F ©
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RS TR
Zhang Yingcen, Chairman

ANNUAL RESULTS

In 2020, the Group’s business was affected to a certain extent in the first
quarter due to the pandemic. However, with the concerted efforts of all
staff members of the Group, the Company’s operating results continued to
record growth. Revenue amounted to approximately RMB6,440 million,
representing a slight decrease of 1.7% compared with the corresponding
period in 2019. Gross profit amounted to approximately RMB1,786
million, representing an increase of approximately 4.8%, compared to the
corresponding period of last year. Annual core profit recorded RMB895
million, representing an increase of approximately 10.3%, compared to the
corresponding period in 2019. In 2020, the Group’s gas sales volume was
approximately 1,515 million cubic meters. The total number of gas users
from various categories of the Group reached 4,204,256.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

TENTH ANNIVERSARY OF LISTING

In 2020, Tian Lun Gas celebrated its first tenth anniversary of listing.
Over the past decade, Tian Lun Gas closely followed the national energy
development strategy and the industry development trend. After 10 years
of vigorous expansion, Tian Lun Gas deepened its gas penetration, with its
business regions developed from 3 urban gas projects in Henan province at
listing to 67 urban gas projects in 16 provinces nationwide to date. Tian Lun
Gas has rapidly grown from a regional urban gas company rooted in Henan
to one of the major gas operators and distributors with the most growth
potential layout in important provinces across the country.

Over the past decade, under the wise leadership of the board of directors
and with the strong support of shareholders, customers and all sectors
of society, Tian Lun Gas actively responded to macroeconomic changes,
persisted in reform and innovation and constantly explored the path to
stable and sustainable development. Since the listing of the Company, the
performance has continued to maintain rapid and stable growth. Revenue
grew from RMB258 million at listing to RMB6,440 million in 2020,
representing a growth of 24.9 times; assets grew from RMB645 million at
listing to RMB12.918 billion in 2020, representing a growth of 20.0 times;
profit attributable to owners of the Company grew from RMB75 million at
listing to RMB1,044 million in 2020, representing a growth of 13.9 times.
In 2020, the Group’s gas sales volume reached approximately 1,515 million
cubic meters and the total number of gas users from various categories of
the Group reached 4,204,256, representing a growth of 26.1 times and
25.6 times since listing, respectively.

China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Tian Lun Gas highly regards talent training and continued to build an
outstanding talent team to meet the talent needs for the Group’s strategic
development. Meanwhile, the Group attached to the value of “developing
and enjoying Tian Lun together” which benefits all employees with the
Company’s development achievements. Mutual growth of employees and
the Company was achieved by continuous optimization of incentive and
allocation mechanism which fully motivated the employees’ work enthusiasm
and sense of belonging. The Group “centred on customers, orientated to
customers’ need, targeted on customers satisfaction” to actively innovate
the form of customer service, and strive to provide customers with high-
quality user experience. Furthermore, the Group formulated effective risk
management measures, heightened the awareness of risk management of
all employees, and continuously improved the level of risk management.
In addition, the Group has been improving the standards and requirements
for safety management, refining and optimizing safety values and codes of
conduct recognized by all employees, establishing a long-term mechanism
for safe production to realize long-term stability of safe production.
The Group has also continued to optimize and refine its information
management system to improve its management level and sustainable
operation capabilities in order to provide strong support for the sustainable
development of the Company.

Tian Lun Gas always believes that the Company not only creates social
wealth, but also assumes social responsibility. Since its establishment, Tian
Lun Gas has organically combined its own corporate mission with social
responsibility to achieve the coordinated and sustainable development of
society and the Company with the mission of “improving people’s living
environment and developing clean energy”. The times have provided Tian
Lun Gas with the soil for growth and opportunities for the Company’s
development, while Tian Lun Gas has also been actively fulfilling its role as a
“corporate citizen” to repay society in return. During the pandemic in 2020,
Tian Lun Gas actively mobilized all forces to successfully accomplished
assistance in kind and logistical support. In terms of business operation,
Tian Lun Gas is always willing to take concrete actions to create a better
living environment.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

OUTLOOK

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic undoubtedly caused a huge impact on
China’s economic and social activities. However, the economy has recovered
significantly with the effective implementation of prevention and control
measures and the joint efforts of all sectors of society and China was the
only major economy in the world that realised positive growth. The gas
industry in China also demonstrated strong resilience with annual apparent
consumption of natural gas reaching 324.0 billion m3 which represented a
year-on-year growth of 5.6%. All employees of the Group worked together
to meet the challenges, ensured fulfilment of normal gas demand from all
kinds of customers during the pandemic, constantly explored new business
models, and completed a smooth transition in this extraordinary year.

During the “14th Five-Year Plan”, the growth of natural gas will continue,
which is highly compatible with the new urbanization and rural construction
proposed by the national government. In the long run, as one of low-carbon
energy, natural gas would embrace sustainable development opportunities in
the context of the “double-carbon” target (peak emissions before 2030 and
carbon neutrality before 2060) proposed by China. According to the forecast
of the Annual Development Report on World Energy (2020), the compound
growth rate of natural gas consumption from 2020 to 2025 will be 8.4%.
Meanwhile, with the deepening of domestic natural gas reform and the
official operation of PipeChina, urban gas will embrace major opportunities
for diversified gas source supply and marketization of gas purchases.

The Company will seize important development opportunities and adhere to
the strategy of “selective mergers and acquisitions” and “gas penetration
in urban and rural areas” to rapidly expand its business scale. By adhering
to “regional synergy” priority development strategy, the Company aimed
to become regional industry leader in certain provinces and cities. Self-
supplying capacity and profitability of gas sales would be enhanced through
strengthening cooperation and optimizing gas sources. Being customer-
centric and service-oriented, the Company would develop value-added
business and improve asset efficiency. Cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement can be achieved while maintaining profitability with improved
safety operation standards and ESG levels. The management standard
system will be strengthened and digital platform management will be
promoted to boost sustainable development capabilities. To maintain
healthy and rapid development, the Company will strengthen free cash
flow management and reduce level of interest-bearing liabilities. Win-win
cooperation could be achieved with further construction of joint venture
cooperation platforms and improvement of dividends payment.
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AWARDS

On 9 January 2020, Tian Lun Gas won the “Best Infrastructure and Public
Utilities Company” award in the 4th “Golden HK Stock” Poll.

On 19 October 2020, Tian Lun Gas was once again included as a
constituent stock of the Hang Seng Family of Indexes: Hang Seng Small Cap
(Investable) Index Constituent Stock.

On 10 December 2020, Tian Lun Gas was rated as “BBB” by ESG rating
agency MioTech and was shortlisted for the first time in IR Magazine's
smallest cap stock and best utility in Greater China.
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shareholders of the Company and all sectors of society for their continued
support to the Company; and to all my colleagues for their hard work and
dedication to Tian Lun Gas in the past decade.

Zhang Yingcen
Chairman
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2020, the sudden emergence of COVID-19 pandemic severely impacted
the global and China’s economies. The Chinese government timely adjusted
its response policies and measures according to the pandemic development
and assisted various market players in the resumption of work and
production. Thus, China’s economy has steadily recovered with annual GDP
exceeded 100 trillion, representing a year-on-year growth of 2.3%, which
made it the only major economy around the world that achieved positive
growth during 2020.

From the perspective of natural gas industry, China has continued putting
efforts on market-oriented reform in oil and gas sector as well on the
construction of a system of production, supply, storage and marketing of
natural gas. The government has successively issued a series of major
policies on industry regulation, such as “Energy Law of the People’s
Republic of China (consultation paper) (R H#E AR HMBEsLFEESK
Z8%)))", “Implementation Opinions on Accelerating the Construction of
Natural Gas Reserve Capacity (BRI RAREERENERNERE
8))", “Guidelines on Energy Work in 2020 ({20204 828 TIEfEEE RB))",
and The White Paper on “Energy in China’s New Era ((FTBSR B ERLIR
R YA E)"”, strengthened the laws and regulations on the effective use
of resources and energy, deepened the supply-side structural reforms in oil
and gas sector, as well as strongly promoted natural gas industry standards
and sustainable development. Along with General Secretary Xi Jinping’s
announcement at the General Assembly of the United Nations regarding
China’s goal of becoming carbon-neutral, while formulating the “Proposal of
the 14th Five-Year Plan for National Economic and Social Development and
Visions for the year 2035 (BEIRA BNt 2 B#RE T HERFHREIF2035
FIRERIZME))", the Central Committee of the Communist Party of
China clearly addressed the goal of promoting clean energy, low carbon, safe
and effective use of energy, the continuous improvement in environmental
quality, acceleration of green transformation, and enhancement on
comprehensive treatment and joint prevention and control of air pollution,
thus fully showed China’s direction and determination to promote high-
quality economic development and high-level protection on ecological
environment.

Looking back at 2020, the overall demand and supply of the domestic
natural gas market was ample, the apparent consumption nationwide
was 324.0 billion m3, representing a year-on-year growth of 5.6%; the
production was 188.8 billion m3, representing a year-on-year growth of 9.8%;
and the annual total import volume was 102 million tons, representing
a year-on-year increase of 5.3%. With China Oil & Gas Pipeline Network
Corporation officially taking over the operations, oil and gas resources can
be more effectively deployed nationwide. During the year, the natural gas
industry continued to maintain the key tone of “balance of demand and
supply”, strengthened its capabilities of gas storage, peak-shaving and
energy security, better served national strategies, met the needs of people’s
livelihood and assisted industry development.
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e AC BUSINESS REVIEW

HEZZ-TF+-A=+—HIFE"  For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group deeply explored the

REBEFZHDZMRBMATIZEEEE ©  potential value of the existing gas market, selectively acquired high-quality

BEBMOIBEEWMIAEER - 8IFI8EST  urban gas projects, and created innovative value-added business service

IRISIER « (RISEEREEEMIZTEILR ©  model. As a result, the Group maintained the steady growth of its overall
performance.

REBRZFTZFF+_H=T—HIEF The key results and operating data of the Group for the year ended 31
ERFEXEREEHIREATRAPLE December 2020 as compared to the corresponding period of the previous

I year are as follows:
BE+=-BA=1+—-HLFE
For the year ended 31 December
A =E-nF 28
2020 2019 Change by
WA (NEEBETFTT) Revenue (RMB’000) 6,439,777 6,548,618 (1.7%)
ER(ARETIT) Gross profit (RMB’000) 1,786,125 1,703,892 4.8%
FEZLFE ARETIT) Core profit for the year* (RMB’000) 895,213 811,376 10.3%
GBRARRMEENE Profit attributable to owners
(AR®TT) of the Company (RMB’000) 1,043,512 789,179 32.2%
MRS (AL F) Weighted average shares (Unit: '000) 1,001,292 990,849 1.1%
FUEE ** — EA(AR®IL)  Earnings per share** — basic (RMB) 1.04 0.80 30.0%
2REEMRRAP Total pipeline gas users: 4,204,256 3,247,483 29.5%
E%mﬁ (P#) — Residential users (households) 4,175,949 3,224,163 29.5%
— IHERF (PE) — Industrial and commercial users (users) 28,307 23,320 21.4%
— ITEEAPEXER — Designed daily gas supply capacity
HEttRE (B oK) to industrial and commercial users
(in ten thousand m3) 1,011 868 16.5%
RAARBHEE (BUAK) : Natural gas sales volume
(in ten thousand m3): 151,461 156,640 (3.3%)
AAREEERHERAE Sales volume of retail business of
(B AK) natural gas (in ten thousand m?) 121,774 112,824 7.9%
—EEAFPAARHEE — Natural gas sales volume
(B FK) to residential users
(in ten thousand m3) 37,524 31,258 20.0%
— IERPARARHEES — Natural gas sales volume to
(BiXK) industrial and commercial users
(in ten thousand m3) 76,429 72,831 4.9%
— RBAPRARHES — Natural gas sales volume
(B oK) to transportation users
(in ten thousand m?) 7,820 8,736 (10.5%)
AARMBEEKHERE Sales volume of wholesale business of
(BIAXK) natural gas (in ten thousand m?) 29,686 43,816 (32.2%)
RHEEBMRREE (B HX)  Long-haul pipeline gas transmission volume
(in ten thousand m?3) 76,563 76,178 0.5%
BT REEERE (RE) Total length of medium and
high-pressure pipelines (kilometre) 7,063 5,048 39.9%
* HBREAFIE,(&18) — F58 - * Excluding other gains/(losses) — net.
o RIBABSTERE  SEERIKE *~ In accordance with the requirements of the relevant accounting standards,
L BRIETIHTE - earning per share of the Group will be subject to the weighted average

number of ordinary shares.

HE X R RIERER AR 2020F FEHRE
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Engineering Construction Service

The Group actively developed urban gas residential users and rural
gasification business in Henan's operating areas. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the Group connected a total of 832,213 new residential
users to gas pipelines, and the total number of residential users to gas
pipelines increased to 4,175,949, representing an increase of 29.5% as
compared with the corresponding period of last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group provided engineering
construction service for a total of 3,471 industrial and commercial users to
gas pipelines, and the total number of its industrial and commercial users
under the projects operated by the Group increased to 28,307, representing
an increase of 21.4% as compared with the corresponding period of last
year.

Gas Sales Volume

For the year ended 31 December 2020, natural gas sales volume of the
Group amounted to 1,515 million m3, representing a decrease of 3.3%,
as compared with the corresponding period of last year. Among which, gas
sales volume in retail business amounted to 1,218 million m3 ,representing
an increase of 7.9% as compared with corresponding period of last year.
Gas volume sold to residential users, industrial and commercial users,
transportation gas users and wholesale business accounted for 24.8%,
50.5%, 5.1% and 19.6% of total gas sales volume, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, pipeline gas transmission volume of
the Group was 766 million m3.

Development of New Projects

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group completed full
takeover of the operation and management and consolidation of financial
statements of the project in Shenqgiu County, Zhoukou City in Henan
Province. At the same time, through acquisitions, the Group newly acquired
four urban gas projects in Zizhou County in Yulin City of Shaanxi Province,
Jingyuan County in Baiyin City of Gansu Province, Datong County in Xining
City and Huzhu County in Haidong City of Qinghai Province respectively.
Among which, the urban gas projects in Jingyuan County in Baiyin City of
Gansu Province, Datong County in Xining City and Huzhu County in Haidong
City of Qinghai Province had not been consolidated into the Group in 2020.
At the end of 2020, the Group had a total of 67 urban gas projects in 16
provinces across China.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Completion of the Acquisition of the Urban Gas Project in
Shengqiu County, Zhoukou City, Henan Province

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group completed full takeover
of the operation and management of the target company for the project in
Shengiu County, Zhoukou City in Henan Province, which was newly acquired
in December 2019, and began to conduct the consolidation of financial
statements since 31 January 2020, contributing to the Group’s results.

The Acquisition of the Urban Gas Project in Zizhou County,
Yulin City, Shaanxi Province

On 25 August 2020, Henan Tian Lun Gas Group Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with the then
shareholders of Zizhou County Shunxiang Natural Gas Company Limited* (+
MEZIERE R R RA RS EAF)) to acquire the entire equity interest in Zizhou
County Shunxiang Natural Gas Company Limited at a total consideration of
RMB108,000,000.

The project is located at Zizhou County, Yulin City, Shaanxi Province,
with abundant natural gas reserves, and has a relatively high gas sales
dollar margin. It currently owns the gas sources sold by Shaanxi branch
of PetroChina, and such ample gas sources will provide strong support
for the Company’s future operation. The project’s gas market is relatively
mature with 50,000 residential users, contributing to an annual gas
sales volume of approximately 17.08 million m3 in 2019. According to
the urban development plan of Yulin City, the urban population of Zizhou
County will reach 90,000 by 2030. As winter in Zizhou County is severely
cold and there are no heating company in that region, residents generally
install wallhanging gas heaters or boilers for heating, and hence forming
strong support for the future increase of residential-use gas and in-depth
development of value-added services. At the same time, the Zizhou County
project developed nearly 1,000 industrial and commercial users, and its user
penetration rate was relatively high, with a potential to continue expanding
its user scale. In addition, the project has a CNG gas filling station with
long-term stable operation, and it has built a 56-kilometer long high-and
medium-pressure pipeline which basically covers the major operating regions
in the urban area, and as investment for follow-up works is small, such
can quickly implement the large-scale connection and installation works.
Through the acquisition of the project, it will create strategic synergy with
the Group’s Mizhi County and Wubu County projects operating in Shaanxi
Province, and will lay a solid foundation for the Company’s further expansion
of its gas business coverage in Shaanxi Province.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Acquisition of the Urban Gas Project in Jingyuan County,
Baiyin City, Gansu Province

On 22 October 2020, Henan Tian Lun Gas Group Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with the
then shareholders of Jingyuan County Jindi Gas Co., Ltd.* (BirZE & AR
BBRAF]) (“Jingyuan Jindi”) to acquire the entire equity interest in Jingyuan
County Jindi Gas Co., Ltd. at a total consideration of RMB233,300,000.

In 2019, the total population of the counties where Jingyuan Jindi operated
was over 500,000, among them 130,000 were urban population. As per
the Jingyuan County Urban-rural Master Plan, the urban population of
Jingyuan County is expected to reach 190,000 in 2030. In the meantime,
the gasification rate of residents is relatively low, and therefore creates a
relatively strong market potential for the domestic gas sales business and
value-added business in the future. In the industrial sector, the operating
area of Jingyuan Jindi covers Liuchuan Industrial Concentration Zone,
Jingyuan County Dongwan Agricultural High-Tech Park and Jingyuan County
Silver Triangle Concentration Zone with maturing industrial development.
In 2019, approximately 24.5 million m® of gas sales volume was achieved.
Among them, Silver Triangle Industrial Concentration Zone has an
asphalt mixing plant. Liuchuan Industrial Concentration Zone focuses on
the development of manufacturing of fluorochemical products and the
processing and manufacturing of rare earth, metal materials, fine chemical
products and chemical products. In the future, the further development
of emerging industries such as the manufacturing of new materials, fine
chemicals, mineral products and special equipment shall provide strong
support for future industrial gas consumption.

Besides, Jingyuan Jindi already deployed pipelines that cover the towns
of Liuchuan, Dongwan, Wulan (the key urban District) and Yutan, with an
overall length of 126 km of high and medium pressure pipelines deploying
over the main urban operating areas, and with less investment required
in subsequent projects. They are set to quickly achieve a good scale of
connection and installation work. Currently, Jingyuan Jindi has laid 96 km
of high-pressure and secondary high-pressure pipelines, which can meet
the gas demand of the Group’s project in Baiyin City and provide gas supply
services to many other projects in neighbouring areas. At the same time,
Jingyuan Jindi has entered into a long-term gas supply cooperation initiative
with the natural gas sales Gansu branch of CNPC, henceforth supplying
an abundant amount of gas source which provides strong assurance for
the future operation of the company. The project can achieve cross-region
synergies with the existing matured projects in Gansu Province. All together
they will provide high-quality gas supply service to more residents and
enterprises.
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The Acquisition of the Urban Gas Projects in Datong County
of Xining City and Huzhu County of Haidong City in Qinghai
Province

On 25 December 2020, Henan Tian Lun Gas Group Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with the
then shareholders of Gansu Jindi New Energy Co., Ltd.* (H&E& b ¥8eRA
R AT]) (“Jindi New Energy”), Datong County Jindi Gas Co., Ltd.* (K@% S
AR AR /AR (“Datong Jindi”), Datong County Jindi Compressed Natural
Gas Co., Ltd.* (KiBEZ @ FEHERARBRAF) (“Datong Compressed”),
Huzhu County Jindi Gas Co., Ltd.* (EBI& &SRR AR A7) (“Huzhu
Jindi”) and Huzhu County Limin Compressed Natural Gas Co., Ltd.* (BB}
EZRNRBAHERARER AT (“Huzhu Compressed”) to acquire the entire
equity interest of Datong Jindi, Datong Compressed, Huzhu Jindi and Huzhu
Compressed at a total consideration of RMB832,760,000.

Datong Jingdi and Datong Compressed, Huzhu Jindi and Huzhu Compressed
are situated in Datong County in Xining City (the provincial capital) and
Huzhu County in Haidong City, Qinghai province, respectively. These
locations comprise a large residential population, while the combined
population of these two counties accounts for 14% of the total population of
Qinghai Province. Furthermore, both counties also have distinct advantages,
as they are positioned within the developmental grid of the Lanzhou-Xining
city cluster. Both counties are adjacent to and near urban areas of Xining
City, of which Datong County is situated within a 35 km distance from
Xining City, while Huzhu County is situated within a 40 km distance from
Xining City. With convenient traffic links and excellent positioning, more
long-term residents and business enterprises are expected to be brought to
the counties where the said four target companies locate in the future.
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The said four companies are now in a stable and matured state. In 2019,
the net profit amounted to approximately RMB47.74 million. Their
combined gas sales volume reached 153 million m3, and revenue from gas
sales accounted for 88.90% of the operating income of the year. Also, due
to the impact of natural environment, the counties have a six-month-long
annual local heat supply season, thus the said four companies could be
assured of sufficient overall business growth, with steadily hiking gas sales
volume and well-tuned gas consumption patterns of the population. On the
industrial side, within the operating area of Datong Jindi there includes the
relatively developed Beichuan Industrial Park, a provincial-level industrial
park which brought in a total of 270 enterprises, among which 37 are above-
the-scale industrial enterprises. On the other hand, within the operating
area of Huzhu Jindi there includes the Tangchuan Industrial Park, the
Green Industrial Park (a provincial-level industrial park under construction)
and the Pingbei Industrial Park. On the business side, both Datong County
and Huzhu County boast excellent ecological environments with abundant
tourism resources. Datong County features several tourist destinations such
as the Laoyeshan National 4A-level Scenic Area and the National Forest
Park Yaozigou Scenic Area. Huzhu County also features a national 5A-level
tourist attraction — the Tujia Homeland. The abundance in cultural and
ecological landscapes are expected to draw sufficient visitor traffic to both
counties which set to promote commercial gathering and development.
Meanwhile, Datong Jindi and Huzhu Jindi focus on the replacement of
commercial use coal-fired boilers and the promotion of commercial gas-fired
boilers, of which Datong Jindi has completed the conversion plan.

In terms of residential connection, there exhibits a strong space for growth
of connection businesses, as the latest overall urban development plans of
the local governments demonstrate that, as of 2030, the total population of
Datong County is expected to reach 690,000 (with a current population of
468,300), while the total population of Huzhu County will reach 450,000
(with a current population of 401,600). The operating areas of Datong Jindi
and Huzhu Jindi are situated in comparatively flat terrains with relatively
concentrated population and with only moderate difficulty in installation and
connection. Moreover, the urban and rural population in the two counties
tend to be more accommodative of natural gas in general with good gas
consumption patterns but low in connection ratio. Therefore, the local overall
gasification rate is expected to see growth in the long run. Steadily growing
gas user population will also foster the launch of value-added businesses.
Currently, Datong Jindi and Huzhu Jindi have created more developed value-
added business segments that include businesses in conversion, sales of
wall-hanging gas heaters and insurance, etc. Looking ahead, the said two
companies will continue to further cultivate the development potential of
value-added businesses.
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In terms of gas sources, an A-grade open gas source is presented along the
Seninglan trunk line on the national pipelines network, while the companies
have established long-term and stable gas source procurement cooperation.
At the same time, the gas infrastructures of projects in Datong County
and Huzhu County are relatively well equipped. Datong Compressed and
Huzhu Compressed operate one gas refuelling station each, alongside the
installation of a 96-km high-pressure pipeline in Datong County and a 157-
km high-pressure pipeline in Huzhu County. It is expected that the gas
transmission capacity of pipeline networks and the stations are sufficient
for the future, without further necessity in large-scale investment and
construction.

The natural gas projects of Datong Jindi and Datong Compressed, Huzhu
Jindi and Huzhu Compressed were all situated within the economic zone of
the Lanzhou-Xining city cluster, which is a key cross-provincial city cluster
in western China. New urbanization construction is looking to advance in the
area under governmental guidance, which shall push forward coordinated
regional development. The Company has expanded its gas business coverage
for the first time into two high-quality counties in Qinghai province. These
initiatives will contribute a solid foundation for the continued expansion
of gas supply and services in the region, and by leveraging on the policy
advantages of the development in Lanzhou-Xining city cluster, they will
also achieve cross-region synergies between the existing matured projects
in Gansu Province, and further accelerate the rapid business growth in the
region.

Long-haul Pipelines

The Group has a total of six long-haul pipelines, four of which have been
put into operation and are located in Da’an City, Jilin Province, Wujiang
City, Jiangsu Province and Pingdingshan City, Henan Province, respectively,
which have played an important role in securing the Group’s gas source
supply. Among which, Lushan-Ruzhou Pipeline Branch of the West-East
Pipeline Il was put into operation and commenced gas supply in September
2020, which provided gas sources support for the Group’s rural gasification
projects within Henan Province. As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s two
long-haul pipelines under construction and planning are Yuzhou-Changge
project and Puyang-Hebi pipeline. Among which, Yuzhou-Changge project
is expected to put into operation and supply gas in the second quarter of
2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Value-added business

Leveraged on the advantage of existing urban gas business customer scale
and oriented by customer needs, the Group further enriched the coverage
of value-added business to enhance overall marketing level, construct a
sound ecological service system, which would in turn further enhance the
profitability and competitiveness of value-added business. In 2020, the
Group’s value-added business coverage includes gas appliances, insurance,
alarm pipes, heating services, Internet of Things, automatic shut-off valves
and corrugated pipes, etc., striving to provide customers with one-stop
convenient services.

In response to the abrupt outbreak of the pandemic in 2020, the Group has
launched an online shopping mall and activated a new “online+ offline”
customer service model in a timely manner. The construction of value-added
business system was promoted by organizing online live stream for holiday
promotions, improving efficiency and scale of customer services effectively
and integrating the six elements of products, services, member companies,
users, CVM systems and V+ systems effectively. As at 31 December 2020,
revenue from value-added business achieved RMB138 million, representing
a significant increase of 30.2%, as compared with RMB106 million for the
corresponding period of last year. The penetration rate of the Group’s value-
added business is relatively low currently. It is believed that with the rapid
growth of the Group’s gas business and the deepening of the value-added
business, the value-added business will bring new revenue growth points to
the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s revenue amounted to
RMB6,440 million (among which, revenue from engineering construction
services amounted to RMB2,550 million which represented an increase of
8.3% as compared with the corresponding period of last year; revenue from
gas retail business amounted to RMB3,061 million which represented an
increase of 2.7% as compared with the corresponding period of last year;
revenue from gas wholesale business amounted to RMB674 million which
represented a decrease of 37.7% as compared with the corresponding period
of last year), representing a slight year-on-year decrease of RMB109 million
or 1.7%. The Group’s revenue was primarily derived from sales of natural
gas in cylinders and in bulk business, engineering construction service
business, accounting for 47.5%, 10.5% and 39.6% (the corresponding
period of last year: 45.5%, 16.5% and 36.0%), respectively, of the total
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Revenue from engineering construction services

For the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue generated from engineering
construction services amounted to RMB2,550 million representing a year-
on-year increase of 8.3% as compared with RMB2,355 million for the
corresponding period of last year. In terms of engineering construction
services proceeds, for the year ended 31 December 2020, cash proceeds
from engineering construction services amounted to RMB2,418 million,
representing an increase of 0.7% as compared with RMB2,402 million for
the corresponding period of last year.

Revenue from Gas Retail Business

For the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue from gas retail business
of the Group amounted to RMB3,061 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 2.7% as compared with RMB2,980 million for the corresponding
period of last year.

Revenue from Gas Wholesale Business

For the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue from wholesale business
of the Group amounted to RMB674 million, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 37.7% as compared with RMB1,081 million for the
corresponding period of last year.

Revenue from Other Businesses

Most of the revenue from other businesses comes from value-added services.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has launched an online shopping
mall and activated a new “online + offline” customer service model in a
timely manner, in response to the development of pandemic, bringing in
revenue from other business of RMB155 million, representing an increase
of 17.9% as compared with RMB132 million for the corresponding period
of last year.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group realized gross profit of
RMB1,786 million, representing an increase of RMB82 million or 4.8%
as compared with the corresponding period of last year. Overall gross profit
margin of the Group was 27.7%, representing an increase of 1.7 percentage
points as compared with the corresponding period of last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Other gains/(losses) — Net

For the year ended 31 December 2020, other gains/(losses) — net of the
Group amounted to RMB160 million, representing an increase of RMB180
million as compared with the corresponding period of last year, mainly due
to the exchange gains increased of RMB189 million.

Finance Expenses — Net

For the year ended 31 December 2020, finance expenses — net of the
Group amounted to RMB239 million, representing a decrease of RMB26
million as compared with the corresponding period of last year.

Net Profit and Core Profit

For the year ended 31 December 2020, net profit of the Group amounted to
RMB1,064 million, representing an increase of RMB250 million or 30.8%,
as compared with the corresponding period of last year. For the year ended
31 December 2020, core profit of the Group amounted to RMB895 million,
representing an increase of 10.3% as compared with RMB811 million for
the corresponding period of last year.

Net Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2020, net profit attributable to owners of
the Company was RMB1,044 million, representing an increase of RMB254
million or 32.2% as compared with the corresponding period of last year.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group has been adopting prudent policies in respect of financial
resources management, including maintaining an appropriate level of cash
and cash equivalents as well as sufficient credit limits, in order to cope
with the needs of daily operation and business development and control the
borrowing at a healthy level.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group incurred capital
expenditure of RMB868 million, of which RMB568 million was used in
project acquisitions and RMB300 million in continuously improving urban
gas business. The above capital expenditure was financed by the Group’s
operating cash flows and bank borrowings.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group held cash and cash equivalents to
RMB1,640 million in total, among which 98.2% was denominated in RMB,
1.6% was denominated in HK dollars and 0.2% was denominated in US
dollars, safeguarding the needs of project expansion and acquisition of
businesses of the Group.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total borrowings were RMB5,065
million (among which borrowings denominated in RMB were RMB2,040
million, borrowings denominated in US dollars were RMB592 million
and borrowings denominated in HK dollars were RMB2,433 million).
Among those borrowings, 54.7% of which were classified as non-current
liabilities, and 45.3% of which were classified as current liabilities. As at
31 December 2020, the gearing ratio, calculated based on the percentage
of total liabilities over total assets, was 61.4%, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 3.5 percentage points.

FINANCE COST AND EXCHANGE RISK
MANAGEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s finance cost was
RMB261 million, representing a decrease of 17.6% as compared with the
corresponding period of last year.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s overseas borrowings
denominated in foreign currencies accounted for 59.7% of its total
borrowings. The Group will continue to closely monitor the changes in
exchange rates and strive to lower its finance costs through diversified
arrangements, and will adopt necessary measures to lower its exchange risk
as and when necessary.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Information Management

An effective science-based information management is an effective
way to maintain the vitality of an enterprise and improve its market
competitiveness. It can integrate the existing resources of the enterprise
maximumly and help to achieve better benefits. Therefore, the Group
continuously optimize its information management to provide strong support
for the development of the enterprise.

During the year, the Group promoted the gas financial system, capital
management and control system and supply chain management system
among its newly acquired member companies. Through the financial
system, a unified accounting system was set up among the newly acquired
member companies and the entire group, which is beneficial to the Group’s
financial data analysis and facilitates the vertical management and internal
supervision of the Group’s headquarter. The capital management and control
system takes the capital budget as the core and accounts management as
the basis to standardize the settlement process of member companies, and
conduct unified management of credit and financing operations. Supply
chain management system enables the headquarter of the Group to realize
a whole process management of member companies from purchasing and
entering warehouse to warehouse management, material application and
stock-out accounting, and to establish an all-inclusive and standardised
workflow procedures. The system can effectively monitor the dynamic capital
funding shared by the inventory and help the Group achieve a business
model that can generate dynamic and automatic calculation on financial
budget, financial control and financial analysis. The Group promotes the
human resources system in its township gasification business. Based on
the integration of the existing human resource system, it built a human
resources management platform with unified standards and information
sharing, and improved the personnel information database for projects to
enhance the completeness and accuracy of the statistical analysis of human
resources information.

In addition, the Group has developed an online training system for all
employees, through which they can use functions such as live stream, video
learning, online examinations, learning maps, and learning files. For the gas
stations of certain member companies, the Group has built a station control
system and a cylinder traceability system. The station control system can
display in real time entry and exit pressure of the stations, temperature, and
instantaneous flow and cumulative flow under standard conditions through
software, while the data will be uploaded to the general control platform of
the Group at the same time for remote monitoring. Setting up a traceability
system for the cylinder information of gas filling vehicles guarantees the
qualified annual inspection status of the cylinders and improves the safety
of use.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Continuous Improvement in ESG Governance

The Company has established its business philosophy with sustainable
development as its core goal. The Company has also set up an effective
sustainable development governance mechanism and management system,
promoted the Company to practically integrate sustainable development
requirements into the Company’s operations and management, thus created
long-term stable environmental, social and corporate values.

In order to promote the integration of ESG into corporate governance, the
Company has built a four-level ESG governance structure that comprises the
Board of Directors, management, responsible department and ESG working
group, thus, on a system level, ensuring the implementation of ESG-related
ideas within its operation and management. Also, to ensure the execution
of ESG daily management work, the Company has delegated the Investor
Relations Department to be responsible for coordinating ESG working group
to carry out management and practice on relevant sustainable development
issues, as well as reporting to the management on ESG work progress on
a regular basis. ESG working group has been set up by various functional
departments and member companies to handle sustainable development
issues and to be responsible for the management and practice of ESG
issues. The ESG working group has specialized personnel responsible for
practicing ESG and relevant statistics and information collection work. In
order to strengthen the ESG concepts among employee and to promote more
effectively the ESG-related work, the Group conducted relevant trainings on
ESG concepts in January 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

ESG Risk Assessment

In 2020, the Company continued to standardize the ESG governance and
management workflows, attached great importance to the determination
of ESG material risks, optimized the communication methods among all
stakeholders, as well as identified, evaluated and managed the important
ESG issues. In 2020, based on the sustainable development goals of
the United Nations, the “ESG Reporting Guide” of Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, and company requirements of mainstream ESG ratings, the
Group combined the best practices from peers and conducted reviews and
analysis on ESG risks and substantive issues previously assessed. Taking
report preparation as an opportunity, the Group distributed questionnaires
to stakeholders including regulators, shareholders, investors, suppliers/
contractors, customers, partners, media, communities, non-governmental
organizations, the management and employees, and collected a total of
over 1,200 valid responses. The Group subsequently analyzed, sorted and
verified the scoring results of those questionnaires, and then adjusted to
form final substantive issues. Through such evaluation and analysis of the
substantive issues, the Group identified and added several issues relating
to sustainable development, such as customer privacy protection, supplier
management, and biodiversity protection. In response to this, the Group
commenced relevant management promotion work and practically ensured
that the requirements and expectations of all stakeholders of the Company
have been met.

Environmental Responsibility

In the context of China’s proposal of achieving carbon neutrality in 2060,
the Company actively responded to national energy development strategies,
by relying on its rich experience in gas professional construction and
operation and its strong gas source guarantee capabilities, it continued to
provide clean energy optimization and replacement solutions for high-energy
consumption and high-pollution enterprises. In addition, the “14th Five-
Year Plan for National Economic and Social Development and the Outline of
Long-term Objectives for Year 2035 (Draft) ((BIR 4B = 3R - PO1E
hEREIFN20365r5 BIEME(EZ)))” announced in the Two Sessions
convened in March 2021 has put rural construction in an important
position, and clearly states that agricultural and rural modernization and the
improvement in life quality of farmers must make evident progress during
the “14th Five-Year Plan” period. The Group continued to achieve natural
gas access in rural areas by exempting gas connection fees, supported
rural residents to replace coal with clean energy, assisted gas construction
in villages, effectively promoted the formation of rural green development
and lifestyle, thus facilitating the transformation of regional clean energy
structure. In 2020, the Group operated 67 urban gas projects in 16
provinces, with its natural gas sales volume reached 1.515 billion m3.
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Production Safety

The Company persisted in promoting its safety management system with
risk control as the core. Internally, the Company signed the “Annual Safety
Production Target Responsibility Letter (K FEZ 2S£ EBIZETE))” with
respective member companies, focused on the “General Manager Monthly
Safety Checklist ({ AEBLIELEBAER))", set objectives, conducted
evaluations, clearly set up awards and punishments, as well as strengthened
the implementation of safety management and supervision responsibility
of “top leaders” of subsidiaries. In 2020, the Company achieved the
management goals of safety production with zero accidents and zero
incidents of occupational disease. Externally, the Company was committed
to promoting community safety, and through various ways such as
distributing leaflets, placing large-sized billboards, door-to-door promotion,
and sending messages to WeChat public accounts, the Company has kept in
mind the promotion of safe use of gas and put it into practice.

Quality Services

The Company has always been adhering to the customer service concept
of customer-centric and service-oriented, to achieve a win-win situation
where brand reputation is enhanced and customer recognition is obtained
by increasing customer stickiness with high-quality customer service
experience. The Group continued to carry out grid operations in pilot areas
and professional skills of frontline personnel were further improved through
a series of evaluation, training and inspection. The grid management
promotion plan has been completed in 2020, which will further realize
the precise requirements of customer service. The Group further deepened
the delicacy management of customers, established a customer tracking
mechanism for key users, completed customer files and focused on resource
integration striving to optimize the customer service system and improve
overall efficiency and service quality.

Compliance and Win-Win

The Company has always been operating with high standards of business
ethics. In 2020, the Company promoted the anti-corruption awareness of
employees by launching integrity talks and signed integrity commitments
and integrity agreements with employees and with suppliers, respectively
to promote the integrity of the upstream and downstream industries. In
2020, the Company joined the corporate anti-fraud alliance to establish a
clean corporate image in the industry. Regarding the access of suppliers,
the Company requires suppliers to be 1ISO90001 certified and considers
ISO180001 and 1SO140001 as additional advantages for supplier access
to further standardize and improve the performance of suppliers in terms of
environment, safety and quality.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

People-oriented

Based on the “people-oriented” management philosophy, the Company
innovated the incentive mechanism. Through the formulation of incentive
plans on gas penetration in rural areas and value-added business, as well
as the establishment of project contracting mechanism for internal partners
in member companies and mid- to long-term business partnership system,
the employees’ sense of participation and belonging are comprehensively
heightened and their enthusiasm is summoned up. At the same time, the
Company continues to improve the talent training system which provides
targeted and diversified online and offline training programs for talents in
different positions, ranks and development stages. Management training for
college students and reserve cadres was actively carried out to achieve the
common growth of employees and the Company.

OUTLOOK

In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic undoubtedly caused a huge impact on
China’s economic and social activities. However, the economy has recovered
significantly with the effective implementation of prevention and control
measures and the joint efforts of all sectors of society and China was the
only major economy in the world that realised positive growth. The gas
industry in China also demonstrated strong resilience with annual apparent
consumption of natural gas reaching 324.0 billion m3 which represented a
year-on-year growth of 5.6%. All employees of the Group worked together
to meet the challenges, ensured fulfilment of normal gas demand from all
kinds of customers during the pandemic, constantly explored new business
models, and completed a smooth transition in this extraordinary year.

During the “14th Five-Year Plan”, the growth of natural gas will continue,
which is highly compatible with the new urbanization and rural construction
proposed by the national government. In the long run, as one of low-carbon
energy, natural gas would embrace sustainable development opportunities in
the context of the “double-carbon” target (peak emissions before 2030 and
carbon neutrality before 2060) proposed by China. According to the forecast
of the Annual Development Report on World Energy (2020), the compound
growth rate of natural gas consumption from 2020 to 2025 will be 8.4%.
Meanwhile, with the deepening of domestic natural gas reform and the
official operation of PipeChina, urban gas will embrace major opportunities
for diversified gas source supply and marketization of gas purchases.
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The Company will seize important development opportunities and adhere to
the strategy of “selective mergers and acquisitions” and “gas penetration
in urban and rural areas” to rapidly expand its business scale. By adhering
to “regional synergy” priority development strategy, the Company aimed
to become regional industry leader in certain provinces and cities. Self-
supplying capacity and profitability of gas sales would be enhanced through
strengthening cooperation and optimizing gas sources. Being customer-
centric and service-oriented, the Company would develop value-added
business and improve asset efficiency. Cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement can be achieved while maintaining profitability with improved
safety operation standards and ESG standards. The management standard
system will be strengthened and digital platform management will be
promoted to boost sustainable development capabilities. To maintain
healthy and rapid development, the Company will strengthen free cash
flow management and reduce level of interest-bearing liabilities. Win-win
cooperation could be achieved with further construction of joint venture
cooperation platforms and improvement of dividends payment.

Repurchase, Sell or Redeem any Listed Securities of the
Company

During the year ended 31 December 2020, none of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries had repurchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of
the Company.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

Dividend

Pursuant to the resolutions of the Board on 31 March 2021, the Board
recommended the payment of a final dividend (the “Final Dividend")
for the year ended 31 December 2020 of RMB15.30 cents per share
(2019: RMB12.00 cents per share). Together with an interim dividend of
RMB11.40 cents per share which had been paid, total dividend paid for the
year ended 31 December 2020 was RMB26.70 cents per share.
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The Final Dividend will be paid in Hong Kong dollars on or about 21 June
2021 (Monday) to the Shareholders whose name appear on the register
of members of the Company on 4 June 2021 (Friday), subject to the
Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Further
announcement will be made by the Company in relation to the exact amount
of the Final Dividend in Hong Kong dollars when the conversion rate for
Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars to be adopted has been determined by the
Board.

Closure of Register of Members

In order to determine the Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed Final
Dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed from 28
May 2021 (Friday) to 4 June 2021 (Friday) (both days inclusive), during
which no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to
be eligible to receive the proposed Final Dividend, all transfer documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the
Group’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30
p.m. on 27 May 2021 (Thursday).

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. Upon specific enquiries made to
all the Directors, each of them confirmed that they strictly complied with
the required standards set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31
December 2020.

Corporate Governance Code

The Company has adopted and has complied with all code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020.
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Audit Committee

The audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) of the Company consists of
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Liuging (chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael and Ms. Zhao Jun.
The Audit Committee had held meetings with the management to review
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
the audit, internal control and financial reporting issues. The Audit
Committee had reviewed and discussed the annual consolidated results
and consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.

Audit of Financial Statements

PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the Group, had audited
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and issued unqualified
opinion.
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Mr. Zhang Yingcen, aged 58, is the founder of the Company, the
Chairman of the Company and an executive Director. He is responsible
for the overall strategic planning and has involved in leading the
development and investment of the business of the Group in the PRC.
Mr. Zhang has more than 24 years of management experience, including
19 years of experience in the management of gas enterprises. Mr. Zhang
received the certificate of graduation in advanced EMBA program from
Enterprise Research Center of Peking University in 2001, and received
a certificate of graduation in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
Enterprise CEO/Financial CEO program from Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business in 2014 and obtained his certificate of EMBA
from Tsinghua University in 2018. He is currently the vice president of
Chinese Xiangqi Association, and the vice president of Henan Charity
General Federation.
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Mr. Xian Zhenyuan, aged 46, is the chief executive of the Company
and an executive Director of the Company. Mr. Xian has 17 years of
experience in the management of gas enterprises. Mr. Xian joined the
Group in 2003 and served as a director and general manager of certain
subsidiaries of the Company successively. Mr. Xian obtained a bachelor’s
degree majoring in International Trade from Southeast University in the
PRC in 1997 and obtained a master’'s degree majoring in Accounting
from Macquarie University in Australia in 2003.
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Mr. Liu Min, aged 47, obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics from
Renmin University of China (FEIARKXZ). He was appointed as an
executive Director and the general manager of the Company on 17 June
2019. Mr. Liu has years of experience in clean energy industry, financial
management, investment and financing management, asset acquisition,
project development, product marketing and business operations. Mr.
Liu has served as the vice president of the New Energy Chamber of the
National Federation of Industry and Commerce (2B Lg% 5A & 48
JRF®) and the vice chairman of the 7th Hainan Provincial Federation
of Industry and Commerce (BF& TR %ES=). Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Liu has served as the finance manager and the general
manager assistant of Beijing Daxing Urban Construction Group (Qihong
Industrial Corporation)(1t R AR HIK 2 ZHELERISEFRLAF]) from
July 1995 to April 1999, the assistant president, chief financial officer,
the rotating president and the executive president of Hanergy Holding
Group Limited (ZREFERZ S E]), the chairman of Hanergy Yunnan Wulang
River Basin Hydropower Development Limited (ZE{EZF FBB/A7 1
KEFZEBR/AF], the chairman of Nanfang Center of Hanergy Solar
Power Manufacturing Industry Group GEBENIAREEEEEE 5
1I3), the chairman of Hanergy Corporation in the America region (Zgg
E M@ AR, the chief executive officer and the chairman of Hanergy
Global Solar Power and Applications Group (ZREEEOCIRERER),
the executive director and deputy chairman of Hanergy Thin Film Power
Group Limited (2828 REESEEABRRAR]), formerly known as Hanergy
Solar Group Limited (ZEEAFZRESLBEBRAF]), the shares of which
were listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00566), from May 1999
to September 2015.
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Mr. Feng Yi, aged 42, resigned as an executive Director of the Company
on 31 March 2020. Mr. Feng has 19 years of experience in corporate
investment and financing. Mr. Feng joined the Group in 2006 and
acted as the assistant to the general manager, deputy general manager
and director of Henan Tian Lun Gas Group Limited successively. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Feng was responsible for investment and
financing of Zhengzhou Yutong Bus Co., Ltd. and Zhengzhou Branch
of 21 Century Real Estate in the PRC. Mr. Feng obtained a bachelor’s
degree in International Trade from Southwestern University of Finance
and Economics in the PRC in 2002, and obtained EMBA in Guanghua
School of Management in Peking University in the PRC in 2015.
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Ms. Li Tao, aged 49, is an executive Director and deputy general
manager of the Company. She joined the Group in April 2011 and is
responsible for the financial management of the Group. Ms. Li has years
of experience in corporate finance management. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Li had served as the head of finance of SDIC Henan Coal
Transportation & Sales Co., Ltd. Ms. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in
Economics from Henan University of Economics and Law in the PRC
in 1994, and obtained a master’s degree in applied accounting and
finance from Hong Kong Baptist University on 13 November 2014. She
is a senior accountant and a Certified Public Accountant in the PRC.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Wang Jiansheng, aged 65, resigned as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 31 March 2020. Mr. Wang worked as an economist in the
International Monetary Fund and as an investment officer in the World Bank
Group in Washington DC. He was a partner in a private equity management
firm, and did philanthropic work in energy and environment fields. Mr.
Wang has served on the board of several banks and non-bank financial
institutions. Mr. Wang graduated from New York University in 1988 with a
PhD in Development Economics.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jin, aged 51, is an independent non-executive Director. Professor
Liu Jin is currently the vice president and a professor of Accounting and
Finance of Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business and served as
at Anderson School of Management of the University of California, Los
Angeles from 1999 to 2008 and became tenured professor in 2006. He
also served as an Economics Instructor at the Department of Economics at
Columbia University in 1998. He obtained a doctoral degree in Business
Administration from Columbia Business School in 1999. Professor Liu has
extensive experience in research on capital markets, financial accounting
and equity investment and is an internationally renowned expert in the field
of equity investment and securities analysis. Professor Liu's research has
international influence and has been one of the authors whose research
achievements are most widely quoted in international literatures among
Chinese social science scholars in the past decade. He is a long-term
reviewer and editorial board member of various international first-level
academic journals. Professor Liu has received the Outstanding Research
Award from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business, the Eric and “E”
Juline Faculty Excellence in Research Award, and the Barclays Global
Investors Best Paper Award.
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Mr. Li Liuqing, aged 47, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr.
Li has over ten years of experience in accounting and auditing, and was
a senior manager and vice branch manager of Henan Branch of Ascenda
Certified Public Accountants Ltd.. He is currently a partner in Zhongxingcai
Guanghua Certified Public Accountants LLP and in charge of its Henan
Branch. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in Accounting from Henan
University of Economics and Law in 1998 and a postgraduate certificate
majoring in Corporate Management from Tianjin University of Finance and
Economics in 2000. Mr. Li is a Certified Public Accountant on securities, a
Certified Public Valuer and a Certified Tax Agent in the PRC.

Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael, aged 65, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Yeung is experienced in the development and growth of fast-
moving consumer products (gum, chocolate, and confections) in emerging
markets, and was the president of Wrigley Asia Pacific Ltd.. He worked in R.J
Reynolds Tobacco Co. Ltd., SC Johnson Co. Ltd., and Hong Kong TVB Co.
Ltd.. Mr. Yeung is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors
and a council member of the Gerson Lehman Group (Asia) Ltd.. Mr. Yeung
obtained a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration and Commerce
(Distinction) from the University of Alberta, Canada in 1977.

Ms. Zhao Jun, aged 58, is an independent non-executive Director. Ms.
Zhao worked in the Post Office of Zhengzhou City and Postal Transportation
Bureau of Henan Province and served as a Senior Lecturer, Education
Officer and Occupational Testing Officer successively. Ms. Zhao had also
been the human resources director of Shanghai Shibang Machinery Co.,
Ltd. Beijing Office and a supervisor of Beijing Kelushi Heavy Industrial
Technology Co., Ltd.. Ms. Zhao obtained a bachelor’s degree majoring in
Agricultural Machinery Repair from Agricultural Machinery Department of
Henan Agricultural University in the PRC in 1984.
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Senior Management

Mr. Xu Weidong (72f3#), aged 51, is a deputy general manager of the
Company. He is responsible for the management of the Group’s coal-to-
gas conversion business division. Mr. Xu has accumulated 29 years of
experience in the management of gas enterprises. After joining the Group
in May 2011, he successively acted as general manager of Jilin Zhongji
Dadi Gas Group Co., Ltd. (EM&EFFRUMAREEBRAF]) and general
manager of Xuchang Tian Lun Gas Limited (FF & X f@ARAR A T)). Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Xu worked at Jilin Zhongji Dadi Gas Group Co., Ltd.
as general manager. Mr. Xu obtained a diploma in marketing from Wuhan
University of Technology. Mr. Xu obtained a senior economist qualification
certificate of PRC.

Mr. Zhang Linxiong (5R#%), aged 53, is a deputy general manager of the
Company. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in July 2011, and he is responsible
for the management of the Group’s City Gas Business Division. Mr. Zhang
has accumulated 31 years of experience in the management of gas
enterprises. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang worked at Baiyin Gas Co.,
Ltd. (BIERTARAIR ST ARF]) as executive deputy general manager. Mr.
Zhang obtained a diploma in water supply and drainage from Changchun
College of Architecture (REZEESEFERIER) in 1990.

Mr. Dai Wei, aged 40, is the chief strategy officer, a deputy general manager
of the Company and general manager of Hong Kong office. Mr. Dai joined
the Group in August 2020, and he is responsible for the capital market
business of the Group. Mr. Dai has 15 years of experience in the public
utilities industry and is one of the earliest analysts to cover the China city
gas industry in the market. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Dai has previously
worked at Credit Suisse as a Director, Daiwa Capital Markets as an Executive
Director and CLSA as a Senior Analyst. His team at Credit Suisse was ranked
as a top 3 utilities research team by the Institutional Investor magazine for
3 consecutive years. His work won the Best Research Report Competition
organized by the Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts (HKSFA) in 2015.
Mr. Dai graduated from the University of Toronto in Canada and has been a
CFA charter holder for 10 years.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tam Tak Kei Raymond, aged 57, is the company secretary. Mr. Tam has
been appointed as an independent non-executive director of Vision Fame
International Holding Limited (stock code: 1315), CNQC International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1240), Meigu Technology Holding Group
Limited (stock code: 8349) and Kingland Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1751) since December 2011, September 2012, January 2017 and
May 2020, respectively. He was also the company secretary of Branding
China Group Limited (now known as BC Technology Group Limited) (stock
code: 863) from April 2013 to April 2018. Mr. Tam was an independent
non-executive director of Li Bao Ge Group Limited (stock code: 1869) from
June 2016 to February 2020. Mr. Tam obtained a bachelor degree of arts
in Accounting with Computing from the University of Kent at Canterbury,
United Kingdom in July 1985. He is an associate member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Tam has
been appointed as the finance director of an auction company in Hong Kong
since December 2011.
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report for the year ended 31
December 2020 together with the audited consolidated financial statements
to the shareholders.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is an investment holding company whose subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the investment, operation and management of
gas pipeline connections, transportation, distribution and sales of gas,
construction and operation of gas filling stations, and production and sales
of LNG in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). Further details of the
principal business and subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 11
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review for the year ended 31 December 2020, and
discussion about the Group’s future business development, are set out in the
section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 14 to 18 and the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 19 to 38 of this
annual report.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors are aware that the Group’s financial position, operating results
and business outlook may be subject to many risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly relating to the business of the Group, and have put in place the
relevant policies to ensure continuous identification and management of the
adverse impacts such risks might have on the Group. The major risks and
uncertainties currently facing by the Group are set out below.

Finance risks

The Group may be exposed to finance risks including foreign currency risk,
interest rate risk and liquidity risk. Management of the Group monitors
market changes and will adopt various means to mitigate such risks as and
when appropriate.
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Business risk

The performance of major business of the Group is subject to many factors,
including but not limited to overall market and economic conditions, and the
performance of property, industry and commerce market where the Group
operates its business. The Group will adjust its development plan in a timely
manner in line with the development of its local users and in accordance
with the relevant policies.

Growth strategy

The Group's business growth objectives will be achieved through internal
growth, strategic investments and acquisitions. In the event of change in
market condition, insufficient funds generated from operation or other
reason, the Group will consider delaying, revising or abandoning its growth
strategy in certain aspects.

Human resources risk

The Group may be subject to the risk of loss and recruitment of staff
and talents with requisite skills. The Group will provide competitive
remuneration packages and career development plans to suitable candidates
and employees based on market standard, individual experience and
individual performance. The Group will also recognise and encourage
employees’ contribution to the Group through performance appraisal system
and adoption of share option scheme.

Pandemic risk

The Group may need to face business suspension due to the severe
pandemic situation in the areas where its businesses operate. The Group will
learn from the experience of fighting the pandemic in 2020, and actively
respond to government calls to face against the pandemic. While securing
the user gas market, the Group will also implement preventive measures and
actively start the resumption of work and production, so as to maintain the
stable growth of business.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has adopted the relevant environmental protection standards
in the PRC, formulated occupational health and environmental protection
measures, and established regulated operation procedures to ensure
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to environmental
protection.

As a gas supplier, the Group is committed to environmental protection and
improving air pollution. In 2020, the Group’s city gas business distributed
a total of 1,515 million cubic metres of natural gas. Based on the gas sales
volume, the Group helped reduce emissions from approximately 2,520,000
tonnes of coal.

In its day-to-day business operation, the Group continues to promote green
measures and improve employees’ awareness of environmental protection
and advocates the concept of recycling for use. It uses energy-saving lamps
for lighting and requires employees to turn off the lights before leaving office
so that no lights will be left always on. It requires turning off the faucet
after using to avoid water waste. It promotes electronic office and expands
the functions of our OA online office system to improve use efficiency. It
encourages double-sided printing to reduce resource waste so as to reduce
the impacts on the environment.

The Group will review its environmental protection work on a regular basis
and adopt more environmental protection measures in respect of business
operation to strengthen the environmental sustainability.

IMPORTANT RELATIONSHIPS WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group has always considered employees as essential for its continuous
business growth, pays great attention to the safety of employee’s working
environment, and has in place health and safety systems and measures.
The Group also organises induction and on-the-job trainings on a regular
basis based on the needs of employee position and career development.
In addition, the Group has established a fair and effective performance
appraisal system and incentive plan to motivate employees to exhibit their
talents and achieve performance objectives.
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With customer needs in mind and by adhering to the principle of “putting
customers above all else”, the Group has developed a customer service
guidebook and customer complaint management measures, and continues
to provide customers with value-added services in order to improve customer
satisfaction.

The Group selectively chooses suppliers by setting out requirements for
suppliers participating in its public tender in areas such as experience,
reputation and production capacity, and assesses successful bidders on a
half-yearly basis. The Group has established long-term good cooperation
with many suppliers.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group’s business is mainly conducted by the Company’s subsidiaries in
Mainland China, and the Company is listed on the Stock Exchange. As such,
during the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this report,
the Group has been in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong, such as the Environmental Protection Law, the Air
Pollution Control Law, the Labour Law, the Labour Contract Law, the Special
Provisions on Labour Protection of Female Workers and the Production
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the annual results of the Group for the last five financial years
is set out on the last page of this report. The summary does not form part of
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

In order to thank the Shareholders for their support, the Group has
established a long-term steady dividend policy. Pursuant to the resolutions
of the Board dated 31 March 2021, the Board recommended the payment
of the Final Dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 of RMB15.30
cents per share (the “Final Dividend”) (2019: RMB12.00 cents per share).
Together with an interim dividend of RMB11.40 cents per share which had
been paid, total dividend paid for the year ended 31 December 2020 was
RMB26.70 cents per share.
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The Final Dividend will be paid in Hong Kong dollars on or about 21 June
2021 (Monday) to the Shareholders whose name appear on the register
of members of the Company on 4 June 2021 (Friday), subject to the
Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Further
announcement will be made by the Company in relation to the exact amount
of the Final Dividend in Hong Kong dollars when the conversion rate for
Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars to be adopted has been determined by the
Board.

RESERVES

Details of movements of reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in Notes 25, 27 and 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2020, the distributable reserves of the Company was
RMB41,047,000 being the sum of the amounts of share premium and
accumulated losses.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographies of Directors and senior management of the Group are set
out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings of the Group are set out in Note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors as of 31 December 2020 and as at the date of this report
were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Yingcen (Chairman)
Mr. Xian Zhenyuan
Mr. Liu Min
Mr. Feng Yi

(resigned on 31 March 2020)
Ms. Li Tao

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wang Jiansheng
(resigned on 31 March 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jin

Mr. Li Liuging

Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael
Ms. Zhao Jun

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and senior management
liability insurance policies for all Directors and members of senior
management and reviews the coverage on an annual basis.

All non-executive Directors entered into service contracts with the Company
for a term of three years and subject to termination by either party upon
giving no less than one month’s prior written notice to the other party.

As of 31 December 2020, none of the Directors had a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under “RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS” below, none
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries had entered into any contract of
significance in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, as at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into by
the Company or existed during the year.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Li Liuging and Ms. Zhao Jun has served the Company for more
than nine years. As an independent non-executive Director with extensive
experience and knowledge and in-depth understanding of the Company’s
operations and business, each of Mr. Li Liuging and Ms. Zhao Jun has
expressed objective views and given independent guidance to the Company
over the past years. The Board considered that their long service would not
affect their exercise of independent judgment and was satisfied that each of
Mr. Li Liuging and Ms. Zhao Jun has the required integrity and experience
to continue fulfilling the role of an independent non-executive Director and
consider each of Mr. Li Liuging and Ms. Zhao Jun to be independent.

The Board confirmed that it has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual written confirmation of his or her
independence and considered, based on the confirmations received,
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive
Directors remained independent during the year.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Directors and senior management of the Company receive compensation
in the form of fees, salaries, allowances, benefits in kind or discretionary
bonuses relating to the performance of the Group. The Group also reimburses
the Directors and senior management for expenses which are necessarily
and reasonably incurred for providing services to the Group or discharging
their duties in relation to the operation of the Group. When reviewing
and determining the specific remuneration packages for the executive
Directors and senior management, the Remuneration Committee takes into
consideration factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, employment elsewhere in
the Group and desirability of performance-based remuneration.
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Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in Note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid individuals are set out in
Note 9 to consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")),
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies (“Model Code”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company (“Shares”):

LR N
2B BIT
RABEA
Bk
FEEE Approximate
B8 R EE percentage
B RmtE R E Number of  of the total issued
EEME Capacity/Nature Number of underlying share capital
Name of director of interest Shares held Shares held of the Company
oS ([REE]D) BREBA (ML) — 181,689,608 18.10%
Mr. Zhang Yingcen (“Mr. Zhang”) Beneficial owner (Note 1)
REHhEE R 534,899,300 545,068,824 107.61%
(M2 % 3)
Interest of controlled
corporation
(Notes 2 and 3)
BofBiEes (M5t 4) 5,722,500 181,689,608 18.67%

Interest of spouse (Note 4)

China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

53



EEEHE (B

Directors’ Report (Continued)

(ERNE|
2B RT
BRAEEL
Aotk
BEER Approximate
8 B EE percentage
B REmtE R EE Number of  of the total issued
EENE Capacity/Nature Number of underlying share capital
Name of director of interest Shares held Shares held of the Company
HRRA A (DAL ED BB A 9,000,000 — 0.90%
Mr. Xian Zhenyuan (“Mr. Xian”) Beneficial owner
SAEHLEERER (IFE5) 12,829,500 — 1.28%
Interest of controlled
corporation (Note 5)
TEL T EnEEA 3,000,000 — 0.30%
Ms. Li Tao Beneficial owner
FisE Notes:
1. RZZT—RF=A=+t8 (&L 1. On 27 March 2015, (i) Mr. Zhang, Ms. Sun Yanxi (“Ms. Sun”) and Mr. Zhang

& BB ((Brt)) RRERg
£ (EBEBEBA) (FRIEBAD (i)
BERBREARAR  SEBERERAR
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Daoyuan, as sponsors (collectively, the “Sponsors”); (ii) Chequers Development
Limited, Gold Shine Development Limited and Tian Lun Group Limited (formerly
known as Fortune Hill Group Limited) as companies owned directly and/or indirectly
by one or more Sponsors; and (iii) International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) and
IFC Global Infrastructure Fund, LP (“IFC Fund”, “IFC” and “IFC Fund” collectively,
the “Investors”) entered into a sponsors’ agreement (the “Sponsors’ Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Grantors have, inter alia, granted the Put Option (as defined
in the circular of the Company dated 21 April 2015) to IFC and IFC Fund.

The Grantors assume joint and several obligations to purchase the Put Shares
(as defined in the circular of the Company dated 21 April 2015). Accordingly,
assuming the Investors elect to exercise the Put Option (as defined in the
circular of the Company dated 21 April 2015) in full against Mr. Zhang only,
Mr. Zhang is obliged to purchase the Put Shares, being 181,689,608 Shares.
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Gold Shine Development Limited is interested in 471,171,300 Shares through
its wholly-owned subsidiary, namely Tian Lun Group Limited. The entire issued
share capital of Gold Shine Development Limited is owned as to 60% by Mr.
Zhang. Therefore, Mr. Zhang is deemed or taken to be interested in all the Shares
and underlying Shares held by Tian Lun Group Limited for the purposes of the
SFO.

Mr. Zhang wholly-owns Chequers Development Limited, which is interested
in 63,728,000 Shares. Therefore, Mr. Zhang is also deemed or taken to
be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares held by Chequers
Development Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

Mr. Zhang is the director of Gold Shine Development Limited, Tian Lun Group
Limited and Chequers Development Limited.

The Grantors assume joint and several obligations to purchase the Put Shares
under the Sponsors’ Agreement. Accordingly, assuming the Investors elect to
exercise the Put Option in full against the Sponsors’ SPVs (as defined in the
circular of the Company dated 21 April 2015) only, the Sponsors’ SPVs, as
a group, is obliged to purchase the Put Shares, being 181,689,608 Shares.
Such underlying 545,068,824 Shares represent the aggregation of the
maximum number of the Put Shares that may be put by the Investors to each
of the Sponsors’ SPVs in such circumstances.

Ms. Sun the spouse of Mr. Zhang holds 5,722,500 Shares through her
individual security account. Therefore, Mr. Zhang is deemed or taken to be
interested in all the Shares held by Ms. Sun for the purpose of the SFO.

The Grantors assume joint and several obligations to purchase the Put Shares
under the Sponsors’ Agreement. Accordingly, assuming the Investors elect
to exercise the Put Option in full against Ms. Sun only, Ms. Sun is obliged to
purchase the Put Shares, being 181,689,608 Shares.

Mr. Xian beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of Pleasant New
Limited, which in turn owns 12,829,500 Shares. Therefore, Mr. Xian is
deemed or taken to be interested in all the Shares held by Pleasant New
Limited for the purposes of the SFO. Mr. Xian is the sole director of Pleasant
New Limited.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in
the Shares, the underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company or any Associated Corporation” above and the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief
executives of the Company or their associates to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2020, as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO, the following persons (except the Directors and chief executives of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or the underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
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HARAT
ERITRA
BAES
FrisiEEs Approximate
REOEE percentage of
51 RmtE s E Number of issued share
HE LB Capacity/Nature Number of underlying capital of
Name of Interest Shares held Shares held the Company
KimEEAER AT EnEAEA 471,171,300 181,689,608 65.05%
(PfizE1 ~ 2% 3) Beneficial owner
Tian Lun Group Limited
(Notes 1, 2 and 3)
THEERAERAT ExREAEA — 181,689,608 18.10%
(31~ 2% 4) Beneficial owner
Gold Shine Development Pzl = B s 471,171,300 181,689,608 65.05%
Limited (Notes 1, 2 and 4) Interest of controlled
corporation
BERERARAT BEmEAA 63,728,000 181,689,608 24.45%
(2% 5) Beneficial owner
Chequers Development
Limited (Notes 2 and 5)
FRIER 2+ ey o 5,722,500 181,689,608 18.67%
(W2 ke6)([#HzL]) Beneficial interest
Ms. Sun Yanxi fe B 534,899,300 726,758,432 125.71%
(Notes 2 and 6) (“Ms. Sun”) Interest of spouse
REREAE (2R 7) ey i — 181,689,608 18.10%
Mr. Zhang Daoyuan Beneficial interest
(Notes 2 and 7)
IFC Asset Management REEE 88,939,304 — 8.86%
Company, LLC (F§7£8) (Note 8) Investment manager
IFC Fund (F15E 8) (Note 8) EnlEA 88,939,304 — 8.86%
Beneficial owner
IFC (FfizE8) (Note 8) EnlEA 88,939,304 — 8.86%
Beneficial owner
FrizEsl A B R 88,939,304 — 8.86%
Interest of controlled
corporation
Ee kL EnlEA 69,280,759 — 6.90%

Mr. Koo Yuen Kim

Beneficial owner
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Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

The entire issued share capital of Tian Lun Group Limited is held by Gold
Shine Development Limited. Tian Lun Group Limited owns 471,171,300
Shares. Therefore, Gold Shine Development Limited is deemed or taken to
be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares held by Tian Lun Group
Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

The Grantors assume joint and several obligations to purchase the Put Shares
under the Sponsors’ Agreement.

Such 181,689,608 underlying Shares represent the maximum number of the
Put Shares that may be put by the Investors to Tian Lun Group Limited under
the Sponsors’ Agreement.

Such 181,689,608 underlying Shares represent the maximum number of
the Put Shares that may be put by the Investors to Gold Shine Development
Limited under the Sponsors’ Agreement.

Such 181,689,608 underlying Shares represent the maximum number of
the Put Shares that may be put by the Investors to Chequers Development
Limited under the Sponsors’ Agreement.

Gold Shine Development Limited is owned as to 60% by Mr. Zhang. Together
with Notes (1), (3) and (4) above, Mr. Zhang is deemed or taken to be
interested in all the Shares and the underlying Shares held by Tian Lun Group
Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

Chequers Development Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Zhang and owns
63,728,000 Shares. Together with Note (5) above, Mr. Zhang is also deemed
or taken to be interested in all the Shares and underlying Shares held by
Chequers Development Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

Mr. Zhang may be obliged to purchase the 181,689,608 underlying Shares,
representing the maximum number of the Put Shares that may be put by the
Investors to Mr. Zhang under the Sponsors’ Agreement.

Ms. Sun is the spouse of Mr. Zhang, and therefore Ms. Sun is deemed or
taken to be interested in all the Shares and the underlying Shares in which
Mr. Zhang is interested and may be obliged to purchase respectively for
the purpose of the SFO. Ms. Sun holds 5,722,500 Shares through her
individual security account and may be obliged to purchase the 181,689,608
underlying Shares, representing the maximum number of the Put Shares that
may be put by the Investors to Ms. Sun under the Sponsors’ Agreement.
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(7) Such 181,689,608 underlying Shares represent the maximum number of the
Put Shares that may be put by the Investors to Mr. Zhang Daoyuan under the
Sponsors’ Agreement.

(8) These 88,939,304 Shares are held by IFC Fund, which is owned as to
100% by IFC. IFC also owns the entire issued share capital of IFC Asset
Management Company, LLC. IFC is deemed or taken to be interested in all
the Shares held by IFC Fund for the purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Directors were not
aware of any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares,
debentures of the Company which falls to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to attract and retain the eligible persons, to provide additional
incentive to them and to promote the success of the business of the Group,
the Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Old
Scheme”) on 13 October 2010 whereby the Board was authorised, at their
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Old Scheme, to grant
options to subscribe for the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) to, inter
alia, any employees (full-time or part-time), directors, consultants, advisers,
major shareholders, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners or service providers of the Group. The Old Scheme became
unconditional on 10 November 2010 and shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing on 13 October 2010, subject to the early
termination provisions contained in the Old Scheme. An offer for the grant
of options must be accepted within seven days inclusive of the day on which
such offer was made. The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the
Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.
The exercise price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Old Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board and
notified to a participant and shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the option; (ii) the average of the closing prices of
the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
5 business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and
(iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the option.
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The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that the total
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Old Scheme does not exceed 10.0% of the Shares in
issue on the date of approval of the Old Scheme. The Company may at any
time refresh such limit, subject to the Shareholders’ approval and issue
of a circular in compliance with the Listing Rules, provided that the total
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under all the share option schemes
of the Company does not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue at the time.
The total number of Shares available for issue under the Old Scheme as at
the date of this report was 79,800,000 which represented 7.95% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report. The total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options granted
to any grantee (including both exercised and outstanding options) under
the Old Scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not
exceed 1.0% of the Shares in issue.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Old Scheme
at any time during a period as the Board may determine which shall not
exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof.

On 18 July 2017, the Company granted a total of 15,000,000 share
options to three executive Directors of the Company to subscribe for a total
of 15,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in accordance with the
Old Scheme adopted on 13 October 2010. On 12 July 2018, the Company
granted a total of 30,000,000 ordinary shares of nominal value of HK$0.01
each in the share capital of the Company. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 18 July 2017 and 12 July 2018,
respectively.

The Old Scheme expired on 12 October 2020 and the Board has adopted
a new share option scheme with terms in compliance with Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules. Upon expiry of the Old Scheme, no further options will
be granted thereunder; however, the rules of the Old Scheme will remain
in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise
of option granted prior to its expiry or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the rules of the Old Scheme. Options granted prior to such
expiry will continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the rules
of the Old Scheme. As at the date of this report, there were 24,000,000
options outstanding under the Old Scheme.
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In view of the expiry of the Old Scheme and to enable the Company to
grant Options to Eligible Participants as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the success of the Group, the Company conditionally
adopted a new share option scheme (the “New Scheme”) on 28 October
2020, pursuant to which, The Board is authorized to, at its absolute
discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant any employee (full-time
or part-time), director, consultant or adviser of any member of the Group, or
any substantial shareholder of any member of the Group, or any distributor,
contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service provider of
any member of the Group, options to subscribe for such number of Shares
as the Board may determine in accordance with the terms and price of the
New Scheme. The New Scheme has become unconditional on 5 November
2020 and will be effective for ten years commencing from 5 November
2020, and it is subject to early termination according to the terms set out in
the New Scheme. An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
7 days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The amount
payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of the
offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00. The Subscription Price of a
Share in respect of any particular option granted under the New Scheme
shall be a price solely determined by the Board and notified to a participant
and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the option, which must be a Business Day; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date of grant of
the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the
option, provided that in the event of fractional prices, the Subscription Price
per Share shall be rounded upwards to the nearest whole cent.

The Company has the right to issue share options, provided that the total
number of shares that may be issued upon the exercise of all options
granted under the New Scheme must not exceed 10% of the shares in issue
on the date of approval of the New Scheme. The Company may refresh
such limit at any time but is subject to the shareholders’ approval and the
issuance of a circular in compliance with the Listing Rules. The aggregate
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the New Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of
the Shares in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the
Company, if this will result in such 30% limit being exceeded. As at the
date of this report, the total number of Shares which may be issued under
the New Scheme was 100,361,510 shares, representing 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of this report. The total number
of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options granted to any
participant (including both exercised and outstanding options) under the
New Share Option Scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date of grant
must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
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A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the New
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine which shall
not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof.

From the effective date of the New Scheme to the date of this report, there
were no share options granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
New Scheme, nor any outstanding share options. A summary of the principal
terms of the New Scheme was set out in the circular of the Company dated

8 October 2020.

The following table discloses the movements in the Company’s share options

IFFERRRIBREZE) : during the year ended 31 December 2020:
R=B=%%
i R tZA=tH
b= St 22 LS V3 | HRATR
-B-H FREH ERTE Lapsed/  Outstanding
As at Granted Exercised cancelled as at
ERA 1 January during during during 30 December  HEHAH AiTREHE e
Grantees 2020 the year the year the year 2020  Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price
HHRR 3,000,000 — 3,000,000 - — ZE—tHtATAR “Z-Z5LATN\BE 497 AT
Xian Zhenyuan 18 July 2017 ZEZ-FtATtH HK$4.97
18 July 2020 - 17 July 2021
R 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 — ZE—tFtAtNA ZTZZFtATN\RE 4.97%T
(R=Z-%% 18 July 2017 “E--FtAtth HK$4.97
=R=1—H#ff) 18 July 2020 - 17 July 2021
Feng Yi
(resigned on 31 March 2020)
3 1,000,000 — 1,000,000 - — ZE-tFtATNA ZTZZFtATN\BE 4977
Li Tao 18 July 2017 ZEZ-5tATtA HK$4.97
18 July 2020 - 17 July 2021
HtbfEE 6,000,000 - — 6,000,000 — ZE-\§tAtzH “F-NEtATZRZE 9.12%
Other employees 12 July 2018 ZZZRECAT-H
12 July 2019 - 11 July 2020
6,000,000 - - — 6000000 ZE-N\FLA+=AH Sy s = 9.12%T
12 July 2018 ZZ--%tAT-H
12 July 2020 - 11 July 2021
6,000,000 - - — 6000000 ZE-NFLA+=H “E--%tATZRZ 9.12%
12 July 2018 ZEZ-FtAt-H
12 July 2021 - 11 July 2022
6,000,000 — - — 6000000 ZE-N\FtA+=AH e S sl =) 9.12%%
12 July 2018 “TZ=FEAT-A
12 July 2022 - 11 July 2023
6,000,000 - - — 6000000 ZE-\FtA+=AH S s = 9.128
12 July 2018 ZZCMELAT-A
12 July 2023 - 11 July 2024
@t 35,000,000 — 4,000,000 7,000,000 24,000,000
Total
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The material related party transactions entered into by the Company and
subsisting during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in Note 37
to the consolidated financial statements. Such related party transactions
do not fall under the definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

connected transaction”

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSAL AND
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, during the year ended 31 December 2020
and as at the date of this report, the Group had no material acquisition,
disposal or significant investments.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every Director
shall be entitled to be of the Company indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto. The Company has adopted and maintained appropriate insurance to
provide protection for possible legal action against its directors.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In 2020, sales to the five largest customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 38.51% of the turnover of the Group, in which sales to the
largest customer accounted for approximately 27.89%, while purchases
from the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately
42.32% of the purchases of the Group in which purchases from the
largest supplier accounted for approximately 17.68%. To the best of the
Board’s knowledge having made all enquiries with all Directors, neither
the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), nor
any Shareholders owning more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital had any beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, none of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any listed securities of the
Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no relevant provisions for pre-emptive rights in the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the public float of the Company is not less than 25% as prescribed under
the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has implemented the code provisions set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. The Company has been in compliance with the CG Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.
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AUDITOR

The Company has appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2020. PricewaterhouseCoopers
will retire in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A
resolution will be proposed in the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the
Company’s auditor.

For and on behalf of the Board of
China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited
Chairman

Zhang Yingcen

31 March 2021
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company recognises the value and importance of achieving high
corporate governance standards to enhance corporate performance,
transparency and accountability, earning the confidence of Shareholders
and the public. The Board strives to adhere to the principles of corporate
governance and adopt sound corporate governance practices to meet the
legal and commercial standards by focusing on areas such as internal
control, fair disclosure and accountability to all Shareholders.

The Company has adopted and complied with all code provisions set out in
the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the year
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Upon specific enquiries
of all Directors of the Company, each of them confirmed that they strictly
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code during the
Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Members of the Board of Directors

As at the date of this annual report, the Board of the Company comprised
(i) Mr. Zhang Yingcen (Chairman), Mr. Xian Zhenyuan, Mr. Liu Min and
Ms. Li Tao as executive Directors; (ii) Mr. Liu Jin, Mr. Li Liuging, Mr. Yeung
Yui Yuen Michael and Ms. Zhao Jun as independent non-executive Directors.
The biographies of all the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report. All executive
Directors of the Company have sufficient experiences for their positions to
effectively carry out their duties.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Company has appointed four independent non-executive Directors and
at least one of them has accounting expertise to assist the management in
formulating development strategies of the Group, and to ensure that the
preparation of the financial reports and other mandatory reports by the
Board are in strict adherence to appropriate systems in order to protect the
interests of the Shareholders and the Company. Each independent Director
has confirmed in accordance with the guidelines specified in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules that they are independent of the Company, and the
Company considers that they were independent in accordance with the
Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

There are no relationships (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship) among the members of the Board, and in
particular, between the chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the
Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
as set out in the amended code provision D.3.1. During the year ended
31 December 2020, the Board had reviewed and discussed the corporate
governance policy of the Group and was satisfied with the effectiveness of
the corporate governance policy of the Group.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All appointed Directors received comprehensive, formal training on the
first occasion of their appointments and were ensured to have a proper
understanding of the businesses and development of the Group and that
they were fully aware of their responsibilities under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory
requirements and the business and governance policies of the Company.
To facilitate the Directors to discharge their responsibilities, they are
continuously updated with regulatory developments, business and market
changes and the strategic development of the Group. For the financial year
ended 31 December 2020, all Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Yingcen, Mr.
Xian Zhenyuan, Mr. Liu Min, Ms. Li Tao, Mr. Liu Jin, Ms. Zhao Jun, Mr.
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Yeung Yui Yuen Michael and Mr. Li Liuging, have participated in a training
course on the PRC Company Law organized by the PRC legal adviser to the
Company, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills and provided
their training records to the Company.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

In respect of regular Board meetings, and so far as practicable in all other
cases, an agenda accompanied by the relevant Board papers are sent to all
Directors in a timely manner and at least three days before the specified
date of a Board meeting. All Directors are entitled to have access to Board
papers, Board minutes and related materials.

THE OPERATION OF THE BOARD

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the
Company. The Board’s primary duty is to ensure the viability of the Company
and to ensure that it is managed in the best interests of the Shareholders
as a whole while taking into account the interests of other stakeholders. The
Group has adopted internal guidelines in setting forth matters that require
the Board's approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board
is also responsible for making decisions of formulating the development
targets and strategies, material acquisitions and disposals, material capital
investment, dividend policies, the appointment and removal of directors
and senior management, remuneration policies and other major operation
and financial issues of the Company. The powers and duties of the Board
include convening Shareholders’ meetings and reporting the Board’s
work at Shareholders’ meetings, implementing resolutions passed at
Shareholders’ meetings, determining business plans and investment plans,
formulating annual budget and final accounts, formulating proposals for
profit distributions and for the increase or reduction of registered capital as
well as exercising other powers, functions and duties as conferred by the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company. The daily business
operations and administrative functions of the Group are delegated to the
management.

Code provision A.1.1 of the Code stipulates that the Board shall convene
meetings regularly with at least four board meetings every year (approximately
once a quarter).
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The Board held 7 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2020.

HEBITERRE
Attendance/

=== Directors Board Meetings Held
PITES Executive Directors
FREEAE (F/E) Mr. Zhang Yingcen (Chairman) 717
SRR ST A& Mr. Xian Zhenyuan 7/7
2 R&4& Mr. Liu Min 717
B BEE(WNZZETF=A=+—HFT) Mr. Feng Yi (resigned on 31 March 2020) 2/2
F Bt Ms. Li Tao 717
FHITES Non-executive Director
TEREE(RNZZE_TF=A=+—HFT) Mr. Wang Jiansheng (resigned on 31 March 2020) 2/2
BIYFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
2 x4 Mr. Liu Jin 717
M OEAat Ms. Zhao Jun 717
SRR Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael 717
THRELAE Mr. Li Liuging 7/7

ARAEEEERBE RAEREAFRAY
FINEH BESHAXEZEBEFT T
HEFeeRBANELEHEI4RAIAE
RBE=ZL  FEHEFSERNEEE
LHRERITEN  UWEEZARA/RR
MERZEERERFH ERARAR
AEEERREENERESTAMARSL

HEENR LR ESTEREFTENTE
R AER B EELREARARLEIN -

In general, the notices of meetings of the Board are sent to all Directors
through email and fax before the dates of meetings. In order to enable
the Directors to consider the issues to be approved in the meetings with
adequate time, the notices of regular Board meetings will be sent to all
Directors at least 14 days prior to the convening of the meeting while
prior notification of the convening of ad hoc Board meetings will be made
to Directors in due course. In order to provide all Directors with a full
picture of the latest operating conditions of the Company, the management
representatives of the Company will report the latest operating conditions
of the Company and the implementation of the issues resolved in the last
Board meeting to all the Directors before the convening of the meeting.
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COMMITTEES UNDER THE BOARD

The Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee were established under the Board. These committees perform
supervision and control of the Company based on their written terms of
reference.

The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings is as follows:

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make recommendations
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor, to
review financial statements and making recommendations on the financial
reporting, and to review and supervise the financial reporting and internal
control procedures of the Group. The Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Li Liuging, Mr. Yeung Yui
Yuen Michael and Ms. Zhao Jun. Mr. Li Liuging is the chairman of the Audit
Committee and has the appropriate professional qualifications. The Audit
Committee shall meet at least twice a year.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group’s internal control during the
financial year ended 31 December 2020. The Group’s final results for the
year ended 31 December 2020 had been reviewed by the Audit Committee
before submission to the Board for approval. The Audit Committee had
also reviewed this annual report, and confirmed that this annual report is
complete and accurate, and complies with all relevant rules and regulations,
including but not limited to the Listing Rules. There is no disagreement
between the Directors and the Audit Committee regarding the selection and
appointment of the external auditor. The Audit Committee held 2 meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The attendance of the members of the Audit Committee at the committee
meetings is as follows:

HEBITEERY
Attendance/

£8 Member Committee Meetings held
TREBERE(EHE) Mr. Li Liuging (Chairman) 2/2
SRR Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael 2/2
H O Ezt Ms. Zhao Jun 2/2

HE X R RIERER AR 2020F FEHRE
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Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors and
management of the Board’s succession, to ensure that the candidates to
be nominated as Directors are experienced, high caliber individuals. The
Nomination Committee consists of two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael and Ms. Zhao Jun, and Mr. Zhang
Yingcen, an executive Director and the chairman of the Board, who is also
the chairman of the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee
shall meet at least once every year.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended
31 December 2020 for reviewing the structure of the Board, size and
composition of the Board, assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and other related matters. The attendance of the

BregRHRENT members of the Nomination Committee at the committee meetings is as
follows:

HEBITEEAE
Attendance/
£8 Member Committee Meetings Held
FREEAE (EE) Mr. Zhang Yingcen (Chairman) 1/1
SRR Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael 1/1
H Bzt Ms. Zhao Jun 1/1
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Board Diversity

The Stock Exchange introduced certain amendments to the Code set out
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules which are effective from 1 September
2013 in relation to the Board diversity. In order to achieve the diversity
of members of the Board, the Board will take into account a number
of factors including gender, age, cultural and educational background,
and professional experience. The terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee had been amended to set out its responsibility for overseeing the
implementation of the Board diversity policy. The Group has adopted the
policy on Board diversity which is summarized as follows:

(1) Election of members of the Board shall be based on a series of
diversified bases, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service; and

(2) The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
diversity policy in order to ensure that the policy produces desirable
results.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Zhao Jun and Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael, and one
executive Director and chairman of the board, namely Mr. Zhang Yingcen.
Ms. Zhao Jun is the Chairlady of the Remuneration Committee. The
Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once every year for reviewing
the remuneration policies.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (i) reviewing the
remuneration package of each Director and member of senior management,
and making recommendations to the Board regarding any adjustment
thereof; and (ii) reviewing and evaluating the performance of individual
executive Directors for determining the amount of bonus (if any) payable to
them.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2020.
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The attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee at the

committee meetings is as follows:

Member
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Ms. Zhao Jun (Chairlady)
Mr. Zhang Yingcen
Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael

11
171
171

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

OF DIRECTORS

All non-executive Directors entered into service contracts with the Company
for a term of three years and subject to termination by either party upon

giving no less than one month’s prior written notice to the other party.

None of the Directors of the Company who are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company not terminable by the Company within one year without payment

of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting, at least one third of the Directors shall retire from
office by rotation. Each Director shall retire at least once every three years
and such Directors shall include those who have assumed the longest term

of office since their last appointment or re-election.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

For the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020, the Board held
the annual general meeting and the extraordinary general meeting on 15
May 2020 and 28 October 2020 respectively. The attendance record of the
Directors is as follows:

HER T BITRERERE
Attendance/

= Directors General Meetings held
PTES Executive Directors
FRELAE (F/E) Mr. Zhang Yingcen (Chairman) -2
SRR ST A& Mr. Xian Zhenyuan 2/2
2 R&4& Mr. Liu Min 2/2
B BEE(WRZZE_TF=A=+—HFT) Mr. Feng Yi (resigned on 31 March 2020) /-
* Ert Ms. Li Tao 2/2
FHITES Non-executive Director
TEREE(RNZZE_TF=A=+—HFT) Mr. Wang Jiansheng (resigned on 31 March 2020) /-
BIYFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
2 x4 Mr. Liu Jin 2/2
THESLE Mr. Li Liuging 2/2
SR Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael 2/2
H OBzt Ms. Zhao Jun 2/2
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The Company’s external auditor attended the annual general meeting held

on 15 May 2020 and the extraordinary general meeting held on 28 October

2020.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the accounts and
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. The auditor
to the Company acknowledges its reporting responsibilities in the auditor’s
report on the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may raise significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, therefore the Directors continue to adopt the
going concern approach in preparing financial statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s audit expenses
amounted to RMB3,450,000. There were no significant non-audit service
assignments performed by the auditor of the Group.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining operation of the effective internal
control system of the Group. The Board performs annual review of the
effectiveness of all material controls of the internal control system, including
financial supervision, operating supervision, compliance supervision and
risk management system through the Audit Committee. Internal review
personnel are responsible for assisting the Audit Committee in reviewing
the effectiveness of the internal control system. Internal review personnel
perform internal review and other relevant review regularly. They report
the review results to the Audit Committee and provide the members of the
committee with advice to optimize internal control for the Audit Committee’s
consideration. During the year, internal review personnel mainly reviewed
the major risk management systems based on the internal control advice in
the report formulated by external audit institutions, and reported the review
results to the Board. With the support of the Board, the internal review
personnel carried out improvement for the operation of the Group. The Board
had conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal control system
of the Company and its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December
2020.
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PROCEDURES FOR CONVENING AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING AND
PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS BY SHAREHOLDERS

Pursuant to Article 64 of the articles of association of the Company,
extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the requisition of one
or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, no
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right
of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing
to the Board or the secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association, the number of

Shareholders necessary for putting forward a proposal at a Shareholders’
meetings is as follows:

().

=

at least 2 Shareholders entitled to vote at any general meeting; or

(ii).  any Shareholder or Shareholders representing no less than one-tenth
of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders having the right to
vote at the general meeting; or

(iii).  any Shareholder or Shareholders holding Shares conferring a right to
vote at the general meeting being Shares on which an aggregate sum
has been paid up equal to no less than one-tenth of the total sum
paid up on all the Shares conferring that right.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles of Association, no person, other than
a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be
eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless
notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a
Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected
shall have been lodged at the head office or at the registration office no
earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven days prior to the
date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during
which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least seven days.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are posted on the website of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group has already set up the Investor Relations Department to be
responsible for investor relations management work and established various
channels for the communication with investor, including direct line and mail
so as to ensure smooth communication between the Company and investors.
In addition, in order to provide a full picture of the business development
and prospects of the Company to the media, securities analysts, fund
managers and investors, the Company held telephone conferences and
luncheons for them, organized visits to the Company from time to time and
answered their inquires in a timely manner.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with its
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or other
general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and encourage their
participation. The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions
for separate issues proposed at the general meetings. The Company will
continue to maintain an open and effective investor communication policy
and to update investors on relevant information on the Group’s business in a
timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory requirement.
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PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING
SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time put their enquiries to the Board in writing to
the Company whose contact details are as follows:

China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited

4th Floor, Tian Lun Group Building

No.6 Huang He East Road

Zheng Dong Xin District

Zhengzhou City, Henan Province

The PRC

Email: hk@tianungas.com

Telephone and Fax No.: 86 371 6370 7151

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Tam Tak Kei Raymond,
and his biography is set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

The company secretary of the Company Mr. Tam Tak Kei Raymond has
been informed of the requirement of the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,
and he confirmed that he had attained no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year ended 31 December 2020.

MATERIAL CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

There were no material changes in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

iRk ok i

To the Shareholders of China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Tian Lun Gas Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out
on pages 92 to 271, which comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2020;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a

summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

U R G AR » TRk T A
M : +852 2289 8888 ¢ 4 : +852 2810 9888 * www.pwchk.com

" PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

° Revenue recognition
° Goodwill impairment assessment



k=
Key Audit Matter

LN

Revenue recognition

FLHAMHMBHRERWES (DEMER) -
Refer to Note 5 (segment information) in the
consolidated financial statements.

ERERAFERNERBRAGTHOR/ARK64.40BT
FERRPMRIEEES - TRTERREERS -
During the year, the Group recognised revenue of
approximately RMB6,440 million, majority of which
was related to sales of gas and engineering construction
service.

HRMRHEED  ARNERXFERKR - WABRI R
REEFILE - HEBKRI IR BEEERBENEZES - 5
EERBIMRDEEERETE - ZWADHES - HR
RBERZHNERAP ERRAPF  BERPRIE
BFE -

In relation to sales of gas, significant effort was spent
auditing the revenue recognised due to the large volume
of transactions. The sales price was controlled by the
PRC regulators, and sales volume was determined by
reading meters at the period end. The revenue was highly
dispersed and derived from a large number of customers
in residential, vehicles, commercial and industrial
sectors.

BYZEEHRE (F)
Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B EH A RIE RIS E T IR
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

PR AR T B TR B U A HE SR AR Y P B 2 o AN AT AR R
2 WilBE RGN EMAME S RREER
BOKZE - IEREME - EEIE - BN ERER A EE
RgURM - FHE T BEARERNEFRER

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of revenue
recognition and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such
as complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

MHERRREHERAT S - BAIITHRFEE
Our procedures in relation to the recognition of revenue
derived from sales of gas included:

. R BRI B B R T AN T U
° Testing the design and operating effectiveness of
key controls;

. @%ﬁ%&ﬂ%*%ﬁi R PTREER AR 32
uﬂffﬂﬂgﬁ']ﬁﬂ QD XT Hﬁuﬂfi&ﬁi”&ﬁm
BPRETTAZR ST - AR

° Testing, on targeting and sampling basis, the
transaction records that revenue was recognised
to the underlying documents, such as invoices
and meter reading records, and evidence of cash
receipts; and

. HRMEHRNEREEENAHERSMENHIE
AR ARERSHITLY T HESFEETEEN
ZRo

° Assessing if any unreasonable difference by
comparing the total gas sales volume per
management with the total gas purchase volume
per suppliers during the reporting period.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

HRIBRLZRERBER  WARBEHEESFAHAEL2
EETKBAOEECERER - WA ERRBIETTH
ESEENSRKANGES REKAREE - HiBiE
FEEREE

In relation to revenue derived from engineering
construction service, it was recognised according to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation of the related contracts. Revenue
was measured with reference to estimates of the contract
costs incurred to date and the total estimated contract
costs, which involved management judgement.
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B EH A RIE RIS E T IR
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HERIRELZERBRBHRATE - RFIRATHEFE
N

Our procedures in relation to the recognition of revenue
derived from engineering construction service included:

o RIS AR I B R AT MBI T A UL
° Testing the design and operating effectiveness of
key controls;

. A MERBERNRE - BBREHEER 2 HH
BRARESR - ARG REEAUKA

° Testing, on targeting and sampling basis, the total
contract revenue by examining the contracts with
customers and invoices;
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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Revenue recognition (continued)

LA EMERHERE 7% - BIFE S EERNE R
AIHEEARBER AN ELHRNER - NEEL
WIEEARKA - RMHERERY BERAN
BENGEE B - Walfh D STl BA B TEE R R
1t RESHFERMERBNER AR
Testing, on targeting and sampling basis, the
amount of contract cost incurred to date and
total estimated contract cost to the underlying
documents, such as the approved budgeted
contract cost, delivery notes of raw materials and
invoices and billings from sub-contractors, and
assessing the accuracy of the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation and if any over-run of the related
contracts; and

NEERIEUR TR E R £ ERKTERESE -
FHEAERE TR R KR R EAMK RS ER
AIEMEMAE -

Assessing whether the gross profit margins of
the related engineering design and construction
and gas pipelines connections contracts fell into
a reasonable range by benchmarking against the
historical results of similar contracts completed by
the Group.

BMRR - ERGBWRASRESERMATEREERN S
We found the revenue recorded were supported by the
evidence we obtained.
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Goodwill impairment assessment

E2HE M BHREN T4 (AR AT RAE) &
MisE 17 (BmEEE) -

Refer to Note 4 (a)(Critical accounting estimates and
judgements) and Note 17 (Intangible assets) of the
consolidated financial statements.

RZZEZFF+_A=+—H E5ECHEREEBNA
ARME22.4818T AN ESHERBEERETHEE
RAFEREY R@REAE - BB TN ZEE -
As at 31 December 2020, the Group had recorded
goodwill of approximately RMB2,248 million. We
focused on it because the amount is significant and
critical judgement was used by management to assess
whether goodwill was impaired or not.
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BB AR R E F1R
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HERBHEBEREN NS - RAIRTOREREE
Our procedures in relation to management’s goodwill
impairment assessment included:

. BEAR T B8 B A ERU(E AR A B9 N BRI I AN AT A R
2 WiRAE R T EE M RENEMEF R
PR PRAKAEE - INAEHEME - BT - B LA TR
BimAsERNGURIL - FHE T ERERNEFE
Bz

° Understanding of the management’s internal
control and assessment process of goodwill
impairment and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of
other inherent risk factors such as complexity,
subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud;

. RERFHEEERENTHLBIRSREZE
AR FHMEEREHRRESELETNENA

o Assessing management’s identification of CGUs
based on how independent cash flows are
generated and our understanding of the Group's
business;

. FHEERERANEREEFEE
o Assessing the value-in-use calculations
methodology adopted by management;

J HAFHERRSRENE FFENRSMETRAE
THE - UFHMETERIFTE 2 B RER 2 B BN EE

o Comparing the current year actual cash flows with
the prior year cash flow projections to consider if
the projections included assumptions that were
overly optimistic;
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Goodwill impairment assessment (continued)

BEHSEEESERBEERER  UTHEREE
HET] MEEREELETHAKOCEEHERE
BEReREVAFEEREEET - HETRETG
i - AT Bl @ O AT FERSZENMEET THEE M -
MR RAHEN - TRAERBRRNTEMEULREER
BEELEENE WABRERFTREER)KRPRNE
RAE - EEERENEEEANEERRERREERKR
7 BERESLNERESHELERE -

Goodwill was allocated to each respective legal entity
of the Group, which was referred as cash generating
unit (“CGU"), and the recoverable amount of each
CGU was determined by management based on value-
in-use calculations using cash flow projections.
In carrying out the impairment assessments, the
estimation of recoverable amount is subject to high
degree of estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk in
relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill is
considered significant due to the complexity of the
models, subjectivity of significant assumptions used,
and significant judgements involved in selecting data,
including operating margins, revenue growth rates
and discount rates, being applied in the value-in-use
calculations. Management has concluded that there is
no impairment in respect of the goodwill.

BYZEEHRE (F)
Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

J BERMEESREEBN THLEEREITEH
% AHHBEREBR(BELEEMNE  PAERE
RITRE)NEIRM ;

° Assessing the reasonableness of key assumptions
(including operating margins, revenue growth rates
and discount rates) based on our understanding of
the Group’s business and benchmarking against
the available industry data;

. 75 8 A\ BUR B FE RV B 1R - S TRE AR
MEFASEITH Y - WE B ERENE AR MR8
SEMU RS Er R - W HERERRM
ERENGURMEDITEITE - AT TAE S E
B RENEE AR

° Reconciling input data to supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets and capital expenditure
(“Capex”), considering the reasonableness of these
budgets and Capex, and testing mathematical
accuracy of the computation and assessing
management’s sensitivity analysis around the key
assumptions, to ascertain the extent to which
adverse changes, would result in the goodwill
being impaired; and

. STl T fEdE AR A B RS S A I BN T R B EAR R
RN

° Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures related
to goodwill impairment in the context of the
applicable financial reporting framework.

BMRE - BEEHRERMENAAER - BB
BEEBRNIR -

We considered that the conclusion on management’s
goodwill impairment assessment was supported by the
evidence we obtained.

China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020

85



BB E RS (&)

Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

_a

pwc

HfER

BEAREFAHAEMEEAR - HiBER
BRFRANAEES  ETREAHY
BRR LR PIOZBA RS -

BPHAHYBHRENBREL TRERM
R BRI T EZEFEMEREREIM
AR EEE o

‘AP E B BRROES - HAW
AIERMEEMES  ELBRT - E8&
HiEEREREHYBHRRILFES
OB T BERFEEREERE
UFFEERBRRAAIER

ERBEMERTHOIE  MRBMABLSE
i fE S FEERFRRL - RAFTERS
ZEE - mES | BVLEEARE -

86 HEXRAREIZERERAT 2020FEEHE

8

F A E

T

g

P

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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R K E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with the audit committee all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.
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B BTS OB EE  AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
RFRENEE(E) AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

HEAB ZEMHENETEEAZ A The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

TEFME o report is Lee Chung Bor.
BEERUKESTTREXH PricewaterhouseCoopers
HESEA Certified Public Accountants
B - —F=H=+—H Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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BOtERERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(RHELLENRETFIT (B HZEH))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

BE+-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—ECEF —E-NF
2020 2019
P 5T AREET T AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

A Revenue 5 6,439,777 6,548,618
SHERAR Cost of sales 8 (4,653,652) (4,844,726)
EF Gross profit 1,786,125 1,703,892
3 SR A Distribution expenses 8 (59,483) (57,965)
TER Administrative expenses 8 (193,281) (196,020)
Ha e Other income 6 9,828 4,720
HaF§, (JBK) — F58 Other gains/(losses) — net 7 160,189 (19,345)
K RE Operating profit 1,703,378 1,435,282
B s as Finance income 11,228 25,311
B75E A Finance expenses (250,351) (290,896)
s ER — F58 Finance expenses — net 10 (239,123) (265,585)
FE(EHEE N A & Share of results of associates

BETEER and a joint venture 11(b) (45,880) (42,317)
B B 8% A0 R Profit before income tax 1,418,375 1,127,380
et &R Income tax expense 12 (354,702) (313,915)
FEFHE Profit for the year 1,063,673 813,465
FEEBR Profit attributable to:
— KNRRIFIBEH — Owners of the Company 1,043,512 789,179
— FEIEHI R — Non-controlling interests 20,161 24,286

1,063,673 813,465
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EfEElER (&)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)
(REEBARETT (BISEHE))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

BE+-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-EF —NEF
2020 2019
{iFsa ARET T AREBTTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hithiz e W Other comprehensive income:
HE @ ELIER Item that will not be reclassified
B iy H to profit or loss
NARBETZEHES) Changes in the fair value of equity
FFAEMER A W 2 investments at fair value through
HHFIRE AR BEZS other comprehensive income 27 (13,684) 698
TEFHMES (BE), Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Yz - HIBRFLIE for the year, net of tax (13,684) 698
REFHEEZEWRE Total comprehensive income
for the year 1,049,989 814,163
BER Attributable to:
— RRBIFIEE — Owners of the Company 1,029,828 789,877
— SR H R — Non-controlling interests 20,161 24,286
1,049,989 814,163
BERREFEBALRLTF Earnings per share for profit
FEE (BERAR%T) attributable to owners of
the Company for the year
(expressed in RMB per share)
— EXRGRES — Basic earnings per share 13(a) 1.04 0.80
— WESR k= — Diluted earnings per share 13(b) 1.04 0.79
Fill AR A WER BRI —FB]  The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read
B o in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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SHEESR

(=6

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(RHELLENRETFIT (G HZEH))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

R+=—B=+—8H
As at 31 December
— ? —= fﬁ :g_hfﬁ
2020 2019
B3 ARET T AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
BE ASSETS
RBEE Non-current assets
FREEE Right-of-use assets 14 267,789 251,696
THE - BEM&RE Property, plant and equipment 15 3,034,918 2,850,058
BB EiE Investment properties 16 47,022 50,047
B AE Intangible assets 17 4,087,446 3,874,972
TR EARNIEE Investments accounted for using
the equity method 11(b) 783,924 806,395
LL?ﬁ SHEE Deferred income tax assets 30 27,462 28,678
NAnBETFER Financial assets at fair value
HEBt \EMiRE through other comprehensive
WammEmEE income 19 61,500 79,746
P& ST R R % LA P MR Trade and other receivables 20 27,174 49,648
HAbIEmEN & E MR Prepayments related to other
SEXNEN non-current assets 21 218,386 49,409
8,555,621 8,040,649
REBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 22 115,876 204,949
EREE Contract assets 5 1,161,728 508,898
i WS AR R % LA U R Trade and other receivables 20 1,393,096 1,548,124
WRARBEFEREE Financial assets at fair value
T AEAARE W through other comprehensive
TRIBE income 19 27,083 50,602
BeMReEED Cash and cash equivalents 24 1,640,081 1,349,836
ZRHERE Restricted cash 24 24,653 235,723
4,362,517 3,898,132
BB E Total assets 12,918,138 11,938,781
EakaR EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
BERAQARFEE KR Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
[N Share capital 25 8,466 8,430
f& A5 7 Share premium 25 817,455 1,029,366
f Reserves 27 556,177 454,530
B e Retained earnings 27 3,317,103 2,398,458
4,699,201 3,890,784
FEFEHI MRS Non-controlling interests 281,086 296,536
HRE RS Total equity 4,980,287 4,187,320
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EHEEREBER (B)

Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued)
(B BARET T (BIESHHH))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

R+=—A=+-—H
As at 31 December
—EEHF —NF
2020 2019
P 5T AR®F T AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
&f& LIABILITIES
ERBERE Non-current liabilities
EES Borrowings 29 2,770,055 3,880,034
HEaFE Lease liabilities 14 4,226 6,060
FEASTHARE Deferred income tax liabilities 30 593,221 546,553
RIEW ZE Deferred income 13,899 5,984
3,381,401 4,438,631
REBEE Current liabilities
FEASBR SN B FE A 3R Trade and other payables 28 1,363,567 1,202,124
ERAa%E Contract liabilities 5 458,067 469,051
FERTRRF Dividend payables 7,574 5,768
BHIMSHAE Current income tax liabilities 398,237 319,913
(R Borrowings 29 2,294,584 1,312,368
HEBE Lease liabilities 14 3,976 3,606
LAnEEIEAEES) Financial liabilities at fair value
FFABEHNEREAE through profit or loss 23(a) 30,445 —
4,556,450 3,312,830
FER=N Total liabilities 7,937,851 7,751,461
HEZNEE Total equity and liabilities 12,918,138 11,938,781

MEMHEEBEREUEMMMGEI—03  The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with
B o the accompanying notes.

F2E271 BENEHUBMACHESE  The consolidated financial statements on pages 92 to 271 were approved by

Eﬁigi—iiﬂ =+—B#tiz - WHKE  the Board of Directors on 31 March 2021 and were signed on its behalf.

ﬁ%%%{

BB
Mr. Zhang Yingcen
EE

Director
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EOEREE R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(RHFELLENRETFIT (G HSHHS))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

BERFAFMEE
Attributable to owners of the Company
e RARR fifa Eed ey & FEsMER s
Non-
Share Share Retained controlling
capital premium Reserves earnings Total interests Total equity
ARETT  ARBTR  ARETE  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Bt 25) (Fi325) (Fz27) (Fz27)
(Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 27) (Note 27)
WZE-NE-F-B&#  Balance at 1 January 2019 8,340 1,188,151 281,932 1,771,445 3,249,868 293,901 3,543,769
FalE Comprehensive income
AERE Profit for the year - - - 789,179 789,179 24,286 813,465
EthGAalE Other comprehensive income
DRREEFEREET  Financial assets at fair value
AR A YES through other comprehensive
SHEE income — — 698 — 698 — 698
arils Total comprehensive income — — 698 789,179 789,877 24,286 814,163
EERFAENEMEE  Transactions with owners in
HahETHRS their capacity as owners
&k Appropriation - - 162,166 (162,166) - - -
SRR (W5 3D) Dividends paid (Note 31) - (211,838) - — (211,838) - (211,838)
RETATA Disposal of a subsidiary — - - - - (5,193) (5,193)
EEGERERRS Waives liabilites from
non-controlling interests - - 12,260 - 12,260 8,173 20,433
WAEESIEERESART Dividends paid to
non-controlling interests — — — — - (27,515) (27,515)
st TR Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests - - - - - 2,884 2,884
BIRRETE Employee share option scheme:
—BIREER — Value of employee services - - 6,303 - 6,303 - 6,303
— REREAEEARE  — Issue of shares pursuant to
share option scheme 90 53,053 (8,829) — 44314 — 44314
RERFTAZETH Total transactions with owners
RaBE 90 (158,785) 171,900 (162,166) (148,961) (21,651) (170,612)
RZZ-1E Balance at 31 December 2019
TZR=1-RER 8,430 1,029,366 454,530 2,398,458 3,890,784 296,536 4,187,320
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SO ER2ER (A)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
(REEBARETT (BISEHE))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

BEREARMEE
Attributable to owners of the Company
Bx REER fifh ghkE f  FEMMER BEs
Non-
Share Share Retained controlling
capital premium Reserves earnings Total interests Total equity

ARBTRL  ARBTR  ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(Kt 25) (Hiz25) (Bz27) (Hz27)

(Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 27) (Note 27)
WZEZEE-F-A&#  Balance at 1 January 2020 8,430 1,029,366 454,530 2,398,458 3,890,784 296,536 4,187,320
Gl Comprehensive income
KERE Profit for the year - - - 1,043,512 1,043,512 20,161 1,063,673
EthFalE Other comprehensive income
DRLEBEFEEEEY  Financial assets at fair value
HAEEANES through other comprehensive
SRAE income — — (13,684) = (13,684) = (13,684)
akali Total comprehensive income - - (13,684) 1,043,512 1,029,828 20,161 1,049,989
SHERMEEURMEEN  Transactions with owners in their
SRETNRS capacity as owners
BE Appropriation = = 124,867 (124,867) - - -
WETAABIMNER Acquisition of additional interests
(H13%36) of a subsidiary (Note 36) = - (5,276) = (5,276) (20,724) (26,000)
FA&R (H3E31) Dividends paid (Note 31) = (235,003) = = (235,003) = (235,003)
RAEER| R ZARA  Dividends paid to
non-controlling interests - - - - - (15,776) (15,776)
SRR TE Capital contribution from
non-controlling interests — — — — — 889 889
BIRRERE Employee share option scheme:
—BIRBEE — Value of employee services - - 950 = 950 = 950
— REREEETRE  — Issue of shares pursuant to
(Hizk2e) share option scheme
(Note 26) 36 23,092 (5,210) - 17,918 - 17918
HERMEEEN Total transactions with owners
RaBE 36 (211,911) 115,331 (124,867) (221,411) (35,611) (257,022)
RZ222% Balance at 31 December 2020
tZA=1-RER 8,466 817,455 556,177 3,317,103 4,699,201 281,086 4,980,287

il A RS EEREEMMIE—FE]  The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
a8 ° conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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BEHRERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(RHELLENRETFIT (B HZEH))

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

BE+-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—ECEH TN
2020 2019
g ARET T ARBTIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
(&E7)
(Restated)
RETHNRERE Cash flows from operating activities
REEENRE Cash generated from operations 32(a) 1,651,055 1,463,554
BATFTISH Income tax paid (261,349) (169,993)
KEEHEEN TR Net cash generated from
operating activities 1,389,706 1,293,561
RETEBNRERE Cash flows from investing activities
BETEE - B &&H Purchases of property, plant
and equipment (281,448) (316,599)
HETER FIEL N Increase in lease prepayments (13,174) (1,958)
BETHE BEK Proceeds from disposal of
REFTSFIE property, plant and equipment 32(b) 12,330 1,152
BEELEE Purchases of intangible assets (5,795) (3,894)
BENAREBEZER Purchases of financial assets at
HEB)t ABzEH fair value through profit or loss (3,570,000) (340,000)
TRIEE
B G &b FE AR A Dividends received from
a joint venture — 8,123
WRAREBEFEREE Investment income on financial
FFABEERNSREEESE assets at fair value through
RIS E Wz profit or loss 5,680 8,984
BEUNAAEBEFFEBEES Proceeds from disposal of financial
FFABENESREEFSN assets at fair value through
profit or loss 3,570,000 645,000
WHEF R RIEFEE R T Net cash outflow for the acquisition
of subsidiaries 35 (401,449) (268,141)
BEFRRINFHESRA Net cash inflow on disposal of
a subsidiary — 1,400
BUF B Interest received 6,601 16,181
FEf AR AU T8 Prepayments related to share
purchase agreements (166,552) —
REFE R AINIZE Capital injection to associates (20,800) —
BERFE=H Loan to third parties — (360,000)
F-RHEREE Repayment of loan from third parties — 360,000
KREEBFAFAS Net cash used in investing activities (864,607) (249,752)
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BHRERER (A)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

(All amounts in Renminbi (“RMB”) thousands unless otherwise stated)

(EFELBARETT (HH=EHA))

BE+-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-EF —E-NF
2020 2019
{iFsa ARMT T AREBTTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
(ge&E5)
(Restated)

RETENRERE Cash flows from financing activities
[EEGIEEEN Proceeds from borrowings 32(c) 1,605,068 2,625,336
EBEN Repayments of borrowings 32(c) (1,539,621) (2,920,663)
BAFE Interest paid (245,105) (322,234)
)2 B A% B S A AR A Dividends paid to Company’s

shareholders 31 (235,003) (211,838)
FEEHIM R E Capital injection from

non-controlling interests — 2,884
ZPRHIIR S E) Changes in restricted cash 211,165 38,938
WEEF R RIEEIMERS Acquisition of additional interests

in a subsidiary 36 (26,000) —
[ 428 ) 14 A o S A AR Dividends paid to non-controlling

interests (13,970) (27,985)
HEBEINK Payments related to lease liabilities (4,316) (1,677)
RR AR T 813817 Proceeds from issue of shares

SnIZIECEN pursuant to share option scheme 17,918 44,314

BREEBAAFES Net cash used in financing activities (229,864) (772,925)
ReRBESEEYFLM Net increase in cash and

cash equivalents 295,235 270,884
FURe MRSEED Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of the year 24 1,349,836 1,075,907
R RReFEYN Exchange (losses)/gains on cash

&5 (k) Wam and cash equivalents (4,990) 3,045

FREERESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at

end of the year 24 1,640,081 1,349,836

B A BRER I B 2% R BT BT B o — BF B

i

5B ©

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BE_E_TFEf _H=F—HIFE

(2BEEBAREF T (RIS EHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1.

REE-KREH

FRERXGRRIZERBR AR (A
RADEKBEREHSRAE(ZE
—EFBIRN)R_TE—ZEFHA
Zt+HERERSTMK L AR
BEMRAR] - ARBBREERA
A RZE-—ZEF+—A+BEESR
BEERXSMABER AR (TBRFT])
ERET o

AABREFRAI(ATAMEIA
S8 TEEHEARLNA ([
B ) ETHmREIiEER MR
% RERA - BEMIEXRPREM
MREEERRERERREE S
WRARBERAR - BERAR
HIMR SR B K S SHE R TS - A SRAE
RAREENRE R TEER -

R RS EAL A Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands °
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—E-—F=ZA=+—BH#ET

o

ZEAHMBRRAARET H
(FRIERBHA) °

100 HEXHARRZERERAF 20205 FEHRE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP

China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated on 20 May 2010 in the Cayman lIslands under the
Companies Law (2010 Revision) of the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability. The Company is an
investment holding company and was listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 10
November 2010.

The Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the engineering
construction service by providing residential, commercial and
industrial users with gas pipeline and infrastructure laying and
installation and transportation, distribution and sales of gases
including natural gas and compressed natural gas (“CNG”) and
production and sales of liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) in bulk and
in cylinders in certain cities of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC™).

The address of the Company’s registered office is Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2021.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB,
unless otherwise stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2.1

BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements
are for the Group consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Basis of preparation

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had net current liabilities
of RMB193,933,000, the Group’s profit after tax was
RMB1,063,673,000 and net cash inflow from operating activities
was RMB1,389,706,000 for the year then ended.

The directors of the Company believe that the Group’s operating cash
inflow and available source of bank borrowings will provide sufficient
cash to support the Group’s operations and meet its liabilities and
commitments as and when they fall due within the next twelve
months from the balance sheet date. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company have prepared these consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
historical cost basis, as modified by the revaluation of financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(including derivative instruments), which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements,
are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE_FE_TF _H=F—HIFE
(BFEBARE T (BRIFFFHS))
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. EESHERE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(&) POLICIES (continued)

2.1 EREE(E) 2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 ZEBFRPHIFTZT NS K 2E 2.1.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

Ay
AEEENR_Z-FF—H—BH
SR FE RS B AR AT
ERTER REERTBSHER

The Group has applied the following amended standards and revised
conceptual framework for the first time for their annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2020:

. BAESFERE 1RNESE . Definition of Material — Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS
S ERESFEANES E 8
EFE2IEE] [ERAEE ]

. ARV EERFE 3R . Definition of a Business — Amendments to HKFRS 3
REBTEERZIER] [ EEH
]

. CAEET R I T S5 B E . Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, and
2K

. BB HRELERZE I - . Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Amendments to HKFRS 9,

BABHEANEIORES HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

B RS ERE 7B

AT [ R REAEE |
gEoh - AEEBE R A B HATRE In addition, the Group has early adopted amendments to HKFRS 16
RME BV EREERE 165 (& “COVID-19-related Rent Concessions” ahead of the effective date

IR [—E-NERESERENE
cBE] IR T -_TF—H—
B R LLERT -

ERERT RARIERT B SIE SR AR
EATHHCERAZERLEY
- HjﬁTi‘EHﬁ%ﬁEEifﬂéﬂﬁﬁﬁ
ZEHUBRRELEATE
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and applied the amendments from 1 January 2020.

These amendments and revised conceptual framework listed above
did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future
periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—FE_FFS_H=1—HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2 New standards and amendments not yet adopted by the Group

Certain new accounting standards and amendments have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2020 reporting
periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. These
standards and amendments are not expected to have a material
impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods
and on foreseeable future transactions. These new standards and
amendments are set out below:

° Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments to
HKFRS 3, effective for annual accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022

o Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards 2018-2020,
effective for annual accounting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022

° HKFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”, effective for annual
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

The Group is assessing the full impact of these new standard and
amendments. According to the preliminary assessment, these
standards and amendments are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE2—FE_FF+_H="1—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. EESHERE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(&) POLICIES (continued)

2.2 EIBUREE 2.2 Changes in accounting policies
E-Z-TF—A—HE ~&EE From 1 January 2020, the Group presented “interest paid” within
#IEMFE]FIRE [REEHHN “cash flow from financing activities”. Until 31 December 2019,
RER/E] R -RZE—NEF+= “interest paid” was previously presented in “cash flow from operating
A=+—RAz#  [EFFME] TR activities”. The “interest paid” for the year ended 31 December
ElgaEynBEenE] F o5t 2019 was reclassified retrospectively to “cash flow from financing

T-NFEIEFFE] 2B activities”. The adjustment details as below:

*EJEE DHEE[BEETHNIRSR
=] BEFBWOT -

2RFIR
MBERTRE EEiipag] =&
BE-Z-NF For the year ended As previously Interest paid
+tZA=+t-HLFE 31 December 2019 reported reclassification As restated
ARBFT ARBTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
KERHEANTFRE Net cash generated from
operating activities 971,327 322,234 1,293,561
METHMAFRE Net cash used in
financing activities (450,691) (322,234) (772,925)
23 EHtRAINERESTTERE 2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
2.3.1 %2_\‘_7 2.3.1 Subsidiaries
REEASEEHEAFE %U%E’J Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which
F)’TEI (B4 T% MEEEE) o B the Group has control. The Group controls an entity where the Group
SEREADEZ T MAER EE is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
#ﬁﬁ’]ﬂ Y%ﬁTk‘i@ﬁE’\J%ﬂ ' with the entities and has the ability to affect those returns through
WHEENBBEHZEIBNENT its power to direct the activities of the entities. Subsidiaries are fully
étltt—r@#ﬁﬁﬁ A& B BT Z consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
fe o FRAREEFIEEREARER Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
ZEIfL/\@%)\EE A A il A 4% 1 E
2 AREIEEHAR -
AEERBAEESEABERE O The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business
AR (25K15E2.4) » combinations by the Group (refer to Note 2.4).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—FE_FFS_H=1—HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

2.3.1 Subsidiaries (continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are
shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated balance sheet respectively.

2.3.2 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting (see Note (2.3.4) below), after initially being
recognised at cost.

2.3.3 Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the
joint arrangement. The Group has joint ventures.

Joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method
(see Note (2.3.4) below), after initially being recognised at cost in
the consolidated balance sheet.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. EEETHRRBE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

2.3
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POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(continued)

2.3.4 Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit
or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment
equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any other
unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments
on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for
impairment in accordance with the policy described in Note 2.11.

2.3.5 Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in loss of control as transactions with equity owners of
the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling
interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling
interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2.

2.3

BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

2.3.5 Changes in ownership interests (continued)

2.4

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an
investment because of a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair
value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss.
This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRS.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is
reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where
appropriate.

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all
business combinations, regardless of whether equity instruments
or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

° fair values of the assets transferred,

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired
business,

° equity interests issued by the Group,

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent

consideration arrangement, and
° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE2—FE_FF+_H="1—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. EESHERE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(%) POLICIES (continued)

24 EBEH(E) 2.4 Business combinations (continued)
EEBEHPIEENAIZRREE Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
IARFTERENEaERHERE B assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions,
EUERBEHHRN AR EBEFE measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
(LEBIIMERIRIN) o RS B LA Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity
RIS EAE - AR BESIRIEE on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the
AR R FT IR U EE LB AT Rk R & = non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s
AR L BIRER R R IE E BT net identifiable assets.

(DESEE e S

BB BB AT LRI - Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

BB The excess of the

. Frdg AR (E - . consideration transferred,

. A5 U B 2 BE Y (R () SRR AR B . amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity,
@meE o & and

. R UK BB R A (R AR . acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
=P UEE BN A B the acquired entity.
=

B PTUEE R BRI B EFEN AR Over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded

BER - EEREUBEIR - & as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the

EFIBERFTINEE TSR A R E net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is

EFENAAEBE  IEBHEEE recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

REBEETHERRHERE -

WREESEHENTANTIOHNEET Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the
B - RISRZKPERTERE A E H B ALIR amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value
RIRE - FIEANE RS EER as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
BEERFE - BEA KRR incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing
1'7R1¢T?£‘Eﬁimﬁlﬁ%’fﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁ could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable

HEIFZE - ABERED B RERK terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
%mﬁﬁfﬁ cHHEREHBENTE as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial
HEBEFEARBENE A liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in
REBEFPNERTER - fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7
2.7.1

BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in
profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the steering committee that makes strategic
decisions.

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE2—FE_FF+_H="1—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. EESHERE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(&) POLICIES (continued)
2.7 INEIE(E) 2.7 Foreign currency translation (continued)

2 72 j(‘gﬁﬂn

9I\%X%T¥FHX%EIE’JE@T@”7%
WREER - BEHERXFHELMNE
ARG MBRARBINEHENE
BEENMBBENFRERFTEES
HE B SRR IR P iR -

E R s EmTD [ EbHR
1B) —FBI PR -

3/ (&

BRARBEAENINEIEEEIEIR
B REArBEREBMEXKR
B-monBEIENEERAR
MWBREZRERAABENSH
BRO—FDTIE - flin - FFEE
HEERBE(PIMNLAAAREER

2.7.2 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated
income statement on a net basis within “other gains/(losses) — net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through

SHEBHTABIOER) BT profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value
HEBIMAARBENEMIBL gain or loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets

B — B - FFERHEEE DIy
BRAAREBEFEAEZSITA
HtRAaWamm e EEMNERD)
MTEZREEBREREMES W
o
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such as equities classified as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE

(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Foreign currency translation (continued)

2.7.3 Group companies

The results and financial position of Group entities (none of which
has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a
functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

° income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and

statement of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions); and

° all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.8 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of
the items.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. EESHBEREE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(& POLICIES (continued)

2.8 TBHE BMERSZEE) 2.8 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
BERANRBERAEEA/ANEET Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
REAZZIE B B R AR RAOE R &= recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
Me%I8 B MR ANRER] et 20y - A probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
BIETEEENREEENERAS— will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
HEBEE (ER) - ERBLA reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a
EARS WA ERAEENE separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
FHREIEER - T HMEEE maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period
BAEEARNRSBEARBEANS in which they are incurred.

WERT T A ERAFHULEAER Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
EETE 0 B E AR K AR 0%-5% their cost, net of their residual values at a range of 0%-5% of the
B B EEE T TE Y cost, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

— 1&F 20-304 —  Buildings 20-30 years
— ®RERMeS 5-104F —  Equipment and machinery 5-10 years

— MREE 16-30 4 —  Gas pipelines 16-30 years
— WRREREH 3-84F —  Office equipment and motor vehicles 3-8 years
BENFSEBELUFERFHES The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
HEEBEXRAETRS  RMEE adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

+ 11
BRI o

AEEMRAEAESREMET IR An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
El{EE - AREEENRHURZ AT recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
el zE (fzE2.11) o estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.11).
BEEMFSTERIZTS R ERE Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
BEMNEZREET - Wit A8 o with carrying amount. These are included in profit or loss.
EEIRERAENIFEENE Construction-in-progress (“CIP”) represents buildings, gas
FoMRREBRHEE  BREARA pipelines and equipment and machinery under construction or
IR o RABIEEFEEAS - BE pending installation and is stated at cost. Cost includes the costs
RSN - EEEBHEEEKRR of construction of buildings and costs of plant and machinery. No
AIERTE B 2R - FEETRETE provision for depreciation is made on CIP until such time as the
TERE ZEEARAGERE relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the
B ARBNEEANENE © B M REL assets concerned are brought into use, the costs are transferred to
B DIBGRITE - property, plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance with

the policy as stated above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—FE_FFS_H=1—HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Investment properties

Investment properties, principally freehold office buildings, are held
for rental yields and are not occupied by the Group. Investment
properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to write-
off the cost of the assets to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives of 25 years.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
with carrying amounts. These are recorded within “other gains/(losses)
— net” in profit or loss.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified
as property, plant and equipment, and its carrying amount at the
date of reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment
property because its use has changed, the transfer does not change
the carrying amount of the property transferred, nor does it change
the cost of that property for measurement or disclosure purposes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
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2.

2.10
(a)

(b)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the
excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquirees and the acquisition date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquirees over the fair
value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to
which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the
entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill
is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment
is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently
reversed.

Operating rights for city pipeline network and gas station

Operating rights for city pipeline network and gas station represent
the rights for distribution of gas in certain cities or districts in the
PRC, and are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses, if any. The cost incurred for the acquisition of
operating rights is capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives (10-50 years).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE

(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Intangible assets (continued)

(c)  Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.
These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives (3-5
years).

(d)  Network

Network acquired in a business combination is the distribution
network of pipelined gas and is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. The network is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses, if any. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over the estimated
lives of 30 years.

(e)  Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The
contractual customer relations have a finite useful life and are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives (23-
25 years) which are determined by the length of the adjusted lengths
based on the existing sales contracts with its customers while taking
into account the possibility of renewals by the management.
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(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. EESHERE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(& POLICIES (continued)

2.11 FeWMEERE 2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets
FASGITRENEERELEE Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
AN BEFETRENR not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment,
SEEEMHHRNERE TR R or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
BE IR B R - 1T SAEURE R that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
e HthEERBEHHRAEBER whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
B E) IR R IR S (B 7] g A IR B carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
ETRENR - i EEREEER recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
HEANE S EN S ERRRER exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
KoAEeBUAEENAREE higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
MBREER AL FEREBEME 2H the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
Baa A% R ARER - EE lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows
1R A B S s RI IR € R AR &K which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
ERNHE ZReRAREMERE or groups of assets (CGUs). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
SEEMAESReENETL) MRS that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
MARKEEB LR o HIRR impairment at the end of each reporting period.

EOEEREE BRI BRE
48 HR K B LR e ] B e
R -

212 RERHMEREE 2.12 Investments and other financial assets
2121 7 ¥ 2.12.1 Classification
REEZUTHEENEMEE the Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement
EITHH categories:
J BEARAREEFTZ(BEE . those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
FEET A KRS WEmskia through other comprehensive income or through profit or
m MEMEE & loss), and
] NERKATFENSRE . those to be measured at amortised cost.
E=o
OB EREECREERN The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
¥BEAUARZEENERRESR managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash
SRR flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—FE_FFS_H=1—HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.12.1 Classification (continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its
business model for managing those assets changes.

2.12.2 Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

2.12.3 Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely
payment of principal and interest.
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AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

-
2. EESHERE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(& POLICIES (continued)
2.12 RERHEMESRMEE () 2.12 Investments and other financial assets (continued)
2123 & (&) 2.12.3 Measurement (continued)
EHFEITA Debt instruments
BERETANBEAESIANAEH Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
ERZEAENEBEAURZEE Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow
MIREREFH - AEEBEBHL characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories
B RUT=1E:r=E%85 into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:
. AR SRR ANET 2« ©IAS A . Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
LWWBRERBEERENE contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
B nREFRB\ASREER payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised
REXSMF BT - 8l cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included
ZEENEMNAGTE © % in finance income using the effective interest rate method.
EZERMBEENTERANE Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
B EEE - ST ARSI in profit or loss and presented in “other gains/(losses) — net “
o BRI EARTE together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment
SIBREEFT ABE - WE losses are presented as administrative expenses in profit or
i 5 F 5 B K — R P RE loss.

[EFE/ (BE) — %
#lh e mERKRFARRE
WHERBITHRER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE

(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

2.12.3 Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

° Fair value through other comprehensive income: Assets that
are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or
losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in “other gains/
(losses) — net”. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
“other gains/(losses) — net” and impairment expenses are
presented as administrative expenses in profit or loss.

° Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value through
profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net within “finance
expenses — net” in the period in which it arises.
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2.

2.12
2.12.3

2.12.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity investments in other comprehensive
income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of
the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right to
receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in “other gains/(losses) — net” in profit
or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost and fair value through other comprehensive income. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade and other receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables,
see Note 20 for further details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE

(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.13 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated balance sheet where the Group currently
has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The Group has also entered into
arrangements that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but still
allow for the related amounts to be set off in certain circumstances,
such as bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.

2.14 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability
at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is initially measured
at fair value and subsequently at the higher of:

° the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with
the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the
present value of the difference in cash flows between the contractual
payments required under the debt instrument and the payments that
would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount
that would be payable to a third party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of associates
or joint ventures are provided for no compensation, the fair values
are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the cost
of the investment.

China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020 121



B OB M SRR Y RE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F-_TF+-H=+—HIFZF
(BFEBARE T (BRIFFFHS))
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

2.15

2.16

2.17

EZSTBEREBE

(&

PTEEmIA
TTETAUTETAARZKIER
MARBEETIGHER - REMN
EmMEMRORABEETEN
E-TESRTIARABENAA
BEZEH AR - JIRNE
wmAW [ EMAE (BR) — %
#lF e

r&E
BRERAREBMHIEREREN
M B AN B ] 3R FE R &
HBIRE I BR - 77 B ACAF A e
FHRALETE - AJRHRFERR
FENGTEEREME T EE
N H & P& B T AR P15 2R
B o

PR e R B L £ P AR

EY R R AL B B L RSP
an 35 & SRS A TT T B UK B P RO 3K
TH o R FE SR R e EL A B UK U
B FEHE —FHAR (WD EER
RERMT - AIREER) - H
OB SRBEES NI BRIER

JRE Wt B A e L At R MR R A T AR R A
ESNHESRETINER 2
EHESEABMERDE AR
BEETVRER - ARERBE
Uit R 3 e EL A FE MR Y B B R R
ERATRE  RLREFERER
MR IL B R AN FT B B URARSK
BRAEERUERETHENE—
FERBLHENE2.12 MEEE
W B OB (B O 1l 55 2 B B o
3.1(b) °

122 HBEXARRERERAF 20205 FEFHRE

2.

2.15

2.16

2.17

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the
fair value of any derivative instrument are recognised immediately in
profit or loss, including in “other gains/(losses) — net “.

Inventories

Inventories, including materials for gas pipelines and consumables
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of
inventories are determined using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make
the sell.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of
trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified
as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade and other receivables with the objective to
collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See Note 2.12 for further information about the Group’s accounting
for trade receivables and Note 3.1(b) for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE

(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, that are convertible
to known amounts of cash and while are subject to an insignificant
risk.

2.19 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.20 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers.
Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is
due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

2.21 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
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-

2. EESHBEREE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(& POLICIES (continued)

2.21 R (&) 2.21 Borrowings (continued)
BUMEREERZNHER W5 Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
SEHHMEG SRR - % & transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
AERABETNZSEBRH - £IIb15 some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
T BREEEEFRRERAL - is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
MR BBEBEFRIE NN/ ERE evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
EReRA eIz - AIZEBERE drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
TMEtEBRBE S RIBMIERK - services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
Wiz BRI A R /E AR o relates.
MRIEAREE A EEGKEENEE Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
BEZHEERESELD 12 ATEIE an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
HNERREEE - 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

2.22 AR 2.22 Borrowings costs
BEGBRKE BERIEESE General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
BEE(EMNEK —BRRISHEERE acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which
DIEEHTEE ARG HENEE) N are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
BEREA S MAZEEENKAK ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
A BEEEANB EBEEZHEEEE assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
RzsEE mIE - intended use or sale.
REEENR BEGEEBEERN Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
X ER R A AR R B A borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
EBAERERMCMERKAF N deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
’g//% o
FiE B S K AEE A ARIE All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
FHPTER © in which they are incurred.
BRERBENEERNER AL Borrowing costs include interest expense and finance charges to the
FEEBRNARNBMEER - extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.

2.23 ERRIEZLEFREH 2.23 Current and deferred income tax
HRNATSHAS IR 2B RIES A The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on
VERER A E A FTS T R A HAE AR the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable income
MU AZSBRIE - TA BTSN tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax
A = B KR AR S EEN assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to
BMECHRBEEERAEEZDHA unused tax losses.
o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—FE_FFS_H=1—HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

2.23.1 Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period in the countries where the Group’s entities operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

2.23.2 Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if
they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.
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2.

2.23
2.23.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except for deferred income tax liability where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable
to control the reversal of the temporary difference for associates
and joint ventures. Only when there is an agreement in place that
gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation
to taxable temporary differences arising from the associates’ and
joint ventures’ undistributed profits is not recognised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when
the deferred taxes balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a
legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2.

2.24
(a)

(b)

2.25
(a)

BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

Pension obligations

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC contribute on a monthly basis
to various defined contribution retirement schemes managed by the
PRC Government. The contributions to the schemes are charged
to profit or loss as and when incurred. The Group’s obligations are
determined at a certain percentage of the salaries of the employees.

Housing fund and other benefits

All full-time employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
entitled to participate in various government-sponsored housing
and other benefits funds. The Group contributes on a monthly basis
to these funds based on certain percentages of the salaries of the
employees. The Group’s liability in respect of these funds is limited
to the contributions payable in each period.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation
plan, under which the entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair
value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted:

° including any market performance conditions (for example, an
entity’s share price);
° excluding the impact of any service and non-market

performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for

example, the requirement for employees to save or holding
shares for a specified period of time).
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AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. EESHERE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(& POLICIES (continued)

2.25 IR AERNIT (E) 2.25 Share-based payments (continued)

(a) UEZZENRGZNIXE (a)  Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (continued)
(%) At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
EEERERR  AEBUKIERE of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the
{RHE T E TR BR AT 1 THE A HR A 2K service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original
BRMEET - NEBETEEEPHERY estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment
REEEFT(INE) L E - Wi to equity.

sSEHARERE -

PEoN - FERLEIERT - BT Al aE In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services
A ATRMERE - B in advance of the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value
HER) A 7o B E ph FE R AR 75 7 45 B is estimated for the purposes of recognising the expense during the
B AR BRI AR B S E period between service commencement period and grant date.

it e

TEERRETE RS - N RIEEITHIR © When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The
WE TS RIIR T EEEBER proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
S AR (FRARF]) - are credited to share capital (and share premium).

(b) EEAURGHBEBRNKS (b)  Share-based payment transactions among Group entities
AARMEEFARIMBIRTHE The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to
Em T EMHE  HEAREARR the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as
Ao W TRENAAEE 2 a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received,
ERHBANAREENE  WESH measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised
FHAER  EAHFRAAIRERN over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
o WHESSAGRE WER undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent
B o entity accounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HE - FE-_TFf - HA=1—HIIFE

(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Revenue recognition

The Group derives its revenue primarily from sales of gas and
engineering construction service. Revenue is recognised when or as
the control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer.
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws applicable,
control of the goods and services may be transferred over time or at a
point in time. Control of the goods or services is transferred over time
if the Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer; or

° creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or
° do not create an asset with an alternative use of the Group

and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the goods and services.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of the performance obligation, by reference to
the contract costs incurred up to the end of reporting period as a
percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received

or receivable, and represents amount receivable for the goods and
services transferred to the customers stated net of value added taxes.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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2. EESHBERE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
(&) POLICIES (continued)

2.26 W ATER (&) 2.26 Revenue recognition (continued)

WA BE & H)E B B 5 e 161 Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for the
AR - SHERtlmT Group’s activity described below:

(a) IBRLZERRH (a)  Engineering construction service
TERLZENRBBEABREMRE R Revenue in respect of the engineering construction service, including
ERMIEEERG 28R AZE gas pipeline connection and engineering construction, is recognised
TERK A TE R 5 1E — ER IR [E I 3R UK over time, by reference to completion of the specific transaction
A o 2EBBARANEE THEKAR using input method which recognises revenue using costs incurred
RIEETHEE - AEERBLAE relative to total estimated costs to determine the extent of progress
WEBBEACRTNBEHNREE  #E toward completion. The Group recognises revenue over time only if it
ERERT @ FiRRERWA - can reasonably measure its progress toward complete satisfaction of
AT - INRAEB TS BT S the performance obligation. However, if the Group cannot reasonably
R BTEHIRE I B TR IG PN measure the outcome but expects to recover the costs incurred in
EERKRA - ARMEENNE A satisfying the performance obligation, then it recognises revenue to
PR RN o the extent of the costs incurred.

IMREREAEZL - HIA - KR Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress toward completion
ST E R AT K HETTISET - are revised if circumstances change. Any resulting increases or
fAITEET A SR A B3 pn stk 4> decreases in estimated revenue or costs are reflected in profit or loss
HMRMEERENES ZERER] in the period which the circumstances that give rise to the revision
K EAR 2 B A © become known by management.

ERPRERBNHGTERAST— The customers are required to pay in advance for certain contract
EREREHE ﬁﬂ%ﬁi’%l%fﬁﬁ’] amount based on a payment schedule. If the services rendered by
RSB REEE - BIERER the Group exceed the payment, a contract asset is recognised. If
E ZZD%H/TAE@FHETAE’UHW% ' the payment exceeds the services rendered, a contract liability is
AlERERAE recognised.

(b) HRHEE (b)  Sale of gases

%*ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁz)\ BREEEMR - B
BARARMBICRAR - IR
EJ% FEFPHER BEENRE
RREP LA R R A 3
£ WRFER AR FERER » X2
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Revenue from the sale of gases, including pipelined gases, CNG and
LNG, are recognised at the point of time when control is transferred
to the customer, which generally coincides with the time when the
gas is delivered to customers and title has passed, and is based
on the gas consumption derived from metre readings. Payment of
the transaction price is due immediately at the point the customer
consumes the gas. Payments received in advance that are related
to sales of natural gas not yet delivered are recognised as contract
liabilities and deferred in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HE - FE-_TFf - HA=1—HIIFE

(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Revenue recognition (continued)

(c)  Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the leases.

(d)  Service income

Service income represents income from engineering and consulting
services provided to customers and is recognised when services are
rendered.

2.27 Earnings per share

2.27.1 Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

° the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares;

° by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and
excluding treasury shares.

2.27.2 Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

o the after income tax effect of interest and other financing
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

° the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares

that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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2.

2.28

2.29

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends are recognised as
other income in profit or loss when the right to receive payment is
established. This applies even if they are paid out of pre-acquisition
profits, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of
the cost of an investment. In this case, the dividend is recognised in
other comprehensive income if it relates to an investment measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income. However, the
investment may need to be tested for impairment as a consequence.

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.
However, for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee,
it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and
instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE

(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.29 Leases (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less
any lease incentives receivable;
° variable lease payment that are based on an index or a

rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease

term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020 133



B OB M SRR Y RE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F-_TF+-H=+—HIFZF
(BFEBARE T (BRIFFFHS))
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

EEEHBERS
(2

/1

2.29 HME (&)

RETIBEBFRME - REEE :

. FERTBERNBER T - LA A
ROWEINE=TTRHERE
B WAETHBARKRRE
fFRHEBEREIE=RERD

. HINIHRESE=7TRE
MARERAENEE - K8
VA S [ i ) 2= A 2 36 9 R 0
% WiRRAENERER
HEITHE I

. SR EETEERE
WHEARR ~ IR - &M
R

AREBERKAEGHRERERK
A R HETE 1 P B AE BN SRR G AN A
Rk - Eso A EHENREEE
RELRMAHERRE - EENE
M EHHENRBETHE
B HERERTUEGRLREE
FREEERE -

HENRBEASNBREERZHE

EITOE - RMEBEBAEEERAG

ABa - IR EE #9 B B R X

HEHRBERBRAENE

EREEERNAE B

. HEREBEMNVIRTESE

. EHREHRFRSA AR
R E NSRBI R
SAE

. TIRERER UK

. B

134 HBEXGRRERERAF 20205 FEHRE

2.

2.29

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing
was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group,
which does not have recent third-party financing; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country,
currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease
payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the
lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease
payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is
reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost.

The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so

as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining

balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE

(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.29 Leases (continued)

The Group leases lands. All land in the PRC is state-owned or
collectively-owned and no individual land ownership exists. The
Group acquires the right to use certain land. The premiums paid for
such right are treated as prepayment for the lease and recognised as
right-of-use assets.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-
of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases
are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets
comprise small items of office furniture.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is
recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term (Note
16). Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised
as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income.
The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based
on their nature.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. EEETHRRBE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

(& POLICIES (continued)

2.30 BURED 2.30 Government grants
E A 1R AR FB T 468 B S AT Uk Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
- mMARESEHE A% there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
T BBURERTFTREDEEAR the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
EEERALR -
HARK NG B 2 BUN 3 BhiRIE AR - Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in
A ¥ ik 4 B B AR AN BRI AR T BR 5T A profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs
b= El that they are intended to compensate.
HABE - BEREREEBOBN Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are
B ERB A BT IERELER included in non-current liabilities as deferred government grants and
fI#B) - Wik B EERMTEF FH are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected
BRI AR o lives of the related assets.

2.31 FEWA 2.31 Interest income
NARnEEFTEEEZEE AERE Interest income from financial assets at fair value through profit or
K e R EERNFSULA « AR loss, financial assets at amortised cost and financial assets at fair
R ENEBEE R F B WA R value through other comprehensive income calculated using the
AR EBEGTEEEESTAELM effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss as part of
FRAERENEREENF ERAFK “finance expenses — net .

RERNEEERETHERR [/
BER — F ] -

TRRESEEENMBBENSRE Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned
ENFIBBAYIR SRS - 2 from financial assets that are held for cash management purposes,
BTRXEEL0 - see Note 10 below.

SRVE ER B AL ERRFZ L Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
CRVEERMABTEE  BRESH to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial
EERRBENSRIEERIN - BE assets that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-
EARENESREENT ERAZ impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the
ERFERASTEERAEER net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
FIBRBERAFEE - allowance).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE

(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.32 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims and make good obligations are recognised
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used
to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

2.33 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.
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2.

2.34

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group.

A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is
recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—FE_FFS_H=1—HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including foreign exchange risk, fair value interest rate risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by Group finance department under
the policies approved by the board of directors. Group finance
department identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-
operation with the Group’s operating units. The board provides
written principles for overall risk management, as well as written
policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk, and use of non-derivative and derivative
financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.

(a)  Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar (“USD”)
and HK dollar (“HKD"). Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.
Management has set up a policy to require the Group companies to
manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional currency.

As at 31 December 2020, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 1%
(2019: 1%) against the USD with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year then ended would have been
approximately RMB4,396,000 (2019: RMB2,133,000) lower/higher,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of
USD-denominated bank borrowings, cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. WKEREREE) 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 B¥ERBREZEE) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) THEREE) (a)  Market risk (continued)

(i) INEEEE (E) (i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)
RZEZZEF+—A=+—H & As at 31 December 2020, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 1%
BEARBHABEEE,/FE1% (= (2019: 1%) against the HKD with all other variables held constant,
ZE-NF:1%) MABHMAZE the Group’s post-tax profit for the year then ended would have
HRTNE - AIREEZFENR been approximately RMB18,160,000 (2019: RMB20,151,000)
“FBEE D RIR DG AR lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains on
18,160,000 T(ZZE—NF : AR translation of HKD-denominated bank borrowings, cash and cash
#20,151,0007T) " T EHA AR equivalents.
BB BB R IRITERMNE S
NI EBYESWEREBL T
e
—E-TF - AOESETEHENSE In 2020, the Group has entered into RMB/USD forward
NEERINERPR  KEBRET exchange instrument contracts amounting to USD55,000,000. It
424 ¥ /55,000,000 T AR deconcentrated the foreign exchange risk arising from the borrowings
¥ EZINETEAR - BEEEM denominated in USD, see Note 23 for detail information.
B m2ANE23 -

(i) BELRERAIAEBEFEREEE (i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

REER M ER KB &R RIRTT
T BRI RESHERS
SEAZREREF KRR - 5H
ZERBRA I B A R FHRR
TR - LEEFRESRN
ERSAEEAZ AR BEFER
e R —_ZE_FTF+_A=+—
B AEBEMNFIHNEERESE
B ANR#A4,507,142,0000( =&
— L& : AR ¥4,784,007,000
) BEFEERESEAARE
557,497,000 L(=ZZ—hF : A
¥ 408,395,0007T) °

R-ZE-ZTF+-_A=+—08 " f#
FEFIREROFER EFA TR
03%MAEEMEERIFTIE
Bl 4F FZ B P15 4 BT A 45 9 BIRR
b INE AR # 13,521,000 7T
(ZZ—N%F: AR¥ 14,352,000
TT) IEBHRANFEBF RERD
BB, SR o
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The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings and bank
deposits. Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at
variable rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest rate risk. As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s
borrowings of RMB4,507,142,000 (2019: RMB4,784,007,000)
bore interest at variable rates and borrowings of RMB557,497,000
(2019: RMB408,395,000) at fixed rates.

As at 31 December 2020, if interest rates on borrowings at variable
rates had been 0.3% higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, profit before income tax for the year would have been
approximately RMB13,521,000 (2019: RMB14,352,000) lower/
higher, respectively, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
expense on floating rate borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.

3.1

(a)
(i)

(b)

(i)

BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, if interest rates on all interest-
bearing bank deposits within cash and cash equivalents had been
0.3% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, profit
before income tax for the year would have been approximately
RMB4,920,000 (2019: RMB4,050,000) higher/lower, respectively,
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income earned.

Credit risk

Credit risk of the Group arise from cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, trade and other receivables, contract assets, financial
guarantee contracts, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and at fair value through profit or loss. The
carrying amounts of these balances and financial guarantee contracts
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
these financial assets.

Risk management

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Management has a credit
policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an on-going basis.

The Group generally requests advances from customers in relation
to the engineering construction service, and grants credit periods up
to two months to the customers in relation to the transportation and
sales of gases business. In circumstances of credit sales, to manage
the credit risk in respect of trade and other receivables, the Group
has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to customers with
appropriate credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers, and generally does not require collateral
from the customers on the outstanding balances.
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BE2—FE_FF+_H="1—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. MBEBREE(E) 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 HBEBEEE) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) EHERE(E) (b)  Credit risk (continued)

(i) EBREE(E) (i) Risk management (continued)
EREREERBREIEAAEERE Significant concentration of credit risk primarily arises when the
EREFEEELE - RZTEZTF Group has significant exposure to individual customers. As at 31
+-A=+—8 " ERESERA December 2020, 53% (2019: 62%) of the total trade receivables
BHB3% (ZZE—JLF : 62%) 2K was due from the Group’s largest customer which is a joint venture of
BSESEANER  TATSEN the Group. The Group monitors the exposure to credit risk in respect
GEDE AEBEFEBREETBR of the trade receivable due from its joint venture through exercising
LEBERORATHINEE - W E R influence over its financial and operating policy decisions and
B H I BARR B fﬁﬁfﬂﬁAMA reviewing its financial positions on a regular basis.
HEWERFHEER

(i) EHEERE (i)  Impairment of financial assets

AEBFENN T HEEETEY
ERERRVNEREEN

The Group has the following types of financial assets that are subject
to the expected credit loss model:

. ReERFEEEMUARZR . cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash;
HEL

. MAREE « TIRLRERE . trade receivables for sales of gas and engineering construction
H FE AR X service:

. EREBE . contract assets;

o LA R ARFTE R E M & Bl . other financial assets at amortised cost; and
BE: R

. LA SRR ARET EFA R B . notes receivable at fair value through other comprehensive

{58 B HS B AL
A s RIS -

Hx RA2FEYARZREHE 2
R-ZF-_ZE+_A=+t—RHk=
E-NE+ZRA=+—H £&HE
FBRTEFOERRFREER
ﬁ?ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁ%%*%ﬂif‘ AREHREE
Rif HR 58 FEABLM
“EEH%@%
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income and amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, all of the
Group’s bank deposits are deposited in the major reputable financial
institutions in the PRC which management believes are of high credit
quality and do not expect any losses from non-performance by the
counterparties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.

3.1

(b)
(i)

BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The contract assets relate to unbilled work
in progress and have substantially the same risk characteristics as
the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables
are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract
assets.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales
over a period of 36 month before 31 December 2020 and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period.
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has identified
the GDP and the national completion of investment in fixed assets in
which it sells its goods and services to be the most relevant factors,
and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected
changes in these factors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BEr —FE-_FTFEf - H=+—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. BBRKREREZ 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 B¥ERBREZEE) 3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) 1EHEREE) (b)  Credit risk (continued)

(i) ZHBEEREE) (i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
JEWBR A BB E (4E) Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
Bl A&EEERT _ZE_ZF On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2020 and 31
+—A=+—HN=_Z—NF+= December 2019 was determined as follows for both trade receivables
A=Z+—BEKEZIMEREEN and contract assets:

AR RBET

ek 1-30% EB30K EB60K BEBIOK b
More than More than More than
1-30 days 30 days 60 days 90 days

ZZZZF+ZA=1-H 31 December 2020 Current past due past due past due past due Total
BHERRAR Expected loss rate 0.45% 2.75% 15.37% 23.21% 63.38%
REEE — EYIIRS Gross carrying amount —
trade receivables 571,437 2,404 3,273 2,430 26,395 605,939
FmiesE — ARAE Gross carrying amount —
contract assets 1,166,980 — — — — 1,166,980
BERE Loss allowance 7,823 66 503 564 16,728 25,684
ek 130K BR300k A0 X RO K &t

More than More than More than
1-30 days 30 days 60 days 90 days

“Z-NE+ZA=1+—H 31 December 2019 Current past due past due past due past due Total
EEERELR Expected loss rate 0.30% 2.66% 12.37% 18.21% 44.41%
RmEE — EIRER Gross carrying amount —

trade receivables 757,099 4,290 2,523 2,647 25,245 791,804
REEE — SREE Gross carrying amount —

contract assets 510,429 — — — — 510,429
BERE Loss allowance 3,803 114 312 482 11,211 15,922
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.

3.1

(b)
(ii)
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(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the
failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and
a failure to make contractual payments.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets are
presented as administrative expenses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost mainly include other
receivables. Other receivables is measured as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, other receivables
including security deposit, which were performing. The Group
believes the loss allowance for other receivable as a result of applying
the expected credit risk model was immaterial.

Notes receivable at fair value through other comprehensive income
and amortised cost

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, all the notes
receivable are bank acceptance bills (see Note 19 and Note 20),
which will be accepted mainly by large state-owned banks or national
commercial banks. The Group believes that there is no significant
credit losses due to the bank default.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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3. BXRMEE(E 3.

3.1 MBEBRRE) 3.1
(b) ERmEE(E) (b)
(i)~ EMEERME (F) (ii)

KB AGT EFIALN A B1EGE
A B EE)FI AR AR A Wk 1 EK
Z5 (&)

AEERN  AEEKESEEER
BRI A TR ABREF ¢

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Notes receivable at fair value through other comprehensive income
and amortised cost (continued)

During the year, the following losses were recognised in profit or loss
in relation to impaired financial assets:

—E-=E —E-NF
2020 2019
ARMT T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
NEREREES Impairment losses
— EWEEF M ARE  — movement in loss allowance for
ERXEEEZS trade receivables and contract assets 9,762 6,160
EMerEEMERSL Impairment losses on other financial assets 9 10
ZATRBEEBKX R EE Reversal of previous impairment losses = —
SREEMAREZE  Net impairment losses on financial and
SRERF R contract assets 9,771 6,170

AEER KRG ERFEHMBGE
R REARBRNSEAROSER
MEREEE - FRMES7E) -

AREBRI B RRE O T & E
EEXRE -
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The Group granted financial guarantees to a joint venture with
maximum exposure to credit risk as the carrying amount of the loans,
see Note 37(c) for details.

The Group expects that no material liabilities will arise from the
financial guarantee contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.

3.1
(c)
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(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations, mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows, and
meet its financial obligations when they fall due. The Group expects
to fund its future cash flow needs through internally generated cash
flows from operations, borrowings from financial institutions, as well
as equity financing through shareholders when necessary. The Group
also reviews the utilisation of borrowings and ensures the compliance
of loan covenants.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted

FABEPIRESRE o cash flows.
—EhR -EZWE MEERE RENE
Less than Between Between Over
KEM Group 1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years 5 years
ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RZB-EF+-F=1-H At 31 December 2020
BRI Bank borrowings 2,312,912 1,902,997 905,635 91,736
LR Other borrowings 137,931 469 1,365 2,743
HEaE Lease liabilities 4,276 2,087 2,496 428
ERERTREMEMZY  Trade and other payables” 1,135,546 = = =
UDAEBETEEESS  Financial liabilities at fair value
SAEHEZZEBEE  through profit or loss 8,070 15,241 7,134 =
SRERSR Financial guarantee contracts 246,000 = = =
FITETEEE Total financial liabilities 3,844,735 1,920,794 916,630 94,907
RE-NAF+-A=T—F At31 December 2019
RITIER Bank borrowings 1,389,537 1,824,587 1,974,161 195,913
EthiE Other borrowings 150,592 142,218 769 4125
HEARE Lease liabilities 2,661 2,187 2,667 2,168
BENEFREMENTD  Trade and other payables’ 1,104,642 — — —
SRERAR Financial guarantee contracts 50,500 — — —
FITETEAE Total financial liabilities 2,697,932 1,968,992 1,977,597 202,206

(M) JEAS BR R B EL At FE A SR B FE A
iz 28 R EM RN RIE - &
RHERSR - FEAT BB O3 308 - JE
e BHE  BAFEREAM
JERIR

(i)

Trade and other payables include notes payables, trade payables,
amounts due to related parties, contingent considerations, interest
payables and other payables as stated in Note 28.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. U¥EKRER(E) 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.2 EXER 3.2 Capital management
AEBMHEAEREE  2RES The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Bae A E - U ARRIRHRE R Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
MeHMAZBRERENZ - B returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
RERRENEREEDUREER maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
PR o
BT HBAARERER  ~5E In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
Al RE & R T T R B A BRI 2 adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
B MREREERN - BITHKK to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

HEEERIKETR -

EERNHMAT 5 AEEFA Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital
ERBERRERAERER - I risk on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as
b AL RS T OF RE bR LA & ARG net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total

cEHFREABRER(BESH borrowings (including “current and non-current borrowings” as shown
BEEBERMIIN [RE RIERE in the consolidated balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents.
BRDBERESMRSEEY - 8 Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated
BERE [z (MEHEEBESR balance sheet plus net debt. The Group aims to maintain the gearing
Fi5)) mER 58 - AEBEHK ratio at a reasonable level.

BARBBEERERERIERIKE -

RZEZZEF+_A=+—HEKZ= The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019
T-NE+-A=+—8 48 were as follows:
BLLENT :
B+=B=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-EF —E-hEF
2020 2019
AR®T T AREETT
RMB’000 RMB’'000

REF (MI3E29) Total borrowings (Note 29) 5,064,639 5,192,402
/Ul HWEMIBEEEY Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 24)

(F5E24) (1,640,081) (1,349,836)
(s Net debt 3,424,558 3,842,566
B Total equity 4,980,287 4,187,320
FERE N Total capital 8,404,845 8,029,886
EXREEE Gearing ratio 41% 48%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE

(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried at
fair value as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 by level
of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

o Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).
° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that

are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is,
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that
are measured at fair value at 31 December 2020.

E1E F2E E3E FoH
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ARET R ARET R ARET T AR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BE Assets
AR EEEBE  Financial assets at fair value
FHETAE MRS through other
WERHEREE comprehensive income
— MEITEIELT  — Unlisted equity securities
B H in gas industry — — 61,500 61,500
— BURER — Notes receivable — — 27,083 27,083
MEE Total assets — — 88,583 88,583
=l Liabilities
HABRER5R Other payables
— BHE — Contingent consideration — — 111,708 111,708
— INETH — Forward exchange instrument — — 30,445 30,445
Hmafs Total liabilities — — 142,153 142,153
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(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. BBRKREREZ 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 QAREEMREE) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
TRERMEEE_ZT—NF+= The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that
AR=T—HBEAARBEFENEE are measured at fair value at 31 December 2019.

METE -
%1 E2E E3E 45T
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AREFT AREFTT AREFT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
BE Assets

UAREESEEE  Financial assets at fair value
BT AH LIRS through other

WaEr S REE comprehensive income
— MEITEIELT  — Unlisted equity securities
s in gas industry — — 79,746 79,746

— EUWER — Notes receivable — — 50,602 50,602
HEE Total assets — — 130,348 130,348
af Liabilities
HABRERI5R Other payables

— S EHE — Contingent consideration — — 138,128 138,128
HmaE Total liabilities — — 138,128 138,128
FREL 2 3E 2B mEE There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.
% o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE

(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is
based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. A market
is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

(b)  Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by
using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise
the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as
little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. HKEBER(E 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 AREEMBEE) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(c) HEFIBAHLHMIA (c)  Financial instruments in level 3
In—IE S, % IHE K AN IERIE T If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
BRMISZHE - AZERITATIA market data, the instrument is included in level 3. The valuation
F3E - AUAESR T EMNET technique used to value the financial instrument is discounted cash
HERTARSRITAAN - flow analysis.
TREMME_Z-ZTF+ A The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for
—THLFEFIESHITEAN the year ended 31 December 2020.

BATEH A

Em'  REES HEHE ERRE HEIR @t
Bank Unlisted Forward

financial equity  Contingent Notes exchange

products”  securities consideration receivable instrument Total

ARMTR ARWTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

w—A—H Balance at 1 January — 79,746 (138,128) 50,602 — (7,780)

WEEF AR (H7E35) Acquisition of subsidiaries

(Note 35) = — (14,756) = — (14,756)
i Additions 3,570,000 - - 246,262 — 3,816,262
STABRNALEEE Changes in fair value

recognised in profit or loss 5,680 — 8,480 (2,691) (30,445) (18,976)
HEEMRAINENFER  Net losses transfer to other

comprehensive income — (18,246) — — — (18,246)
RE Disposals (3,575,680) — — (267,090) —  (3,842,770)
S| Cash paid — — 32,696 — — 32,696
W+ZRA=+-H Balance at 31 December = 61,500  (111,708) 27,083 (30,445) (53,570)
(i) ERRESBEEZHN—HH - (i) As part of cash management activity, the Group purchases short-term

REEREIHANIZI0OR bank financial product with maturity date vary from 3 to 30 days.

VAT AR B B A o
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)

Financial instruments in level 3 (continued)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

8 -
RITEM 3Fiﬁ
EtRE Em R HEHE RUZE @t
Bank Unlisted
Investment financial equity  Contingent Notes
ina trust products securities  consideration receivable Total
ARBTT ARETT  ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R—A—H Balance at 1 January 300,000 5,000 78,816 (339,680) — 44,136
KA Acquisition of a subsidiary — — — (25,908) — (25,908)
i Additions — 340,000 — — 319,495 659,495
STABRNAR Changes in fair value
EE% recognised in profit or loss — — — 54,303 (2,337) 51,966
GE AR Net gain transfer to other
Ealic comprehensive income — — 930 — — 930
RE Disposals (300,000)  (345,000) — — (266,556)  (911,556)
Rexf Cash paid - - — 173,157 — 173,157
W+ZA=+-H Balance at 31 December — — 79,746 (138,128) 50,602 (7,780)

BT h T R A

AT A0 H B & 1% 1

4.

BTG WRIE

BELBMEBEAZETIE &
REABBERTHEYRREMFH

BIRTEA o

$%¥H@K{’Eﬁjf$§+&¥ﬂﬁﬁ ° Fff
MWEtEFTmEEE  RIgHE
ﬁ?ﬂf’%\,u%ﬁH - AR EEBHT
ERBFENEEMBENREE
BEHERBREOMGAMBRRT S

T -

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and judgements concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.
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BE2—FE_FF+_H="1—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4. BAESTHLETRHE 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
(&) JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a) BEEREMET (@) Estimated impairment of goodwill
RIEMIEE2.11 PRt f & 5T BGR - A& The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
SESFNHAMERETHIRE - impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note
REEHETHAIE S EIRBEE 2.11. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been determined based
FAEBEEMETE - WEHEFE on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of
IR HET (BHFEL7) - estimates (Note 17).
KRABEEZRE BFEEREET In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the recoverable amounts
ReELSETRESEHBRRR of the CGUs will not be lower than the carrying amount even if taking
RIS E e EE) c BEEDE into account a reasonably possible change in a key assumption on
LR AT E £ B 2 {EARE(E the calculations of recoverable amounts of CGUs.
e

(b) FIEHL (b) Income taxes

REBM R BASE &) TR BB
#lm%% ST o BEFSHEG
REEHERAE - BEEBTAE
ZHERGHNAERERETERETH
15 o NEBIRES G EMEINGIE
BEET - MEBRIEEZE T HER
BE - WMEBANSARTIIEEL R
?%A%W%%TH'Wﬁﬁé%

5 TE A 18 AR A P S A B IR RE A
ﬁﬁ%

MERER B BEH R RERTH
AT R R M IEEE - g
REBETUREBRBIESR
MIRERIBEAE - MIBHAERSTIE
SRR - AlEEe A M ESUR
MREERBEEREHERE

R e

IESERE A BT RAER R T 2 1
iR ER—ERSS  EEE
B R B A SN R M5 R A
R (3 R B ERT

The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in the PRC are subject
to corporate income tax in the PRC. Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised as management considers it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such differences
will impact the recognition of deferred income tax assets and income
tax expense in the period in which such estimate is changed.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except that the temporary differences
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, or arise from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a

HEERVB &N - T2 business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
A - BIASERSHR o neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Purchase price allocation for business combinations
other than common control combinations

Accounting for business combinations requires the Group to allocate
the cost of the acquisition to the specific assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date
of acquisition. The Group undertakes a process to identify all assets
and liabilities acquired, including any identified intangible assets
where appropriate. The judgements made in identifying all acquired
assets, determining the estimated fair value assigned to each class
of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as well as assets useful
lives, may materially impact the Group’s financial position and
results of operation. In determining the fair values of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, valuations were conducted
by an independent valuer and estimated fair values are based on
information available near the acquisition date and on expectations
and assumptions that have been deemed reasonable by management.

Useful life and residual value of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are depreciated
or amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives, after taking into account the estimated residual value. The
Group assesses annually the residual value and the useful life of
the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets and if the
expectation differs from the original estimates, such differences from
the original estimates will impact the depreciation or amortisation
charges in the year in which the estimates change.
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4. BRSEHGsTR¥E 4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

(& JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(e) SREERME (e) Impairment of financial assets
TREEBRRBEREANEENR The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions
BANTE BB R R BREMETER about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses
REBEMBBERMBIETENR judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs
ANER - IRRAREE LR ] to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history,
BTIS R AR WS SR AT existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at
WEMEAEHEITHE - REEFEA the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
KBRS IR AR M A B 15 H BT inputs used are disclosed in the tables in Note 3.1(b).

7t 3.1(b) HRAZH o

5. oEEERE 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION
ERECRESATHEEESRZ Management has determined the operating segments based on
WAREREREAEN AEmEE the reports reviewed by the senior executive management team on
TERLEDHS © monthly basis that are used to make strategic decisions.
SRTHEREEER[Em] E The senior executive management team considers the business from
DEB FESHRBMEmE a “product” perspective only, as geographically all the products are
FIBEmBEFBRREME - Mzt provided within the PRC, which is considered as one geographic
RIEEB LR ANEH o location with similar risks and returns.

WELL D EBAOMWATFEFEZ K The reportable segments derive their revenue and profit primarily
BRRREEEL  RARIEE from sales of natural gas in cylinders, sales of natural gas in bulk
AR TIRZ 5 AR - and engineering construction services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

In 2020, the Group changed its internal organisational structure
for the purpose of better resource allocation and assessment of
segment performance. The senior executive management reviews
business performance according to the types of end-users who use
its products. For sales made to residential customers, industrial and
commercial customers, and transportation customers is classified
as sales of natural gas in cylinders; whereas for sales made to city
gas enterprise customers for direct supply and wholesale purpose,
and gas source trading customers is classified as sales of natural gas
in bulk. Business segments are reclassified as: sales of natural gas
in cylinders, sales of natural gas in bulk, engineering construction
services and other segments. The senior executive management
team assesses performance of the operating segments based on
segment results which represent the profit before taxation earned
by each segment without allocation of other income, other gains/
(losses) — net, finance expense — net, share of results of associates
and a joint venture, unallocated corporate expenses such as central
administration costs and directors’ salaries. The segment reporting
for the year ended 31 December 2019 was adjusted retrospectively.

The revenue from rental income of investment properties, value-
added business and other miscellaneous income, has been reviewed
by the senior executive management team, and its results are
included in the “all other segments”.

The Group does not allocate assets and liabilities to its segments, as
the senior executive management team do not use these information
to allocate resources to or evaluate the performance of operating
segment. Therefore, the Group does not report a measure of segment
assets and liabilities for each reportable segment.
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BE2—FE_FF+_H="1—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

5. DEPEE(E 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
HE-Z-_FTF+-_A=+—AH1t The segment information provided to the senior executive
FE - A REsBASRITERE management team for the reportable segments for the year ended 31
BERRNSEEELOT December 2020 is as follows:

AR RARHE IBZER FiE
BEEH % R EaE SEEHE OB @t
Sales of Sales of  Engineering
natural gas  natural gas  construction All'other Inter-segment
in cylinders in bulk services segments  elimination  Unallocated Total
ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%Tn ARETR ARETR ARET:R
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

BA Total revenue 3,060,829 673,844 2,549,683 229,541 (74,120) — 6,439,777
AEEMA Inter-segment revenue = = = 74120  (74,120) - -
RARMIZPEMA External revenue 3,060,829 673,844 2,549,683 155,421 — — 6,439,777
ERMARER Timing of revenue recognition
EE-BE At a point in time 3,060,829 673,844 — 152,218 — — 3,886,891
E-BHER Over time - — 2,549,683 3,203 — — 2,552,886
AR Segment profit 385,136 49,994 1,028,549 82,547 — — 1,546,226
KOHER Unallocated expenses (12,865)  (12,865)
Efls Other income 9,828 9,828
EiFE/(BE)—FE  Other gains/(losses) — net 160,189 160,189
F il Operating profit 1,703,378
YHER — 38 Finance expenses — net (239,123)  (239,123)
NG Share of results of
RELEEE associates and
a joint venture (45,880) (45,880)
REEHAANE Profit before income tax 1,418,375
FIEHER Income tax expense (354,702)  (354,702)
FERR Profit for the year 1,063,673
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The segment information provided to the senior executive
management team for the reportable segments for the year ended 31
December 2019, as restated, is as follows:

T
AR RARME  IRZER g
TERH x5 k% HioE  HoEEE AAE @t
Sales of Salesof  Engineering
natural gas  natural gas  construction All'other Inter-segment
in cylinders in bulk services  segments  elimination  Unallocated Total
ARETL  AREF ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ETON Total revenue 2,980,255 1,081,158 2,355,353 198,394 (66,542) — 6,548,618
AEHERA Inter-segment revenue - 66,542 (66,542) -
RAPMNIZFEMA External revenue 2,980,255 1,081,158 2,355,353 131,852 - — 6,548,618
Ll Nl Timing of revenue recognition
EE-RE At a point in time 2,980,255 1,081,158 — 128,581 - — 4,189,994
E-BERER Over time — — 2,355,353 3,271 - — 2,358,624
AR Segment profit 342,958 83,600 985,573 53,771 — — 1,465,908
FARER Unallocated expenses (16,001)  (16,001)
Eftlg Other income 4,720 4,720
A/ (B8)—FE  Other gains/(losses) — net (19,345)  (19,345)
BERE Operating profit 1,435,282
YKER— 38 Finance expenses — net (265,585)  (265,585)
NG Share of results of
REGEEE associates and
a joint venture (42,317) (42,317)
BRETEH AR Profit hefore income tax 1,127,380
EHER Income tax expense (313915)  (313,915)
EENE Profit for the year 813,465
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

5. ZEMER (& 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
ARABEZFRAIFMAFE - The principal subsidiaries of the Company are domiciled in the PRC.
e R BRINEBRE R A R All the revenue from external customers are derived from the PRC,
R E - KA RIERENEEHINL and all the non-current assets are located in the PRC.
A o
HE-ZT-_TF+-_A=+—H1t During the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue of approximately
FERN AEEREE—FPWA RMB1,771,606,000 and 28% of the Group’s total revenue, is
# A R #1,771,606,0007T ° 1k derived from a single customer (2019: RMB1,591,209,000 and
REFEBWRAL28% (ZF—NF 24%) (Note 37(b)). The revenue is attributable to the engineering
g AR¥1,591,209,0007T ' 14 construction service (2019: engineering construction service).

REEBUA 24%) (HHE37(b))
HERABR TRZELRE D H
—E-NFE IRTELRS

DER) o
REBECHERUATEEFPERER The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities related
MEEMARE to contracts with customers:
. —TNF
t=A=t-A +=A=t-H
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
AR®T T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
TBAREE Current contract assets 1,166,980 510,429
BREE Loss allowance (5,252) (1,531)
EREERSE Total contract assets 1,161,728 508,898
sRAE Contract liabilities
TREHE NRE Engineering construction service 346,172 358,263
ARREEER Sales of natural gas in cylinders 107,508 89,211
RARHBEH Sales of natural gas in bulk 4,387 21,577
AREaEEE Total contract liabilities 458,067 469,051
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE
(LEEBARE T (BISEHS))
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

DEHER(E 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
ERAESEAEERNW (i) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities
A
RZZEZTF—HA—H x&HEEG As of 1 January 2020, the balance of the Group’s contract liabilities
HE%%%E%/\E@Mw 051,000 was RMB469,051,000 (2019: RMB374,851,000), of which
T(ZE—NF—HA—H: AR RMB305,355,000 from engineering construction service (2019:
374,851,0007_5) CHATRERER RMB230,716,000), RMB88,274,000 from sales of natural gas in
RIS AR & & ARE305,355,0007T cylinders (2019: RMB123,705,000), RMB21,577,000 from sales
(Z=—N%F : AR¥ 230,716,000 of natural gas in bulk (2019: RMB5,317,000) and nil from all other
L) RARZEEXEBKEARE segment (2019: RMB703,000) have been recognised in revenue in
88,274,000 t(ZZFE—hF : AR 2020.
#5123,705,0007T) * KA RHL
¥BAR®E21,577,000( = Z
—NFE: AR#S5317,0007T) °
HEthnHE(ZT jl¢ AR
703,000) AZZE =T FENE
wZ%LlﬁU\ °
H bl = 6. OTHER INCOME
BE+-A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December
—EZHF —ET-NF
2020 2019
AR¥ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BB Government grants in relation to
— BIBRE — Tax refund 3,114 1,996
— EHISEHENEE)  — Subsidies for local investment rewards
1% E fth 75 B and other incentives 6,714 2,724
9,828 4,720
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BE_FE_TF _H=F—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

7. HaRB (B\E) — 7.

OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) — NET

BE+t-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—EC-BF —T-NF

2020 2019

ARET T ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

BEFRAEX Losses on disposal of a subsidiary — (10,718)
BETEE  MEN&  Gains on disposal of property,

BAENFIE plant and equipment (Note 32(b))

(BizE32(b)) 3,281 377
S e Penalty and overdue fines (2,023) (1,809)
SBEHBALBEES) Changes in fair value of contingent consideration 8,480 54,303
SHIE HUess,(J82%)  Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) 188,536 (61,724)
SNGE T EI8 2K (Mf5E23) Losses on forward exchange instrument (Note 23) (30,445) —
KAanfEEstEAE Disposal losses of notes receivable

BT A KRS measured at fair value through other

Iz B PRI R R comprehensive income

BEEEK (2,691) (2,337)
Ep Others (4,949) 2,563

160,189 (19,345)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

REESENER 8. EXPENSES BY NATURE

BE+t-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

b g 53 —T-hF

2020 2019

ARMT T AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’'000

FANRME KEES  Raw materials and consumables used 3,507,196 3,772,782
TEE - BE K Depreciation on property, plant and

BAEITE (W 15) equipment (Note 15) 163,350 142,825
R EETE Depreciation on investment properties (Note 16)

(KMizr16) 3,025 2,978
B ERD (FH3E17) Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17) 97,502 90,227
BITwAMER(FITE9) Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) 204,825 203,611
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14)

(KMizr14) 11,789 9,266
HMEBERLE Licensing fee for the exclusive operating

EERE rights for city pipeline network 1,100 1,100
HERBERRTER Engagement of construction and design services 782,106 735,556
BB Transportation costs 6,833 6,623
ZIRE Travelling expenses 5,105 8,887
HIEE Maintenance costs 20,559 19,320
Z AN & Auditors’ remuneration

— ZERTE — Audit services 3,450 3,500
EXER Professional expenses 5,455 7,293
EEER Advertising expenses 3,415 3,429
¥GBEE Entertainment expenses 11,840 14,216
WNE Office expenses 16,756 17,566
He Taxes 21,743 18,619
BERERE Energy consumption 26,461 32,163
BB Net impairment loss 9,771 6,170
M Miscellaneous 4,135 2,580
SHERA DR A K Total cost of sales, distribution expenses

1TEE BT and administrative expenses 4,906,416 5,098,711
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BE_FE_TF _H=F—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

9. BITNER

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

BE+t-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-EF —E-NEF
2020 2019
ARMT T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
T& K3 Wages and salaries 172,858 151,177
BRIRE AR — Pension costs — defined contribution plans
ERTFA & 2,159 17,253
HtERBES T Social security benefits costs 17,952 17,480
HYESH R Share options granted to directors (Note 26)
(FizE26) 950 6,303
Hi Others 10,906 11,398
204,825 203,611
(@ IBNuBRESFMAL (@) Five highest paid individuals
HE-Z-_FTF+-_A=+—AH1t The five individuals whose emoluments were highest in the Group

FE AEEAUSZSHFATEE
WEEE(ZZE—NFE: MWE) -
REBENHE D A EL0
FoRZEZZTF+ =

for the year ended 31 December 2020 included four (2019: four)
directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in
Note 40. The emoluments payable to the remaining one individual

A=+— for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: one) are as follows:
BIEFE  XNFHRT-R(ZF
—HFE  —R) ALTHBET

BE+t-A=T—-HLHEE

Year ended 31 December

—F-%F —TNF

2020 2019

AR®T T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HARH & MoEBE Basic salaries, and allowances 670 394
R F R Retirement benefit contributions 7 15
677 409
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BEr T -_FFf - H=+—HIFE

(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

9. BIBMNER#E) 9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(continued)
(@ BNURESFHFMAL(E) (@) Five highest paid individuals (continued)
AN EMRALTHEBRATE The emoluments of the above individuals fell within the following

: bands:

BE+T-A=1T—HLHFE

Year ended 31 December

—EC-BF —T-hEF
2020 2019
T 2% # 1,000,000 Nil to HKD1,000,000
(HBEARE (approximate to RMB841,600)
841,6007T) 1 1
AEBYENAETRSHTATIZN No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
ERIE - ERIMARERESEMA

individuals as inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
A B2 ED S RERR A (B o compensation for loss of office.
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AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

10. M BBEH

REE 10. FINANCE EXPENSES — NET

BE+t-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-EF —E-NEF
2020 2019
ARET T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
B s e Finance income
— IRITE -~ BT — Interest income from bank deposits,
B ERME=T bank products and third parties
B REERNFEWA (11,228) (16,327)
— LARBEFEBRE — Investment gains on financial assets
FEEt ABmH at fair value through profit or loss:
SREEEEN Investment in a trust
BEWE = (8,984)
(11,228) (25,311)
7% & A Finance expenses
— ERONFEER — Interest expense on borrowings 260,550 317,099
— HEBENFEER — Leasing liabilities 102 496
— Hfth — Others 5,676 2,878
B REREE Less: amounts capitalised on qualifying assets
B R (15,977) (29,577)
250,351 290,896
239,123 265,585
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AE-F_FF+_A=1—HILFE

(CHEENBARETIT(HIFZEHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December

REMEZEFRBIMTRES] 2020:
BB/ BEEX
£ EETRER BHRE 35 TERBANSEHY
Issued/
paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARETT
(RMB'000)
URBRERAR ([ XER]) EREERA 7% 100%*  REBERESHN
BRAR
Upsky Holdings Limited Limited liability company T* 100%**  Intermediary holding
(“Upsky Holdings") company in BV
PN i PN i) BRELRHA — 100% RERMNERAR
“E-SERATA
Tian Lun New Energy Limited Limited liability company —* 100% Intermediary holding
(“Tian Lun New Energy”) company in HK
BETARMRARAR ([BEHFLR]) AREERA 15,000 100% RPERREE
ZE-SERATER AARBERMAEE
R
Hebi Tian Lun New Energy Limited Limited liability company 15,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Hebi New Energy") gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
AEARRREEERAT AREERHA 1,800,000 100%  WHEREEE
EEFNG =0 AAHERMAEE
RREER
Henan Tian Lun Gas Group Limited Limited liability company 1,800,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Henan Tian Lun Gas") gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
BETAREARRERLR BREARR 10,000 100%  RREEEES
([BEXRER]) KRR
Hebi Tian Lun Vehicle-use Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC

Gas Limited

(“Hebi Tian Lun Vehicle”)
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(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). FATKRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
A INESR B8/ REEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARETR
(RMB'000)
SFETARMRARAR ([FFEXMR]) hE/ BREMRRR 135,000 100%  REERREE
ZER-EAAZTAR AARHERMAESE
iR
Xuchang Tian Lun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 135,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Xuchang Tian Lun") 29 September 2003 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
FETARERMABRAT hE/ BRELRHA 10,000 100% RPEHERSE
([FFEXRER]) “ER\FAATZR RER
Xuchang Tian Lun Vehicle-use PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC
Gas Limited 12 September 2008
(“Xuchang Tian Lun Vehicle")
P LR R RRAERAR hE/ EREARR 15,000 0%  HMPERREE
([ HE XM “ERELATAR AARBERMAEE
EREEY
Zhengzhou Shangjie Tian Lun PRC/ Limited liability company 15,000 90% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Limited (“Shangjie Tian Lun") 18 July 2007 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
REMARRARAR ((HEAR)) hE/ BREMAT 30,361 9897%  RPEFREE
ZEE=ERATAA RARHERMAEE
BREEY
Baiyin Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 30,361 98.97% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Gansu Baiyin”) 16 June 2003 gas, construction and
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). FATKRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
AMEINER B8/ HEEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
AR¥ETR
(RMB'000)
BRTEARRARLR ((BRER]) hE/ EREERT 8,500 100%  RPEHEEEEARA
“EENELATERE
Baiyin Wantong Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 8,500 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC
(“Baiyin Wantong") 15 October 2009
EERE AR REEERAR hE/ EREARR 140,000 100%  APEREEE
(EGEN) ZEZRE-A-TEA AARHERMREE
Bk EEE B
RARHE
Jilin Zhongji Dadi Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 140,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Group Limited (“Jilin Zhongji") 25 March 2005 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines and sales of
CNG in the PRC
aTAMRRERAA(haXM))  RE/ BREAAF 24,000 100%  REEEEEERAR
ZER\ELANR
Jiutai Dadi Gas Limited (“Jiutai Dadi") PRC/ Limited liability company 24,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
8 July 2008 gas in the PRC
BRTAMRRARAA ([BRAH)) wE/ BREAAH 10,000 100% RPBHEEERRR
ZEEETAZTAR REFRAR
Panshi Dadi Gas Limited (“Panshi Dadi") ~ PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
26 October 2006 gas and CNG in the PRC
AZTAARRERAR ((ARAM)) 8/ BREEAT 12,000 100%  RREEEEERRA
“2T/\E-A-t1A REERRR
Da'an Dadi Gas Limited (“Da'an Dadi") PRC/ Limited liability company 12,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
25 January 2008 gas and CNG in the PRC
BT AMAARERAR ((B5AM))  RE/ BREALT 6,000 100%  RPEEERERLR
“EEEZACTIR
Baicheng Dadi Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 6,000 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC

Gas Limited (“Baicheng Dadi")

23 March 2006
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(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11a). FRARKRE (©2) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
A INESR B8/ REEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARETR
(RMB'000)
REG wMRERAR(EEE L)  $E/ BREMRRR 16,000 100%  RPEEEEERNA
“EENEAAZTE
Zhenlai County Dadi Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 16,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Zhenlai County Dadi") 30 September 2009 gas in the PRC
BRERRERAR (BRG] =8/ BRELRA 10,000 100%  RPEEEEERLR
ZERRET-A=TH
Tongyu County Dadi Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Tongyu County Dadi") 30 November 2005 gas in the PRC
EGTARRAERAR ((ERAR])  +8/ BREELA 20,000 100%  RPERREE
ZEENET-ANE AAREERMAEE
BREEY
Puyang Tian Lun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 20,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Puyang Tianlun") 9 November 2009 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
HARBRARARRA (SR 8/ BREEAA 13,000 100%  RHEHEEERAR
ZEEE-ATEA
Dunhua Dadi Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 13,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Dunhua Dadi") 15 January 2007 gas in the PRC
ERMAMRIANERAR (EHAM]) FE/ BREMRRR 5,000 100%  RRERRIEZHE
“E2-E-ArA AR
Jilin Dadi Technology Consultancy PRC/ Limited liability company 5,000 100% Engineering design and
Limited (“Jilin Dadi") 7 March 2002 consulting services in
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B Ot B R MR ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—FE_FFS_H=1—HIFE
(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))
For the year ended 31 December 2020
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
AMEINER B8/ HEEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
AR¥ETR
(RMB'000)
HHEXRIRARAN (HEXR]) hE/ BRERRR 10,000 100%  RPEFREEAIEES
“E——%+-ACH RIREERREEY
Xinye County Tian Lun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Xinye Tian Lun") 2 November 2011 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
AEgRRRERRA (DTE%R) hE/ BREFAH 33,330 100% REERREE
“EZRE-ARE AAREERMAEE
EREEER
BEARAHE
Henan Luyuan Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 33,330 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Henan Luyuan”) 6 January 2005 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines and sales
of CNG in the PRC
BERRIAERAA(THES) hE/ BRELAT 41,000 100%  MPEREEE
“T——%/ A=tHA AARHERMAEE
ERARy
Song County Tian Lun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 41,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Henan Songxian”) 24 June 2011 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
BEMRRTEMRARAA hE/ ARELRRA 1,060 0%  WREHEREXRAR
([BRSRER]) “25 A=A
Shanggiu Luyuan Vehicle PRC/ Limited liability company 1,060 70% Sales of CNG in the PRC
Gas Limited 22 August 2006

(“Shanggiu Luyuan Vehicle")
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). FATKRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
A INESR B8/ REEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARETR
(RMB'000)
RARERRARAA(DAORE]) hE/ BREMRRR 13,500 100%  RPEFREEANR
“2——£-f5A HERMAEERR
RIS
Dongkou Senbo Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 13,500 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Dongkou Senbo”) 6 January 2011 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
FHRARARARLA (RHER]) hE/ BRELRHA 30,000 100% RPERREEARR
“EEMETA-T\R HERMATERR
HER
Kaifeng Xi'Na Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Limited (“Kaifeng Xi'Na") 28 QOctober 2004 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
EGRAMRBRLR ([EGRX]) wE/ BREERHA 10,000 80%  RPEFREBRAR
ZZ-ZFRANA HERMAEERR
HER
Cao County Zhongtian Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 80% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Caoxian Zhongtian”) 9 May 2012 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
EERRMRBRLE ([EEHX]) wE/ ARELRRA 12,000 80%  WREFREEAAR
ZEEENAZTEA HERMAEERR
B
Shan County Zhongtian Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 12,000 80% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Shanxian Zhongtian") 27 April 2006 gas, construction and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HE - FE-_TFf - HA=1—HIIFE

(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). FATKRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
AMEINER B8/ HEEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
AR¥ETR
(RMB'000)
EREZAGHAARARA(ERAR]) P&/ BREMRRR 30,000 100%  RPEFREEANA
ZE-Z5-ARA HERMAEERR
RS
Guangxi Luzhai Tianlun PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Limited 6 January 2012 gas, construction and
(“Luzhai Tianlun") connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
REXRERERRRARLH hE/ BRELRHA 10,500 70% RPEHERERAR
(M=x4)) “F-—FRR=T-R
Xingtai Tianlun Yunyu Vehicle PRC/ Limited liability company 10,500 70% Sales of CNG in the PRC
Gas Limited (“Xingtai Tianlun") 31 May 2012
ERRBRRARAA(HEXGR]) wE/ AREERA 30,000 100% RPERREEARR
“T-C#+-A=tH HERMAEERR
HER
Gulang Tianlun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Gulang Tianlun") 30 November 2012 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
ENREERRIRERAR (EMRE]) +8/ AREERA 10,000 70%  RRERETORR
“E-=E+CANA eSS
Jilin Changling County Tianlun PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 70% New energy technology
Gas Limited (“Changling Tianlun") 4 December 2013 development services
in the PRC
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BE_FE_TF _H=F—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FARRE (&)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
A INESR B8/ REEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARETR
(RMB'000)
RABERARELARAR ((RHEL)) P&/ BREMRRR 10,000 80%  RTEFREEANRES
“EENERAZA RREERREEN
Dongming Wanji Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 80% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Industrial Limited 3 June 2005 gas, construction and
(“Dongming Wanji") connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
TEMETARRARLRA(HEET])) @8/ BREFAH 30,000 100% RPERREERRAHE
“E2_E-A-TMA IR EERREEY
Heze Guanghe Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Limited (“Heze Guanghe”) 24 January 2002 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
EBELARMRARLA (ERER]) 98/ BREEAA 10,000 100%  RPERREEARRHE
“T-ZET-ACTtH Rt R BB R R
Guangxi Guanyang Tianlun PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Limited (“Guanyang Tianlun") 27 November 2013 gas, construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
O EERRERRAERAT hE/ AREARR 10,000 100%  RREHEREXRAR
[HEER]) ZE-ZEMATNR
Zhengzhou Shangjie Tianlun PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of CNG in the PRC
Vehicle Gas Limited 18 April 2013

(“Shangjie Tianlun Vehicle")
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HE - FE-_TFf - HA=1—HIIFE

(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1) FRRRE (& 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
AMEINER B8/ HEEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
AR¥ETR
(RMB'000)
EEABRNRARAA ([ EHAR]) hE/ EREERT 159,380 100%  RREREIRER
ZE-CE-ACTRA Rtk
Yunnan Datong Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 159,380 100% Engineering design and
(as Limited (“Yunnan Datong) 24 March 2013 consulting services in
the PRC
SREARAARARLA(ERAR)) +8/ BREELA 37,380 100%  RHERREEXARHE
S o s Rt R EERR RN
Huize Datong Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 37,380 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Huize Datong") 21 December 2007 gas; construction and

connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC

BEXBRARARAR(EEAR]) 4B/ AREAERA 29,000 100% RPERREEARRHE
“EENE-ATHA Rt EERR AN
Gejiu Datong Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 29,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Limited (“Gejiu Datong”) 15 January 2009 gas; construction and
connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

EREABRARARLAA(ERAR) +8/ BRERAT 33,000 100%  RTEREREERARES
“B2-ZEAAZA R EERREES
Guangnan Datong Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 33,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Limited (“Guangnan Datong”) 2 September 2010 gas; construction and
connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). FATKRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
A INESR B8/ REEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARETR
(RMB'000)
AOEABRARARAR((AOAR)  +E/ BREMATH 26,000 100% ReERREEAREHE
“B-=EAAZTEA RIREERREEY
Hekou Datong Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 26,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(as Limited (“Hekou Datong”) 24 September 2013 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
RUERBRARARAA(RILAR) =8/ BREFAH 26,000 100% RPERREERRAHE
“2——%nATH IR EERREEY
Yanshan Datong Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 26,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Limited (“Yanshan Datong”) 10 May 2011 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
IDTABRRRERAR(MLTAR)  #8/ EREARR 10,000 100%  RPERREERARHE
“EEhEN\AZTHR Rt R BB R R
Honghe Datong Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Limited (“Honghe Datong”) 25 August 2009 gas; construction and
connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
RREXRRAERAR (HRAR) 98/ AREARR 10,000 100%  REEEEEERAR
ZE-CHLA=TH
Weishi Tianlun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Weishi Tianlun") 30 July 2013 gas in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HE - FE-_TFf - HA=1—HIIFE
(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))
For the year ended 31 December 2020
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
AMEINER B8/ HEEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
AR¥ETR
(RMB'000)
ERFRRGREARLAR(FAXG]) P&/ BREMRRR 16,000 100%  RREREIRER
ZB-=E\AZ15A RS
Jilin Yitong Tianlun Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 16,000 100% Engineering design and
(“Yitong Tianlun") 26 August 2013 consulting services in
the PRC
ERERERAR(EEER) hEEE/ BREARH 610¢ 100% RERREANRRRLS
“E-ZE5RAT=H
Hong Kong Xin Rong Limited Hong Kong/ Limited liability company 610 100% Trading of natural gas
(“HK Xin Rong") 13 June 2013 equipment in HK
BTG RR L BB ARAT hE/ BRERAF 30,000 90% RPERREEARRSE
(FlzEs)) “EE\E+ATEHR IR EERREEY
Shantou Chaoyang District PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 90% Sales of pipelined natural
Minan Pipelined Gas Limited 15 October 2008 gas; construction and
(“Shantou Chaoyang”) connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
ETEERRRRERAR (DIERE)) 8/ BRELAA 17,250 0%  RPERREEXARHE
—MRESRZTHA MR EERREER
Shantou Chenghai Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 17,250 90% Sales of pipelined natural
Construction Limited 24 June 1994 gas; construction and

(“Shantou Chenghai")

connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FRARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
A INESR B8/ REEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARETR
(RMB'000)
BNTERERREBRAR ((NER]) =8/ EREERT 133,224 60%  RPEFREEARES
“E2-ZEARRA RREERREEN
Chaozhou Huamao Energy PRC/ Limited liability company 133,224 60% Sales of pipelined natural
Distribution Limited 6 September 2010 gas; construction and
(“Chaozhou Huamao”) connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

AeREmRERAA(FREE) hE/ BREFAH 10,000 100% RERARREE
ZE-CERASTH Fath
Tangyin Yuneng Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Provision of designing
(“Tangyin Yuneng") 30 May 2013 service of gas pipelines
in the PRC
ERHRERAF ([ 2ETL]) hEES/ BRERAF 79¢ 100% REREARENEERE
“E-MENARA
Wah Shing Century Limited Hong Kong/ Limited liability company 79* 100% Investment in equity and
(“Wah Shing Century") 5 August 2014 assets in HK
IRXBREARLA(LRXBRE]) +8/ BRELAA 70,000 100%  RRERRRNER
ZEENFRACTER
Beijing Tian Lun Investment PRC/ Limited liability company 70,000 100% Intermediary holding
Company Limited 23 May 2006 in the PRC

(“Beijing Tian Lun Investment”)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HE - FE-_TFf - HA=1—HIIFE
(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))
For the year ended 31 December 2020
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
AMEINER B8/ HEEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
AR¥ETR
(RMB'000)
IREEGRERERAR ([ZEHR) &/ EREERT 343,320 100%  RPEFREPMER
“E2-MmEMAZA
Beijing Hui Ji Energy PRC/ Limited liability company 343,320 100% Intermediary holding
Holdings Limited (“Hui Ji Energy”) 2 April 2014 in the PRC
TEARRREBARAT hE/ EREMAT 265,411 0%  MEMERER/ T
((Rpfh=ER]) ZEZ\EZRTNA
Henan Tianlun Pipeline PRC/ Limited liability company 265,411 90% Sales and transportation
Company Limited 19 February 2008 gas/PRC
(“Tianlun Pipeline”)
ZREEWRERAA(ZAEE)) hE/ BREFAH 24,000 100% MREERER MAEE
“T-Z%-ANB #5/hE
Sanming Hui Ji Energy PRC/ Limited liability company 24,000 100% Sales and transportation
Company Limited 9 January 2012 gas, gas pipelines
(“Sanming Huiji") connections/PRC
FNXRRRERERAR(HNXG]) =8/ AREAERA 50,000 8%  MARERER/HE
ZER\EZATLA
Suzhou Tianlun Natural Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 50,000 85% Sales and transportation
Pipeline Network 17 March 2008 gas/PRC

Company Limited
(“Suzhou Tianlun")
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FRARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
A INESR B8/ REEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARETR
(RMB'000)
BRETEARRARLA(BRTR]) &/ EREELT 3,000 100%  RPEFREEAEES
“EERET-ATCA RIREERREEY
Li Quan County Hong Yuan PRC/ Limited liability company 3,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Natural Gas Company Limited 12 December 2005 gas; construction and
(“Liquan Hongyuan") connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

UELERARARLA(LELE]) hE/ BREFAH 3,000 100% RPERREERRRHE
“EEREAATAR IR ERREEY
Qian County Hong Yuan Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 3,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Company Limited 18 September 2006 gas; construction and
(“Qianxian Hongyuan") connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

ENEZRRRRARLA ([EHeR)) $8/ BREEAA 19,000 100%  RPERREEARRHE
“Z3-5FRA-T-H Rt R BB R R
Jilin Qian'an Tianlun PRC/ Limited liability company 19,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Company Limited 21 May 2010 gas; construction and
(“Jilin Qian'an”) connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

BEgTRIEARARAR ((BEPE]) +8/ AREARR 10,000 100%  RRERREEAAREE
= R REERREER
Fenghuang County Zhongyou PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Zhiyuan Gas Company Limited 31 March 2011 gas; construction and
(“Fenghuang Zhongyou") connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HE - FE-_TFf - HA=1—HIIFE

(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FRARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
AMEINER B8/ HEEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
AR¥ETR
(RMB'000)
M ERERRREREELE hE/ BREMATH 30,000 100% REERREEAREHE
([m)l1EE]) “EERET-ACTH RIREERREEY
Sichuan Mingsheng Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 30,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Company Limited 20 December 2000 gas; construction and
(“Sichuan Mingsheng") connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

W FERAAREREARA hE/ BREFAH 39,800 100% RPERREERRRHE
(DA 3eek ) “E-RFAA-H RREERREEY

Xichuan Longcheng Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 39,800 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Gas Company Limited 1 September 2015 gas; construction and
(“Xichuan Longcheng”) connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

ST RIREEERARARAR hE/ EREARR 20,000 85%  RPERREBAAAHE
([#E%IEE]) S il Rt EERR R
Lechang Anshunda Pipeline PRC/ Limited liability company 20,000 85% Sales of pipelined natural
Nature Gas Company Limited 15 February 2007 gas; construction and
(“Lechang Anshunda”) connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
m& e EEARIRARAR hE/ ARELRR 51,145 100%  AREREREEAAREE
([£EMmR1) “ANZERATZR R REERREEN
Sichuan Jintang County PRC/ Limited liability company 51,145 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Tian Lun Gas Company Limited 12 May 1993 gas; construction and
(“Jintang Gas") connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC
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AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11). FARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
A INESR B8/ REEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARETR
(RMB'000)
BRRRNAARAA(BARE)  #E/ EREEDT 10000 100%  REEREEERATAE
I R REERREEY
Nantong Tian Lun Gas Company PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Limited (“Nantong Gas") 22 January 2017 gas; construction and

connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC

BT RGRRARLA ([BLRE]) hE/ BREFAH 10,000 100% RPERRNAENAEE
ZF-tEZATtA
Anshan City Tian Lun Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Construction and
Company Limited (“Anshan Gas") 17 March 2017 maintenance of gas

pipelines in the PRC

REGRERARAREALA hE/ BRELAT 10,000 100%  RPERREEXARHE
([RERA)) “E-ZEMATNR R REERREEY
Wubu Changxing Natural Gas Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
(“Wubu Changxing”) 18 April 2012 gas; construction and
connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

REERBRARARRLAT e/ EREARE 12,000 100%  RERREEAREHE
(TREERA)) “EZFRATEA MR EERREES
Mizhi Changxing Natural Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 12,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Limited (“Mizhi Changxing") 14 April 2006 gas; construction and
connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HE - FE-_TFf - HA=1—HIIFE
(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))
For the year ended 31 December 2020
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
AMEINER B8/ HEEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
AR¥ETR
(RMB'000)
HERRRARERAR ([ LEXAR]) #E/ BREMRRR 100,000 0%  RRERRARRHENR
- \EEAT-E MRRBHE
Shanghai Tian Lun Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 100,000 70% Sales of natural gas and
(as Limited (“Shanghai 11 April 2018 trading of natural gas
Natural Gas") equipment in the PRC
RFECARTARAR ((RXEEH)) =8/ BREELA 10,000 100%  REERREEXARHE
ZE-=F\A=1H Rt R EERR RN
Shijiazhuang Jinming Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of pipelined natural
Limited (“Shijiazhuang 20 August 2013 gas, construction and
Jinming") connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
M XREHNE 2R AR AT hE/ AREAERA 10,000 51% RPERRAARHEHE
(Tm)n&s)) “E-\EZA+-R
Sichuan Tian Lun Shuxin PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 51% Wholesales of natural gas
Clean Energy Limited 11 February 2018 in the PRC
(“Sichuan Shuxin")
FETAREZHEERAA (4BAR]) FE/ BREAAH 10,000 100% RAERRSEE
“E-\FAACZTH e RHERE
Xingyang City Tian Lun PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Electricity generation,
Intelligent Energy Limited 20 September 2018 supply and sales services
(“Xingyang TianLun") in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11). FARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
A INESR B8/ REEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARETR
(RMB'000)
TEBBHERERECLR(THER]) +8/ EREERT 10,000 100%  RRERRNERRER
ZE-\ERAZTA Rtk
Henan Boju New Energy Limited PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Promotion and consulting
(“Henan Boju") 28 April 2018 services of new energy

technology in the PRC

EREARMRERAR(EERR])  #E/ BREELA 10,000 100%  RAERRATARHER
“F-\ERA=1=A HRARE
Xiayi County Tian Lun Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of urban gas and gas
Company Limited (“Xiayi TianLun") 22 May 2018 appliances in the PRC
RAXRERERARAR ((REXGR])  FE/ BREMAT 6,900 58.20% REERBAARES
2 \EtAT-H TREARMREEEY
Dongming Tian Lun Yunzhen PRC/ Limited liability company 6,900 58.20% Sales of natural gas,
Energy Limited (“Dongming TianLun") 11 July 2018 construction consulting
and connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

BrdERaaRAm (AT hE/ BRELAA 20,000 100%  RPERREERARHE
“25-FMATHA R REERR RN
Xiping Kaida Gas Company PRC/ Limited liability company 20,000 100% Sales of natural gas,
Limited (“Xiping Kaida") 15 April 2003 construction consulting

and connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HE - FE-_TFf - HA=1—HIIFE
(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))
For the year ended 31 December 2020
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
AMEINER B8/ HEEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y B E VIR S
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
AR¥ETR
(RMB'000)
HAEARIRARAA ([AEXER]) hE/ EREERT 10,000 100%  RPEFREEAIEES
“2-hE-A-H RIREERREEY
Nanzhao Tian Lun Gas PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of natural gas,
Company Limited 1 January 2019 construction consulting
(“Nanzhao TianLun") and connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
BEAREHEEARAA(RRR)) 8/ BRRRA 10000 5% WPERERASHEEE
“F-AEEAZ-R
Guangyuan Tian Lun Shuxin PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 51% Wholesales of natural gas
Energy Limited 21 May 2019 in the PRC
(“Guangyuan TianLun")
NEEEERARARAR(MEER]) +8/ AREERA 60,000 100% RPERREEARRHAE
“ER-E+-AC AR Rt EER AN
Shengiu County Huixin Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 60,000 100% Sales of natural gas,
Gas Company Limited 25 December 2003 construction consulting
(“Shengiu Huixin") and connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
FHEERRAREREL LR wE/ BEERAT 46,000 100% RPBRREERRRIEE
(TFMies ) “ERLE-ANA RIFREBRREEN
Zizhou County Shunxiang Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 46,000 100% Sales of natural gas,
Gas Company Limited 9 January 2007 construction consulting

(“Zizhou Shunxiang”)

and connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE_FE_TF _H=F—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11). FARIRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
A INESR B8/ REEX
£ HERAH EEERER BHRE 4y ITERNCEY
Country/ Issued/
Place and date paid-in Effective Principal activities
Name of incorporation Type of legal entity capital interest held and place of operation
ARETR
(RMB'000)
DREARRMERERAR ((BERA]) w8/ EREERT 10,000 100% RPBRREERARHAE
“2-2E)\A=A R REERREEY
Baiyin Longtian Natural PRC/ Limited liability company 10,000 100% Sales of natural gas,
Gas Co.,Ltd. (“Baiyin Longtian”) 3 August 2020 construction consulting

DRRARENERERAR (R RREX]) =8/
ZFZTELA=T-H
Gulang Longtian Natural Gas Co.,Ltd. PRC/
(“Gulang Longtian") 31 July 2020

AZRRRARRARLA (RREXR]) +8/
ZECEE-ATH
Xinganmeng Tianlun Natural PRC/
Gas Co., Ltd (“Xinganmeng Tianlun") 10 November 2020

* SRR BT R 1,000 *
ESIE
RmEeLRME BITRARE
B2 e
BEREEROCDBTRAAR
100,000 7T
ERUTLNDBTRARBE
100,000 7T ©

o LA RAREERERS T AR o
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and connection of gas
pipelines in the PRC

BREAAF 5,500 100% RYERREERARHE
IR ERREEY

Limited liability company 5,500 100% Sales of natural gas,
construction consulting
and connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

BREEAA 300 100%  RPERREERARHE
Rt R BB R R

Limited liability company 300 100% Sales of natural gas,
construction consulting
and connection of gas

pipelines in the PRC

The issued capital of Upsky Holdings is USD1,000.
The issued capital of Tian Lun New Energy is HKD2.
The issued capital of HK Xin Rong is USD100,000.

The issued capital of Wah Shing Century is HKD100,000.

Shares hold directly by the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—FE_FFS_H=1—HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)

(@) Material non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2020 are
approximately RMB281,086,000 (2019: RMB296,536,000), of
which approximately RMB106,526,000 (2019: RMB105,425,000)
is attributed to Chaozhou Huamao, approximately RMB37,367,000
(2019: RMB38,788,000) is attributed to Tianlun Pipeline, and
approximately RMB37,218,000 (2019: RMB39,615,000) is
attributed to Suzhou Tianlun.

The non-controlling interests in respect of other subsidiaries are not
material.

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with
material non-controlling interests

Set out below are the summarised financial information for each
subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are material to the
Group.

China Tian Lun Gas Holdings Limited Annual Report 2020 187



B OB M SRR Y RE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F-_TF+-H=+—HIFZF
(BFEBARE T (BRIFFFHS))
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1. FRARKRE (&

11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)
(@) EBEARHFEEFIMERE) (@) Material non-controlling interests (continued)
BEEEBXEE Summarised balance sheets
BMER KRR ER Y PN
Chaozhou Huamao Tianlun Pipeline Suzhou Tianlun
Rt=-A=+-H Rt=A=t-H Rt=-B=+-H
As at 31 December As at 31 December As at 31 December
“ECEF ZT-NE ZE-Ef CZT-NE CZE-BFE CZTNE
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
AR®ETT ARETT AR%TR ARETT AR%TR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
& Current
BE Assets 26,354 21,874 25,001 64,952 63,778 123,081
=L Liabilities (32,098) (42,132) (79,004) (73,375) (95,349) (155,160)
FREaE Total net current
k) liabilities (5,744) (20,258) (54,003) (8,423) (31,571) (32,079)
*Ra Non-current
LE Assets 158,614 165,064 411,471 428,866 156,190 165,210
aE Liabilities — — (93,042) (147,290) (197) (141)
JEREFAE  Total net non-current
ek assets 158,614 165,064 318,429 281,576 155,993 165,069
FEE Net assets 152,870 144,806 264,426 273,153 124,422 132,990
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HE - FE-_TFf - HA=1—HIIFE

(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11@). FARRE (&) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
(@) EBEARHFEEFIMERE) (@) Material non-controlling interests (continued)
HEWmREE Summarised statements of comprehensive income
HMER AtaBRER S YIPN ]
Chaozhou Huamao Tianlun Pipeline Suzhou Tianlun
BEt-A=1t-HLEE HZt-A=t-ALEE HEt-A=t-ALEE
Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
“R-RF CTNF SRSRF CTNF ZBSEF TR
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

ARBTR ARMTT ARBTR ARWTT ARBTR ARET:T
RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

WA Revenue 138,526 168,203 417,990 471,423 514,138 765,692
BRPTEHEATUZ  Profit before income tax 10,799 12,220 2,769 18,280 44,662 69,702
FriSHER Income tax expense (2,735) (3,090) (614) (4,586) (11,144) (17,446)
AF Profit for the year 8,064 9,130 2,155 13,694 33,518 52,256
EfiAKa  Other comprehensive
income — — — — — —
Bire Total comprehensive
income 8,064 9,130 2,155 13,694 33,518 52,256
@A ME DR Total comprehensive
BT income allocated to
B non-controlling
interests 3,226 3,652 2,155 1,369 5,028 7,838

JEEFIEZSA)  Liabilities waives

EB#E attributed to
non-controlling
interest — 8,173 = — — _
[MFEEHIEZE Dividends paid to
ZAHRRA non-controlling
interests — — 1,088 1,381 6,313 5,525
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11a). FRABKRE (2) 11(a). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(continued)
(@) EBEARHFEEFIMERE) (@) Material non-controlling interests (continued)
BEenBEXxmE Summarised statements of cash flows
BMNEX KRR ER Y PN
Chaozhou Huamao Tianlun Pipeline Suzhou Tianlun
BZ+t-A=1t-HLEE BEt-A=1t-HLEE HET-A=T-HLEE
Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
—2-FF  TONF ZBSRF ZTNF SESRF TR
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR ARETT AREMTR ARET:
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

&R Cash flows from

ReRE operating activities
BEEL/ Cash generated from/

(fEM)83E4  (used in) operations 8,337 14,664 64,006 (43,959) 35,856 110,846
BAFTER Income tax paid — — (3,086) (979) (10,967) (17,213)

EETEES /' Net cash generated
(RA)® from/(used in)

FHe operating activities,

(B&Ei)* as restated* 8,337 14,664 60,920 (44,938) 24,889 93,633
BEED Net cash (used in)/

(f£/8)/E%  generated from

NFEE investing activities (8,166) (5,409) 12,490 132,683 46,085 (50,398)
BAEEFERR  Net cash used in

FRE financing activities,

(B&Eu)* as restated* (2,671) (4,075) (61,602) (79,575) (91,616) (39,650)
ReRBS Net (decrease)/increase

ZENF in cash and cash

(F4) /%M  equivalents (2,500) 5,180 11,808 8,170 (20,642) 3,585

FUEER Cash and cash
ReSED equivalents at

beginning of year 16,294 11,114 18,820 10,650 32,072 28,487
FRESR Cash and cash equivalents
REZEY at end of year 13,794 16,294 30,628 18,820 11,430 32,072
A EER AR R Y HATRI2EE The information above is the amount before inter-company
eliminations.
* BE-_Z-TFE-—A—HE B * The interest paid has been reclassified from operating activities to
TRABFEEREE TR ERN financing activities since 1 January 2020, 2019 information has
DEABEEE - HEMEM been restated accordingly.

TZE-NFNESR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BEr T -_FFf - H=+—HIFE

(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). R EZEARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING
THE EQUITY METHOD

FEHEEABEREROEEN The amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are as
N follows:
R+=A=+—H
As at 31 December
. —T-NEF
2020 2019
ARMT T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
HEE RN B 2 E Investments in associates 643,360 562,642
HAEELEZRE Investments in a joint venture 140,564 243,753
783,924 806,395
TEERPERNEBENT The amounts recognised in profit and loss are as follows:

BE+=-A=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-%F —TNnEF

2020 2019

ARET T AREFT

RMB’000 RMB'000

i hay NI Share of results of associates 57,309 41,372
JEIEEEhEER Share of results of a joint venture (103,189) (83,689)
(45,880) (42,317)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AE-FT_FF+_A=1T—HILFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). R EZEARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(& THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
NTAEREER=_ZE=_FF+=A Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December
=+ HEEFAZBERT - 2020, which are held directly by the Group.
% EB% SEMRIER FrE gD % BENEE HERE
Place of business/ % of Nature of Measurement
Name of entity country of incorporation ownership interest the relationship method
AR ARRERNERAR B/ RES 33.33 (7 1) B
([AREHER])
Inner Mongolia Petroleum and Inner Mongolia, 33.33 (Note 1) Equity
Gas Investment Corporation the PRC

Limited (“Inner Mongolia
Petroleum and Gas”)

FMFEIZRARERAA e/ TE 20.00 (f:E2) %
(TERMFE D)

Suzhou Ping Zhuang Industrial Jiangsu, the PRC 20.00 (Note 2) Equity
Gas Co., Ltd

(“Suzhou Ping Zhuang”)

AENEeREERNERAT FE/ T 20.00 (FI7E3) Enk
(Mgl
Henan Jiuding Financial Henan, the PRC 20.00 (Note 3) Equity

Leasing Company Limited
(“Henan Jiuding")

EENFTR R ERE T AR hEl/m)ll 11.00 (FizE4) nk
(DEMERERD)

Chengdu Huaizhou Xincheng Sichuan, the PRC 11.00 (Note 4) Equity
Gas Company Limited

(“Huaizhou Gas")
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). R EZEARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(& THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
£ 8% EMALER FrERERR % BENEE STERE
Place of business/ % of Nature of Measurement

Name of entity country of incorporation ownership interest the relationship method

TRLBERREERAR e/ R 16.00 (PzE5) BRE
([FEfEsmal)

Pingdingshan Nylon City Gas Henan, the PRC 16.00 (Note b) Equity
Company Limited
(“Nylon City Gas”)

HERAABRRERAA] HE/HE 20.00 GELD) A
(THERREX])

Gansu Longtian Urban and Gansu, the PRC 20.00 (Note 6) Equity
Rural Gas Company Limited
(“Gansu Longtian")

AEBZRRARAENAERAR B/ WE 40.00 GE) BwE
(MLERRD)

Shengiu County Jieyuan Natural Henan, the PRC 40.00 (Note 7) Equity

Gas Vehicle Refueling Co., Ltd.
(“Shengiu Jieyuan”)

MEEl  ARERMRKIN —E—MF
TZA+—B XEZ2HEER
Rk ARARERER LR
EROBMBERAREE - R
SR AR S BRI LR
H - B BYEVIS MRS b EE SR
BEPNMSILREBRRNT AT
BIE I ERE

BiFE2 MNP E2 mEEREEMN
R BN HIBEIGHEF
AT o

Note 1:

Note 2:

Inner Mongolia Petroleum and Gas was incorporated on 11
December 2014 and mainly engages in the construction of long-
distance petroleum and gas pipelines, and investment in the
petroleum and gas industry. Inner Mongolia Petroleum and Gas
is a strategic partner for the Group, providing access to new
customers and markets of the upstream gas industry and creating
synergies with the subsidiaries of the Group.

Suzhou Ping Zhuang mainly engages in the sales of bottled gas.
Suzhou Ping Zhuang provides access to new customers and
markets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F-_TF+-H=+—HIFZF
(BFEBARE T (BRIFFFHS))
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). L EHEARNIRE

(&

A HmASRKR T —RF=A
“t=BEMmRT EEHK
EREHE REMEEEER
7 BEERGEFRE  BE
RIEREREMSRZER -7
ANARRAEENERESIER
M ARABETERPEERE
REETARERRENER
EERAARREBE  UAE
A F R B AE 175 R e

fieEd JEMMRETBRERARE
B RAREERRNER
D0 Uk 32 R R 2 5 o N
RIBBI S FEPMMIE - I
REERNTFRERIE R FRRE

MiFES ERMMREREFIRILERE
@R ERARIEE - KA
REBERNER - BEEMN
RIBPMEHELMEE - I
REERN TR B RIE R BUE -

fiate HmRERAEIERERARE
B RAREERRRER
Do VAR R FE 2 5 o HRRRE
RpBESHEFP TS - &
SEAFREAIE TR BE
I 3% R EFBE IR R IR L R AR

BB -

7 LERREENEHEBRRER
KRR - MEZRBBERFHE
FRITS o

WERE R - &N FE - AmEh
BOEMNRE - EREMMRE - B
BERFLERRERIELT AR
HBEREMSHRE - AEEE
ERBZERWEEMNERIE -
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11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING
THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Note 3: Henan Jiuding was incorporated on 23 March 2016 and mainly
engages in financial leasing, financial leasing assets trading, fixed
income securities investment, inter-bank borrowing investment
and other financial business. Henan Jiuding is a strategic partner
for the Group, and can finance potential industrial customers
substituting its energy supply from coal and electricity to
pipelined natural gas and create synergies with the subsidiaries
of the Group.

Note 4: Huaizhou Gas mainly engages in the sales of natural gas,
construction and connection of gas pipelines, and construction
and operation of gas stations etc. Huaizhou Gas provides access
to new customers and markets, and create synergies with the
subsidiaries of the Group.

Note 5: Nylon City Gas mainly engages in the sales of natural gas,
construction and connection of gas pipelines in Pingdingshan
Nylon City Area. Nylon City Gas provides access to new customers
and markets, and create synergies with the subsidiaries of the
Group.

Note 6: Gansu Longtian mainly engages in the sales of natural gas,
construction and connection of gas pipelines, and construction
and operation of gas stations etc. Gansu Longtian provides
access to new customers and markets, create synergies with the
subsidiaries of the Group, and development of energy saving and
environmental protection technology, natural gas pipeline network
and construction.

Note 7: Shengiu Jieyuan mainly engages in the sales of compressed
natural gas. Shenqiu Jieyuan provides access to new customers
and markets.

Inner Mongolia Petroleum and Gas, Suzhou Ping Zhuang, Henan
Jiuding, Huaizhou Gas, Nylon City Gas, Gansu Longtian and Shengiu
Jieyuan are unlisted companies and there are no quoted market
prices available for the equities. There are no contingent liabilities
relating to the Group’s interests in the associates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—FE_FFS_H=1—HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(h). IR EREABRWIRE
(42)

BEQATNHEMBER

THIRTESARYNAKEE
R HY P S o R SRR L5 ) B 7
ERE - IRENEERKRIAH
aﬁ%@jﬁﬂ%i&i‘%qﬂzﬂﬁﬁﬁ(%ﬁ
MIERAEERIGUFHREND
B WHRIR T BAEERRDER

11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING
THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Summarised financial information for the associates

The tables below provide summarised financial information for Inner
Mongolia and Henan Jiuding, which in the opinion of the director,
are material to the Group. The information disclosed reflects the
amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant
associates not the Group’s share of those amounts. They have been
amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity when using the

FrER A - BiEH AR EENA equity method, including fair value adjustments and modifications
BARBR SR EZRETHEEE for differences in accounting policy.
2 o
EEEEXBHE Summarised balance sheets
ZEEY:
Inner Mongolia AEAE
Petroleum and Gas Henan Jiuding
W+=A=+-H R+=A=t+-H
As at 31 December As at 31 December
i i = “ENF
2020 2019 2020 2019
ARET T AREFT ARETR AREFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
piikl] Current
Re kR EEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,631 18,534 1,179,864 2,127,154
EfReEE Other current assets 165,084 144,998 511,049 14,742 631
MEEAELTE Total current assets 166,715 163,532 1,690,913 16,869,785
EfneasE Other current liabilities
(BIEERERR) (including trade payables) (967) (1,403)  (19,342,926)  (13,728,487)
A Total current liabilities (967) (1,403)  (19,342,926)  (13,728,487)
FRE Non-current
HingensaeE Other non-current assets 2,337 2,064 22,752,742 105,329
FMBBEMRE Total non-current assets 2,337 2,064 22,752,742 105,329
HinJemaatk Other non-current liabilities (2,800) (2,800) (2,316,123) (741,149)
EnaE Total equity 165,285 161,393 2,784,606 2,505,478
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BE2—FE_FF+_H="1—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). IR EZEARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(4&) THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
BENTNRENKER Summarised financial information for the associates
(&) (continued)
HEWBREE Summarised statements of comprehensive income
RELy:E
Inner Mongolia AENR
Petroleum and Gas Henan Jiuding
BEt-A=t-HLEE BEt-A=t-HILEE
Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
—BC-FE “Z-AF —ECEE “E-NF
2020 2019 2020 2019
ARETTT ARETL AR®ETTT ARETL
R_MB'OOO RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA Revenue 10,148 10,179 752,622 501,151
bR PS8 A0 A Profit before income tax 5,190 3,021 371,053 267,564
AEFE Profit for the year 3,893 2,266 279,128 200,673
RA WAz Total comprehensive income 3,893 2,266 279,128 200,673
BEE K E R R Reconciliation of summarised financial information

FT 2507 Z 075 & BHELE 2 N 7
I REENFEL -

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to
the carrying amount of its interests in the associates.

HEERBE Summarised financial information
RELp:E
Inner Mongolia AR
Petroleum and Gas Henan Jiuding
BEt-RA=1t—-HILEE BEt-A=1t-HLEE
Year ended 31 December Year ended 31 December
. i —B0FF “ENF
2020 2019 2020 2019
ARETT ARETL ARETR AREFTL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
BNFEE Opening net assets 161,392 159,126 2,505,478 2,304,805
AEFIE Profit for the year 3,893 2,266 279,128 200,673
PRBEE Closing net assets 165,285 161,392 2,784,606 2,505,478
BENEER Interest in associates
(33.33% : 20.00%) (33.33% and 20.00%) 55,089 53,792 556,921 501,096
BREEE Carrying value 55,089 53,792 556,921 501,096
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BEr T -_FFf - H=+—HIFE

(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). R EZEARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(& THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
BEATNRBERKER Summarised financial information for the associates
(%&) (continued)

BB EX B E Individually immaterial associates

br EX T BRE SN - N E In addition to the interests in associates disclosed above, the Group
MEEBAER I ZENARIEE also has interests in five of individually immaterial associates that
KEE N B © are accounted for using the equity method.

BE+t-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

- —TNF
2020 2019
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
fERIFEE ABE=/NE]  Aggregate carrying amount of
FERMEARE individually immaterial associates 31,350 7,754
AEEBFT{H{D5E4E%E ©  Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of:
FECE T Profit from continuing operations 186 482
BRI EHRTIE Post-tax profit or loss from discontinued
B operations — —
HAtnsR e W Other comprehensive income = —
BERA W Total comprehensive income 186 482
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11(b). R EHREZARNIRE

(&

UWTARNERRN -_E-_TE+- A
—t+—HEERRBECABRE -
RZZEZZEF+A=+—HEE

BREZREEEMT

11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

THE

EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Set out below is the joint venture of the Group as at 31 December
2020, which are held directly by the Group.

Nature of investment in joint ventures as at 31 December 2020:

8 ¥50% BMALER FERERER % BENEE FERE
Place of business/ % of Nature of Measurement
Name of entity country of incorporation ownership interest the relationship method
ABBERRITERREEEP L M/ 40.00 (FzE8) Bk
(BRER)([MEREXRES])
Henan Yuzi Tianlun New Energy Henan, the PRC 40.00 (Note 8) Equity

Investment Fund Centre
(Limited Partnership)
(“Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund”)

fiEE8 M BRERMESN TN

FRAZTLEHRIL TE2H
A MK RIER R ET
MRAREEBETRE - U
MEFBERAREXRERR
WRMEE RO REREE
g ZHAEE BERART
HEBERET

ARABRERRESRIELTR
A EREREMIS®RE - K
SEMTEBRERMESN T
NERMER  FEBRME
37 - AREERELEZEE
WM BRE -
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Note 8:

Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund was incorporated on 27 June 2018 mainly
engaged in investment in coal-to-gas conversion projects in the
townships in Henan Province and the upstream and downstream
natural gas industrial chain, to capture the opportunities brought by
the rapid development of the natural gas industry in the PRC and
explore the huge potential of the natural gas market in the townships
in Henan Province through making full use of the strengths of the
Group.

Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund is unlisted company and there are no
quoted market prices available for the equities. The Group provided
guarantee to subsidiary of Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund, see details in
Note 37. There are no other contingent liabilities relating to the
Group's interests in the joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Summarised financial information for the joint venture

The tables below provide summarised financial information for
Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund, which in the opinion of the director,
are material to the Group. The information disclosed reflects the
amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant joint
venture not the Group’s share of those amounts. They have been
amended to reflect adjustments made by the entity when using the
equity method, including fair value adjustments and modifications
for differences in accounting policy.

EEEEXBE Summarised balance sheets
EBEXMES
Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund
R+=—A=+—8
As at 31 December
—ECEH —E-NF
2020 2019
AR®ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B Current
HeRBeEFEY Cash and cash equivalents 428,051 179,526
HEimEEE Other current assets 249,067 110,451
MEVEEMREE Total current assets 677,118 289,977
EfrEats Other current liabilities (including trade payables)

(BIEEREREF) (2,613,895) (1,152,079)
mEBERRE Total current liabilities (2,613,895) (1,152,079)
FERE Non-current
EfIEmEEE Other non-current assets 4,373,088 2,235,664
IERENE EMLTE Total non-current assets 4,373,088 2,235,664
HEMIERBAE Other non-current liabilities (1,408,291) (331,470)
TS HAEE Total equity 1,028,020 1,042,092
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BEr —FE-_FTFEf - H=+—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). IR EZEARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(#& THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
BEQRNEENKEER Summarised financial information for the joint venture
(#) (continued)
HEWBREE Summarised statements of comprehensive income
MEBEXRRES
Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund
BZE HZE
+=ZA=+—-B +=ZA=+—H~
HEE 175 1E A 3RS
Six months
Year ended ended
31 December 31 December
—ECEF —E-NF
2020 2019
ARETT ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
A Revenue 257,064 114,166
BrETSEiAT (&) /FE  (Loss)/Profit before income tax (19,890) 8,321
AE(EE) /FE (Loss)/Profit for the year (19,890) 11,094
454 (F518) /Wzs#a%8  Total comprehensive (loss)/income (19,890) 11,094
il Dividends declared — 15,160
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BEr T -_FFf - H=+—HIFE

(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11(b). R EZEARNIRE 11(b). INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING

(& THE EQUITY METHOD (continued)
BEQRNEENKEER Summarised financial information for the joint venture
(%&) (continued)
HEHBE R R Reconciliation of summarised financial information
FTIEFMRBMENBERBEGEDE Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to
R AREER FHED the carrying amount of its interests in a joint venture:
HBEERHE Summarised financial information
AEBERMES
Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund
BZE HE

+=A=t-8 +-A=t-A
LEE AEANH

Six months

Year ended ended

31 December 31 December

—ECTF —T-NEF

2020 2019

ARET T ARETIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HMFEE Opening net assets 1,042,092 996,334
HE Capital contribution 5,818 49,824
AE(BE) /78 (Loss)/Profit for the year (19,890) 11,094
RHE & Dividends declared — (15,160)
HRBFEE Closing net assets 1,028,020 1,042,092
& &% (40.00%) Interest in a joint venture (40.00%) 411,208 432,609
IREEE Carrying value 411,208 432,609
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE_FE_TF _H=F—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. FIEHEH 12

(@) AFRrARIXRERBREREAZEM ()
PRSP BIZ A RIS ©

(b) FERIEH (b)

BE-T-_TE+-_A=+—AI
R=ZB-AFTZA=+—ALF
B AEEE QAT ERR BN
FEBFIE - BB ASNE BTG
B (BE16.5%) °

(c) HEEEREH(HEEE (o)
Frig®i )

RATIFRBRFREFMA TR
A BT BECEREE - RE
E-T-FTF+A=1+—HEZ=
T-AF+_A=+t—HILFE "
ZERBEBIEBRPEATEHRA
KRG E R FERB M e 2 A TEF
S EIREE R _ZF
HEAR BRRE LHBRE -
HiRE®  HRKf - MIHE -
SEMRA O KBERE - RERHAR
FTMESEEE T=EATPAREE
ERERRERAMERLS% (ZF
—NF : 15%) 5N - B R E
BFRRIERM R BB EMERN
KB 25% (ZZF—NF : 25%) °

BRGEHROMMSHERR -

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Company and Upsky Holdings are not subject to profits tax in
their respective countries of incorporation.

Hong Kong profits tax

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019,
there are no Hong Kong profits tax applicable (tax rate 16.5%) to any
Group entities.

PRC corporate income tax (the “PRC CIT")

All the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are subject
to the PRC CIT, which has been provided based on the statutory
income tax rate of the assessable income of each of such companies
during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019,
as determined in accordance with the relevant PRC income tax
rules and regulations. The CIT rate of all the relevant subsidiaries
operating in the PRC is 25% (2019: 25%), except for Gansu Baiyin,
Liquan Hongyuan, Qianxian Hongyuan, Baiyin Wantong, Gulang
Tianlun, Sichuan Mingsheng, Jintang Gas, Mizhi Changxing, Wubu
Changxing and Zizhou Shunxiang as they were approved to entitle
to the CIT Preferential Policies for the Development of the Western
Regions and the CIT rate of 2020 is 15% (2019: 15%).

The amount of income tax expense charged to profit or loss
represents:
BE+-—A=+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—ETH —ZT-AF

2020 2019

ARET T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

BRI H Current tax on profits for the year 334,815 252,363
JEICFTS%E (MF5F30)  Deferred income tax (Note 30) 19,887 61,552
354,702 313,915
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE_FE_TFE =1 —HIFE

(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

FECEMSH ((HPEI®ZE  (c) PRC corporate income tax (the “PRC CIT”) (continued)

FRB®H ) (&)
B A ERFTS T & EER The difference between the actual income tax charge in profit or loss
BEEM TR G E R TS B AT A B AT and the amounts which would result from applying the enacted tax

BFAMEEHALAMT

rate to profit before income tax can be reconciled as follows:

BE+-A=t+—ALEE

Year ended 31 December

. —TNF
2020 2019
ARET ARBETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B PAS T AT A1 Profit before income tax 1,418,375 1,127,380
WEEESARMAZ  Tax calculated at statutory tax rate
EEMRETEZHIB  applicable to each Group entity 334,738 291,668
ARG Income not subject to tax (14,327) (12,279)
A ER Expenses or losses not deductible
for tax purposes 25,703 23,712
RIERIRILFLIEEE  Tax losses with no deferred tax assets
FIREE (i) recognised (i) 117 1,407
SN Y = ae Withholding tax on profit to be distributed
FORLIE (i) in future (ii) 8,471 9,407
354,702 313,915
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE_FE_TF _H=F—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. FiSBiBEA (&
(€ FECHAEH(FELE (0
Fri8 %) ()

()  BAERERETHEEEN
B8 - F2HMEE30(C) -

12.

(i ANEEPERMDH B E
iEd: SO E SEAER IS
EMYEAMMEH - 1858
BESMER A RIE IR
REIKEREBERA - Al
FXAEETEAMFRF
I B HI AR B IRIR PG AR K
5% N BLEFNEE
FTEEE FT1S BELR R 7% 1) 15
B - FHilt - AREER
FEAMF AR EHRRE
MAESERNEBREE
RIPAEH
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

PRC corporate income tax (the “PRC CIT”) (continued)

()

(i)

See Note 30(c) on the tax losses with no deferred tax assets
recognised.

Withholding income tax is provided on the dividends and
intra-group interest charges to be distributed by the Mainland
China subsidiaries of the Group. The relevant overseas holding
companies have successfully obtained endorsement from
Mainland China tax bureaus to enjoy the treaty benefit of 5%
withholding income tax rate on dividends received from the
Mainland China subsidiaries of the Group and 7% withholding
income tax rate on interest charges from the Mainland China
subsidiaries. Accordingly, withholding income tax has been
provided at respective tax rate of the dividends and interest
charges to be distributed by the Mainland China subsidiaries
of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BEr T -_FFf - H=+—HIFE

(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. FREHER (& 12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(c) HELEMSH (HE®ZE (c) PRC corporate income tax (the “PRC CIT”) (continued)
Bl (&
BE MR A WRMAR I N B BN The tax credit relating to components of other comprehensive income
MIBERZIT : is as follows:

HET-A=T-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

“BCEE 3
2020 2019
BRBLAl HEER BB bR HEER BREifE
Before tax Tax credit After tax Before tax Tax credit After tax

ARBTR  ARBTR  ARRBTR  ARMTR  ARETR  AREBTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR BEER  Fairvalue (losses)/gains
EZE:AZM  onfinancial assets at
RAMENER  fair value through other
EEMAEE comprehensive income

28(58)/

i (18,246) 4,562 (13,684) 931 (233) 698
HipfrAlzE  Other comprehensive income (18,246) 4,562 (13,684) 931 (233) 698
BITAEH Deferred income tax (Note 30)

(32:30) - (4,562) - - 233 -

13. U= 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
(@ EX (a) Basic
HAFRIW S IRIEFEBR AR Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the profit
BENNE  BRUAFABEITER attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average
RREINEFHEEE - number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
BE+-A=+—HLEFE
Year ended 31 December
—E-%F —ihi
2020 2019
AMEBEBRAAR Profit attributable to owners of

FiBE(ARETIT) the Company (RMB’000) 1,043,512 789,179
BEITE RN Weighted average number of

FHE(TFET) shares in issue (thousands) 1,001,292 990,849
b VNS Basic earnings per share (RMB per share)

(ERAREETT) 1.04 0.80
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—F-_TF+-H=+—HIFZF
(BFEBARE T (BRIFFFHS))
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

13.

(b)

Rz (&)

it

BEER SRR A A HENE
EEBBRLBRE  REDEITE
BB INE O IRBGHE - N
E-HuUHENEEEBRR : B
- URIREHEmS  TRER
TR BB RERBRRITE 7K
SHIRREZETORM BB RE
BREBAABE(RRE2FEFY
MISERME) BITLESHERK
FERTWARBRT @ AR EH
TTRERNBB RGN - E—FR
BRI B HEKINETFY
BREHEN D - BIERFE
WEERKER TR D&

13.

(b)

EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has one
category of dilutive potential ordinary shares: share options. For the
share options, the number of shares that would have been issued
assuming the exercise of the share options less the number of shares
that could have been issued at fair value (determined as the average
market price per share for the year) for the same total proceeds is the
number of shares issued for no consideration. The resulting number
of shares issued for no consideration is included in the weighted
average number of ordinary shares as the denominator for calculating
diluted earnings per share.

BE+=-RA=1+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—ECEF —ET-NF
2020 2019
FEHBRAAF] Profit attributable to owners of
Fie®s (ARETIL)  the Company (RMB’000) 1,043,512 789,179
DETEBARRNE  Weighted average number of shares
FH8(F5) in issue (thousands) 1,001,292 990,849
FE Adjustments for:
— EARE(F&H) — Share options (thousands) 586 4,235
STEBESRINESR Weighted average number of
TRAAINMEF IS ordinary shares for diluted
(F&H) earnings per share (thousands) 1,001,878 995,084
WEsRkES Diluted earnings per share (RMB per share)
(B AR®ETT) 1.04 0.79
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

EHEEE 14.

EERERABINER (M

HE - FE-_TFf - HA=1—HIIFE

(2BEEN BAREFIT(HIESEHY))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

LEASES

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

BAEABRIIAHN NI SHEENAE The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:
£ -
W+=A=+—H
As at 31 December
—ECEF —T—hF
2020 2019
AR¥ET T AREBTTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FEREEE Right-of-use assets
T Hb{E Land-use rights 259,674 244,896
¥ Buildings 8,115 6,800
267,789 251,696
HEAE Lease liabilities
mEh Current 3,976 3,606
IERE Non-current 4,226 6,060
8,202 9,666

HE_Z-_FTF+-_A=+—HL
FEAN FTHEEEEZMNARE
34,094,000 . (ZZE—HLF : AR
#30,346,0007T) °

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended 31
December 2020 were RMB34,094,000 (2019: RMB30,346,000).
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BEr —FE-_FTFEf - H=+—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

14 EREEE (& 14. LEASES (continued)

(i) BRARINEEE (ii)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Gt elaERIIRA Ty S REE The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows the
HEHFR - following amounts to leases:

BE+T-A=1T—HLFE

Year ended 31 December

—E-FF ZE-NF
2020 2019
ARET T AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ERAEEENITEER Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
b {E Land use rights 7,938 6,873
BF Buildings 3,851 2,393
11,789 9,266
MBEZH (G A Interest expense (included in finance cost)
&) (fizE10) (Note 10) 102 496
ZECEFNAEERAENRESR The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31 December
HaazE A AR 4,316,000 T( = 2020 was RMB4,316,000 (2019: RMB1,677,000).

T—hEF : AR¥1,677,0007T) °
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(vii)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

14.

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

BE—FE_FFS_H=1—HIFE
(2BEENBARETIT(BRIEZFHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

LEASES (continued)

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various buildings. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 1 to 28 years, but may have extension
options as described in below. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

Variable lease payments

Some building leases contain variable payment terms. It initially
measured using the minimum fixed lease payment at the
commencement date, will be revised based on the valuation result
and actual performance result every year. The Group reassesses the
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities when the lease payment is
revised.

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in building leases
across the Group. These terms are used to maximise optional
flexibility in terms of managing contracts.

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an
extension option. Extension options are only included in the lease
term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has no land use rights in the
process of obtaining the legal title (2019: RMB4,035,000).

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, no right-of-use
assets was secured for bank borrowings.
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BE—FE-_TFE+ - H=+—HIFF

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

15. TBE - BERRKE 15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

WARE
BF RERES RREE REH EEIR b
Office
Equipment equipment
and Gas and motor
Buildings machinery pipelines vehicles CIp Total
ARBTL  ARETT ARETT ARBTL ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R-Z-h%-A-H At 1 January 2019
AR Cost 434,142 346,884 1,897,117 55,354 489,179 3,222,676
ZEE Accumulated depreciation (67,307)  (137,455)  (304,364) (34,453) —  (543)579)
w Net book amount 366,835 209,429 1,592,753 20,901 489,179 2,679,097
BE-E-NE Year ended 31 December 2019
TZA=t-HLEE
FEAER Opening net book amount 366,835 209,429 1,592,753 20,901 489,179 2,679,097
KEFAR Acquisition of a subsidiary 5,163 71 26,535 330 — 32,099
#m Additions 979 9,555 11,730 5,124 273,392 300,780
fERTiREA Transfer from CIP 41,707 31,710 440,068 40 (513,525) —
EERERIE Transfer to investment properties ~ (1,388) — — — — (1,388)
HE (i 32) Disposals (Note 32) (44) (223) (176) (332) — (775)
RETAT Disposal of subsidiaries — — — — (16,930) (16,930)
FEER(FHS) Depreciation charge (Note 8) (17,477) (32,939) (88,419) (3,990) — (142,825)
FRIEEFE Closing net book amount 395,775 217,603 1,982,491 22,073 232,116 2,850,058
WZZ-AE+=B=+-H At31 December 2019
R Cost 480,462 385,469 2,375,274 55,999 232,116 3,529,320
ZEHTE Accumulated depreciation (84,687)  (167,866)  (392,783) (33,926) —  (679,262)
RESE Net book amount 395,775 217,603 1,982,491 22,073 232,116 2,850,058
HE-Z-%F Year ended 31 December 2020
TZAZt+-HLEE
ENEREE Opening net book amount 395,775 217,603 1,982,491 22,073 232,116 2,850,058
UgE A (P32 35) Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 35) 3,409 9,206 93,455 568 4,846 111,484
210 Additions 698 5,283 4,288 5,454 230,052 245,775
FRIREA Transfer from CIP 5,259 12,601 223,455 16 (241,331) —
e (P 32) Disposals (Note 32) (4,024) (3,194) (830) (222) (779) (9,049)
EERA (M38) Depreciation charge (Note 8) (19,050) (33,904)  (106,074) (4,322) —  (163,350)
FREEFE Closing net book amount 382,067 207,595 2,196,785 23,567 224904 3,034,918
WZZ-ZF+-A=1-H At 31 December 2020
AR Cost 483,211 399,602 2,694,715 58,999 224,904 3,861,431
ZEE Accumulated depreciation (101,144) (192,007) (497,930) (35,432) — (826,513)
w Net book amount 382,067 207,595 2,196,785 23,567 224904 3,034,918
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HE T -_FFf - H=+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

(@)

(d)

Depreciation expense of approximately RMB150,721,000
(2019: RMB131,340,000) has been charged in cost of
sales, RMB185,000 (2019: RMB176,000) in distribution
expenses and RMB12,444,000 (2019: RMB11,309,000) in
administrative expenses.

As at 31 December 2020, buildings and gas pipeline
amounting to approximately RMB2,878,000 and
RMB12,763,655 respectively were secured for other
borrowings of approximately RMB5,000,000 (2019: buildings
and gas pipeline amounting of approximately RMB3,028,000
and RMB13,693,000 respectively were secured for other
borrowings of approximately RMB5,000,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group was in the process of
obtaining the legal title of buildings with carrying amount of
approximately RMB142,440,000 (2019: RMB151,202,000).

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the CIP
mainly comprised the gas pipelines, LNG and CNG stations
being constructed in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
capitalised borrowing costs amounting to RMB15,977,000
(2019: RMB29,577,000) on qualifying assets. Borrowing
costs were capitalised at the weighted average rate of its
general borrowings at 6.05% (2019: 6.36%).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

16. REMEMHE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

BE+t-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-EF —E-NF
2020 2019
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
F4 At beginning of the year
AR Cost 69,698 68,268
RiHiE Accumulated depreciation (19,651) (16,631)
R FE Net book amount 50,047 51,637
FR For the year
BIWIRRE(EE Opening net book amount 50,047 51,637
BTEE  HWER Transfer from property, plant and equipment
BGLEUN — 1,388
HEEHA Depreciation charge (3,025) (2,978)
FAREREFE Closing net book amount 47,022 50,047
FR At end of the year
PN Cost 69,698 69,698
RETTE Accumulated depreciation (22,676) (19,651)
BREFE Net book amount 47,022 50,047
FLRN S {EE (b) Fair value at end of the year (b) 135,325 103,118
(@) TH&EERERTER (a)  The following amounts have been recognised in profit or loss:
BE+-A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December
—ECEH —E—NF
2020 2019
ARET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
HEWE Rental income 3,203 3,271
EEHSWARIEEM Direct operating expenses from properties
BHEMBEZEGEER that generated rental income (3,025) (2,978)
178 293

R EF+_A=1+—HEZ=
TE-NFE+-A=+—8 K&£HE

RIS R EE R &EIGE maintenance.

1o
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As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the Group had
no unprovided contractual obligations for future repairment and



16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMEBE (&
REBREMEHEITOT

RZBZTF+_A=+—HkZ=
T-NEFE+_A=+—8 KEH
BEMAERTAHERHANA
hEEHE(EIE) -

AEENBRR BN EHERF L
BRANEN A - wRARAEBEE
ARHBEH AN

—E-FFR-F-AFNEL
2 3EZHALMTARE -

15 EF 7
REMFHENGENAERLR
EETE o IR L BRYMENEE
ERETEEHPIMmEEERDS
ERFR)HEREHTE -

HEATAIBEBA R

ERMSER — ERMENER
MIHER

YEEE — ERYENERERE
EEAFR — ERMEERCE
FAERR -

AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group’s investment properties are analysed as follows:

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the fair value
of investment property is measured using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3).

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of
fair value hierarchy levels as at of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 during the years of
2020 and 2019.

Valuation techniques

The valuation of investment properties is determined using the direct
comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable properties in close
proximity are adjusted for property’s size and the ageing degree.

The significant unobservable inputs adopted include:

Recent market price — Based on the actual market selling price of
the properties;

Property’s size — Based on the size of the properties;

The ageing degree — Based on the years of the properties used.

AREE
it — WAKE Fair value
Description AR B FABRGARE
— Office building RMB’'000 Valuation technique Unobservable inputs
RZZE-FF+-A=1—H 135,325 EERLEE FERARES,942 - 15,064 T
At 31 December 2020 Direct comparison approach RMB5,942 - RMB15,064 per square meter
RZE-NFTZA=1+—H 103,118 BEELERE FERARES,880-10,4177T

At 31 December 2019

Direct comparison approach RMB5,880 - RMB10,417 per square meter
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B2 T -TF - HA=+—HIFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

16. REMEME (& 16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(c) WEBRHARES025000L(= (c) Depreciation expense of approximately RMB3,025,000 (2019:
T—NF: AR#2,978,0007T) RMB2,978,000) has been charged in cost of sales.

T [SHERAR ] 38

(d) HEZH (d) Leasing arrangements
REERFARBRAKEHEE Certain investment properties are leased to tenants under long-
AETREEEHE - HEREN term operating leases with rental payable at regular intervals during
SIER T A - BREKEN the year based on the payment terms. Minimum lease payments
J5 b EE I T HUH AL 2 1E & e i R under non-cancellable operating leases of investment properties not
EEHMBERRPERHF(EEE recognised in the consolidated financial statements are receivable as
WEREELIN T - follows:
R+=BA=+—H
As at 31 December
—ECEF —E-NEF
2020 2019
ARMT T AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
—FR Within 1 year 2,631 2,767
—FLAHENEBB=F Later than 1 year but no later than 3 years 2,134 3,034
=FE More than 3 years 2,182 2,399
6,947 8,200

() MZZE-_FTFE+_-_A=+—HBKE= (e) As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, no investment
ET-AFE+—A=+—0H0  BEH properties were secured for bank borrowings.

FHEY BAE SR TREFER -
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B OB FE IR AR B EE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—FE-—FFEf - HA=1—HIFE

(RBEENBARKE T (BRIESEHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

BREE 17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
EF
BE TR EhEs e FRE% gt
Contractual
Operating Computer customer
Goodwill rights software Network  relationships Total

ARETT  ARETT  ARRTR ARETR ARETT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

R-Z-h%-A-H At 1 January 2019
AR Cost 1,999,450 1,228,276 2,634 481,317 401,910 4,113,587

ZiHEH Accumulated amortisation (209,580) (2,208) (52,160) (63,135)  (327,083)
ERFE Net book amount 1,999,450 1,018,696 426 429,157 338,775 3,786,504
HE-E-1E Year ended 31 December 2019
TZR=t+-HLEE

ENERFE Opening net book amount 1,999,450 1,018,696 426 429,157 338,775 3,786,504
- SN Acquisition of a subsidiary 87,682 79,547 — — — 167,229
#in Additions — 450 11,016 — — 11,466
BEER Amortisation charge — (55,573) (697) (17,121) (16,836) (90,227)
EREMFE Closing net book amount 2,087,132 1,043,120 10,745 412,036 321,939 3,874,972

RZE-NE+ZA=+—H At31 December 2019

R Cost 2,087,132 1,308,273 13,650 481,317 401910 4,292,282
2iTH Accumulated amortisation —  (265,153) (2,905) (69,281) (79,971)  (417,310)
REFE Net book amount 2,087,132 1,043,120 10,745 412,036 321,939 3,874,972
HEZ-Z-E% Year ended 31 December 2020
TZA=t-HLEE

FNERFE Opening net book amount 2,087,132 1,043,120 10,745 412,036 321939 3,874,972
i SENSIRL)) Acquisition of a subsidiary

(Note 35) 160,406 145,449 - - - 305,855
=il Additions - 2,447 1,674 = = 4,121
BHER Amortisation charge — (59,645) (3,900) (17,121) (16,836) (97,502)
EREMFE Closing net book amount 2,247,538 1,131,371 8,519 394,915 305,103 4,087,446

RZEZZF+-A=1—H At31 December 2020

A Cost 2,247,538 1,456,169 15,324 481,317 401,910 4,602,258
RETEE Accumulated amortisation — (324,798 (6,805) (86,402) (96,807)  (514,812)
BEFE Net book amount 2,247,538 1,131,371 8,519 394,915 305,103 4,087,446
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE —E_FFEf - H=+—HIFEF

(£REEBARET T (BIESEHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

17. B EE (2) 17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

() (2 -_FTF+=-F=+—HIt (a) During the year ended 31 December 2020, amortisation of
FE - HARK 92,100,000 7T (= approximately RMB92,100,000 (2019: RMB87,608,000)
ZT—NF : AR 87,608,0007T) was included in cost of sales, and RMB5,402,000 (2019:
BBESHTE [SHEMRA ] 8 - &) RMB2,619,000) was included in administration expenses.
ARKE5,402,000 L (ZE—NF
AR 2,619,000 7T) B ES7E [17
BRER] R -

(b) EERE (b) Impairment for goodwill

EREREFARMEBRILER

Management reviews the business performance based on subsidiaries

XBRR  UREEMFE - ES and type of business. It has identified Jilin Zhongji, Puyang Tianlun,
K AER - TEs% RO Henan Luyuan, Henan Songxian, Dongkou Senbo, Kaifeng Xi'Na,
WE - FAEAEMN BEEPX BEH Caoxian Zhongtian, Shanxian Zhongtian, Gansu Baiyin, Yunnan
FX - HEQR @Al Datong, Heze Guanghe, Dongming Wanji, Chaozhou Huamao,
B BT - BMNER LR Shantou Chenghai, Tianlun Pipeline, Suzhou Tianlun, Sanming
B RERRER - INKE - Huiji, Lechang Anshunda, Fenghuang Zhongyou, Jilin Qian’an,
—HERE LZLEEE- BEAF Liguan Hongyuan, Qianxian Hongyuan, Sichuan Mingsheng, Xichuan
W EMEET  BRER  wHR Longcheng, Jintang Gas, Mizhi Changxing, Wubu Changxing,

MINBER ~ £ 2R
FoKERE  RRRE - ARHE
8 EEE S LEESEM TN
IE*E BB TFEmERERRD
FAF -

= - PO)I|BFEE -

BT RARHRFBEIRARERR
REENHEMRAREBERE
%o EEERKE N B ERERR
2 PUTREBERSELETND
BEOERE
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Shijiazhuang Jinming, Xiping Kaida, Shengiu Huixin and Zizhou
Shunxiang as the subsidiaries which are subject to the annual
impairment testing on goodwill.

The above subsidiaries all engaged in distribution and sale of
natural gas, and connection of gas pipelines in the PRC. Goodwill
is monitored by management at the operating segment level. The
following is a summary of goodwill allocation for each CGU:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

EEEE(Z) (b) Impairment for goodwill (continued)
B+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—F-%HF —TNF
2020 2019
AR¥ET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
HMNE Jilin location
EHEMRE Jilin Zhongji 89,045 89,045
A4S Jilin Qian’an 3,089 3,089
HEBEES Gansu location
HEAR Gansu Baiyin 86,715 86,715
7] 7 I8 g Henan location
ES X fm Puyang Tianlun 6,167 6,167
AR Henan Luyuan 7,663 7,663
s % Henan Songxian 8,115 8,115
GEERrEED Kaifeng Xi'Na 10,079 10,079
BERK Xichuan Longcheng 33,533 33,533
aFslE Xiping Kaida 87,682 87,682
LS Shenqiu Huixin 118,433 —
R [ 1, Hunan location
EORE Dongkou Senbo 7,572 7,572
B2 A ek Fenghuang Zhongyou 20,353 20,353
EmE Yunnan location
EREAB Yunnan Datong 16,778 16,778
1L BRI 1 Shandong location
BEZHX Caoxian Zhongtian 11,401 11,401
BEERX Shanxian Zhongtian 14,222 14,222
SR E S Heze Guanghe 61,656 61,656
RAEH Dongming Wanji 14,967 14,967
& 3R [e 15 Guangdong location
RN EE R Chaozhou Huamao 166,070 166,070
MIEENSis] Shantou Chenghai 65,937 65,937
IR XEREEE Beijing Tian Lun Investment Group
KRR EH Tianlun Pipeline 265,503 265,503
RN K Suzhou Tianlun 188,697 188,697
—RREH Sanming Huiji 22,518 22,518
877 )BE Lechang Anshunda 28,063 28,063
PR 7 6 43 Shaanxi location
BRERR Liquan Hongyuan 90,106 90,106
L2 /N Qianxian Hongyuan 57,978 57,978
RAERE Mizhi Changxing 52,215 52,215
RERHEH Wubu Changxing 29,497 29,497
FMNERE Zizhou Shunxiang 41,973 —
P9Il 1 Sichuan location
o)l B8 Sichuan Mingsheng 249,305 249,305
S EWRR Jintang Gas 246,422 246,422
A4t [ 13, Hebei location
BXRAEH Shijiazhuang Jinming 145,784 145,784
2,247,538 2,087,132
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P T _FTFF+_A=+—HIFEF
(BFHEEBARET T (BRIEFFHA))
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

17.

(b)

BLEE(E

FEERE (E)

REEHETHRIKESREIRE
EREEFEETE - AHEITAFA
BRI RETRR - KREEEL
ZMOFHMBEAE  EFENE
AT MEEBNFHASBEEDR-
BEZAFHRIXN\FHORSR
ERMAA TPl A EH g R EE D
P8 EEMERKEHSEERE
ML o ZIERENBEBEESEHR
ETMREEXRFNRAFIEE
Ko RRBEFRR MEEEE
EETHReELETATKEESEN
BRBRORSIEAEEHNER
T REEHFETH AU E S IR
TEERKEEHR -

BT RBRIL R R RIRE REMER
TEHET  URE—RAHHEAM
ReELETMNEAFHERER
- REBRRUMBATIRE
REME - AR BBERIER R mE
BEENAMREELETHEE
BEAARE - AtEEAFHEER
- REERERUALBATITRE X
HHRE - BEELETHRIKILR
RieREEERARF—RESET
A BRI -
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17.

(b)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment for goodwill (continued)

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-
use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-
year period, while in some circumstances, an eight-year period is
taken into consideration. Cash flows beyond the five-year or eight-
year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated
below until the expiry of the relevant operation periods or operating
rights. The growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth
rate for the gas business in which the CGU operates. In the opinion
of the Company'’s directors, the recoverable amounts of the CGUs will
not be lower than the carrying amount even if taking into account a
reasonably possible change in a key assumption on the calculations
of recoverable amounts of the CGUs.

Except for the CGUs belongs to Beijing Tian Lun Investment Group,
the other CGUs belongs to the same geography share approximately
the same compound annual volume growth rate, long term growth
rate and pre-tax discount rate. The CGUs belongs to Beijing Tian Lun
Investment Group share approximately the same compound annual
volume growth rate, long term growth rate and pre-tax discount
rate, as their business models are similar to each other. The CGUs
in Beijing Tian Lun Investment Group and the other CGUs in the
same geography had been grouped together for presentation only,
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—FE-_FFEf - A=1—HIFEF

(RBEENBARKE T (BRIESEHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

17. B EE (& 17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
(b) FEBREE(E) (b) Impairment for goodwill (continued)
—ECREFREERERRAN The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2020 are
RASR R - as follows:
bV
tHEd HEEY TMEM WEEY ZEES LFEd EREH REEE WEEY MBS WiEd
Beijing
Tian Lun

Jilin Gansu Henan  Hunan  Yunnan Shandong Guangdong Investment  Shaanxi  Sichuan Hebei
Location  Location  Location  Location  Location ~ Location  Location Group  Location  Location Location

i Sales volume
(FEREY) (% annual growth rate) 9% 8% 13% 15% 21% 17% 21% 20% 13% 12% 21%
HER Sales price
(FERERY) (% annual growth rate) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
EfpEnn Other operating costs
(ARETT) (RMB'000) 30347 8730 27,192 9117 11,063 13526 14846 18114 23538 19710 3,856
EETRR Annual capita
(AR®FT) expenditure (RMB' 000) 7706 3167 25935 4710 2443 560 3807 13343 27216 10340 2,980
£z Gross margin
(A% (% of revenue) 34% 29% 30% 36% 29% 28% 23% 15% 37% 39% 32%
RERE Long term growth rate 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3%
EEEE Pre-tax discount rate 17% 14% 18% 15% 17% 16% 13% 15% 15% 13% 19%
ZE-NFEREERERRAN The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2019 are
SRR as follows:
BioN
EifEE HERE THEH WEEY ZERY UREN RREY RE5E MEEH MR TLEH
Beijing
Tian Lun
Jilin- Gansu  Heman  Hunan  Yunnan Shandong Guangdong Investment — Shaanxi  Sichuan Hebei
Location ~ Location  Location ~ Location  Location Location  Location ~ Group  Location  Location  Location
iy Sales volume
(FERERY) (% annual growth rate) 9% 10% 15% 17% 4% 19% 30% 20% 14% 13% 25%
HER Sales price
(FERERY) (% annual growth rate) 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
EfEHE Other operating costs
(ARETTT) (RMB'000) 21122 1383 24487 9814 10267 15116 14846 23236 22732 24337 755
EBARR Annual capital expenditure
(ARETTT) (RMB'000) 8600 4050 10686 - b662 2794 1267 11,040 11317 26216 11930 3326
EflE Gross margin
(A% (% of revenue) 34% 2% 30% 36% 38% 2% 25% 14% 37% 42% 31%
RIpERE Long term growth rate 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% 3% % % % 3%
R Pre-tax discount rate 20% 18% 20% 18% 18% 19% 19% 17% 18% 16% 19%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE —E_FFEf - H=+—HIFEF

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHA))
For the year ended 31 December 2020
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(b)

. BLEE (&)

RBRE ()
b2 R R ASD T AR 5 B
M EERSENEIT -

HERDFH/\FRAHNFIF
BRE DRBEBERBMEERE
MG ERNARME -

HEEBSIFH/N\FRAMFH

FREX - At EEERHARRE
=IE

Hip@ 2 AR EL ETHE
ERA - BERATZEEHEE K
EEMAREE - ERELREAEF
MEBERIERLERA - WHtE
IRABIEL AR  BHEREATR
MR ST EE AR B Ak AN BB FE i o
L ENSE AR FH/\FTEA
HAR) I A o

FEARAEZERNFAREHR
ERA - W ERXRBEEREER
m&mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁhéﬁﬂﬁ

o

s

EARBENE A HEREKTER
AR 5\ TR A S 3352 B
WABEDE - ERBEBEFKFEE
o

IR RRREZREEEE
ZETEZERGELETHBN
WIMNEBR =R E ) SAE (AT

FRERAHIBLIR R ATATLL R - W
PR A R [ 12 P 5 TE LR
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17.

(b)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment for goodwill (continued)

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of each CGU
within the operating segment.

Sales volume is the average compound annual growth rate which
is based on past performance and management’s expectations of
market development over the five-year or eight-year forecast period.

Sales price is the average annual growth rate over the five-year or
eight-year forecast period, it is estimated to be stable during the
forecast period.

Other operating costs are the fixed costs of the CGUs, which do not
vary significantly with sales volumes or prices. Management forecasts
these costs based on the current structure of the business, adjusting
for inflationary increases and these do not reflect any future
restructurings or cost saving measures. The amounts disclosed above
are the average operating costs for the five-year or eight-year forecast
period.

Annual capital expenditure is the expected cash costs in the
subsidiaries of each group. This is based on the historical experience
and the long-term assets investment plan of the management.

Gross margin is the average margin as a percentage of revenue over
the five-year or eight-year forecast period. It is based on the current
sales margin levels.

The long term growth rates are based on management’s best
estimates with consideration of both internal and external factors
relating to the CGUs.

The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating
to the relevant locations.
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BE T _FTF T _/A=1+—HIFE
(LREELBARETF T (IS EHS))
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

THIER T A 18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

R+=—BA=+—~H
As at 31 December
—E-BF —NEF
2020 2019
ks ARMT T AREF T
cREE Financial assets Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
AR NG 2/ Financial assets at amortised cost
TRIEE
JE U BR 5k I EL At Trade and other receivables (exclude

WK N EIETE prepayments,value-added-tax to be

IR 1BETE offset, prepaid income tax and other

R FBA TS non-financial assets)

FMEMIEFSREE 20 695,582 877,627
RERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 24 1,640,081 1,349,836
ZREE S Restricted cash 24 24,653 235,723
NAREEFZER Financial assets at fair value through
BT AHMRE other comprehensive income
WS mEE 19 88,583 130,348

2,448,899 2,593,534
cRAE Financial liabilities
LSRR ANEHER A& Liabilities at amortised cost
FET AR R S o Trade and other payables (exclude

N T EIEER accrued payroll and welfare payables

e REFM and other taxes payables)

H fEAAR IR 28 1,135,546 1,104,642
fE Borrowings 29 5,064,639 5,192,402
HEAE Lease liabilities 14(i) 8,202 9,666

UAABESERHE  Financial liabilities at fair value
BEFTAHMERE through profit or loss
g ok =N 23 30,445 —
6,238,832 6,306,710

AEE SR T AR S 2Rk
AFFRMIES - AEEmH RS/

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial
instruments is discussed in Note 3. The maximum exposure to credit

TAMRBNESERR
REE AR
BENIREEE -

2R E IR &

RO A Fil S AR

risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each
class of financial assets mentioned above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

19. UAREEFEAH 19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

BETAHMESU THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
mHERMEE INCOME
AR EEGTEB LB AEM Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
FERENEREERE include the following:
R+=A=+—H
As at 31 December
e —TNF
2020 2019
AR%T T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBNEE Non-current assets
BmT A —3EEm Equity instrument — unlisted securities
— MRRATERER () — Gas industry equity interest (i) 61,500 79,746
R+=—HA=+—8H
As at 31 December
—E-FF ZE-NF
2020 2019
AR¥ET T AREEFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
MENEE Current assets
EETA Debt instrument
— FEUWEEE (i) — Notes receivable (ii) 27,083 50,602
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(i)

AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (continued)

Equity instrument at fair value through other
comprehensive income

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the Group’s total
percentage shareholding in the investee was 19%.

This investment is classified as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, rather than as an investment in an
associate, because the Group does not have the power to exercise
significant influence over the investee. Although one representative
has been assigned to the investee as its director of the board,
the Group’s determination that it does not exercise a “significant
influence” over the investee has been based on the following factors:

° The Group does not have a significant influence in respect
of the voting power in the policy-making decisions of the
investee due to the minority shareholding position;

° There is no interchange of management personnel or sharing
of technical information between the Group and the investee;

° There are no potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or currently convertible;
° The access to the financial and operating information of the

investee was very restrictive for the Group;

° In addition, the Group made a few proposals to the board of
the investee in prior years, such as the dividends distribution
plan and senior management assignment to the investee etc.,
and all of these proposals were vetoed.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
measured at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet are
categorised by level according to the significance of the inputs used
in making the measurements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

19.
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19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (continued)

(i) UAREEFEBEHSZEF () Equity instrument at fair value through other
AEMGENRNERTA comprehensive income (continued)
(%)

AEEHNBRR AN EHEREHL
BRANENEE  BRAAEBEE
MEBHRIEA - NEEEADAR
EBEFEAHEZFHTARLMEAR
2NEMEENEIBE LA EER
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HRRENAABEREENE
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The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of
fair value hierarchy levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer. There were no transfers in
or out of Level 3 fair value measurements for financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income during the year.

As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the fair values of
unlisted equity investment are valued by independent professionally
qualified valuation firm Asset Appraisal Limited and calculated by
using the market approach to determine the fair value of the assets
by reference to the transaction prices, or “valuation multiples”
implicit in the transaction prices, of identical or similar assets on
the market, which results in these measurements being classified as
Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

In applying the market approach, a few valuation multiples are to be
determined by dividing a financial parameter by the transaction price
paid for similar business enterprises, such as historical or prospective
turnover or profit at a given level. Valuation multiples are applied to
the corresponding financial parameter of the subject asset in order
to value it. Adjustments are required to the transaction prices or
valuation multiples to reflect the differentiating characteristics of
the business enterprises and the comparable business enterprises
for which the transaction prices or valuation multiples are known.
The multiples adopted in the valuation are among price/earnings
and price/EBITDA, and the value of unlisted equity investment
was determined by the average of the results calculated using the
different multiples.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—FE-_FFEf - A=1—HIFEF

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (continued)

DAREEFEEE®SEHF ()  Equity instrument at fair value through other
AHMGERENERTIA comprehensive income (continued)
(%)
BREEXT BB A (E3E) Information about fair value measurements using significant
WA AEEEEE unobservable inputs (Level 3)
FTBREBA TABERARAA
it MEE fhEh FIERRA (BEmETs) BENBZ
Unobservable
inputs Relationship of
Valuation Unobservable (probability- unobservable
Description Fair value technique inputs Weighted average) inputs to fair value
(ARBTT)
(RMB'000)
FLEmEERE
Unlisted equity investment
—RZE-EETA=1-H 61,500 M5k max 15.54 HEHR  AnEEES
— As at 31 December 2020 Market approach Pricefearnings The higher the ratios,
the higher the fair value
BRERSRAEREANEL 1076
Price/EBITDA
—RIE-NETZAZT-H 79,746 [y [ 14.50 LREE - AR EEES
— As at 31 December 2019 Market approach Pricefearnings The higher the ratios,
the higher the fair value
RERSHTERENNEY 970
Price/EBITDA
DAREEFEEESE (i) Debt investments at fair value through other

ARfMGREWRBENEBIRE
TA

AR BEFELEZESH T AHM
FAEKRENEKRETABERK
RE - REEBEASREPBKEIR
RAMKEE D » AEERL TR
ANERZEEFAE XL RS - £/E
WERIEREI IS SR HERRILR
TRE3R - ARBERARESRENR
AR EHFRERENAAEE
HARBEEINKA

comprehensive income

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
comprise notes receivable. Notes receivable consist of bills received
as payments from customers. Certain subsidies of Group’s turnover
of notes receivable is high and the Group utilises the bills to settle
payables to suppliers or redemption from bank before the bills
mature. The Group measures the fair value of the notes receivable
using the discounted cash flow method, which gives rise to fair
values approximating the cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

19. UAREEFEAH 19 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

SETTARMEES R THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
HNEREE (&) INCOME (continued)
(i) FTABZFEMEZZESUWER (i) Amounts recognised in profit or loss and other
ot | comprehensive income
REZAREE B A TFEFTAE During the year, the following gains were recognised in profit or loss
mME A AR A W and other comprehensive income:
—B-EF ZE-NF
2020 2019
ARBTT AREEFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FFAHMAR AW R AR (Losses)/gains recognised in other comprehensive
(E518) ME income (Note 27)
(2RKisE27)
ERAR R & 1R Related to equity investments (18,246) 931

SFAEMFIE,(E58) Losses recognised in profit or loss in other

— FREREE gains/(losses) — net (Note 7)
(2RKHE7)
BRERITE IR Related to debt investments 2,691 2,337

(iv) LaRrEEE28HEZEIAEM  (iv)  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

FAEWENEMEEAARES are denominated in RMB.
K
(v) LiemEELHRE- (v)  None of these financial assets is impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

R+=—A=+—H

As at 31 December
—E-EF —E-NEF
2020 2019
ARET T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FEIBREFN — 42%E (a) Trade receivables — gross (a) 287,522 303,546
W R E R Less: provision for impairment (20,432) (14,391)
N EE Notes receivable 5,918 3,043
SELNE Prepayments 633,819 597,417

JFEU B RS 77 5RIE (a) Receivables due from related parties (a) (Note 37)

(F5E37) 332,024 501,875
HAth EUR Other receivables 144,558 169,206
T RE RS Less: provision for impairment (299) (290)
BETBERK Value-added-tax to be offset and prepaid income tax

TR FTS R 37,160 37,366

1,420,270 1,597,772
W REITENR Less: long-term prepayments (27,174) (49,648)
mENER Current portion 1,393,096 1,548,124

(a)

MEREE—RETEPHE
EEAMEAR - HNIE%R
ERRBER  A&EBE
E UG ENFEIGR + A AR 3E
HIBERT  BEEERIER
BEFEFMEEME - WRERR
EERE —REE TR
BRF - LTABEE AR
318,417,000 (=& — 1L
F: A R #488,258,000
TT) FEMR A B 5 B 5 FRIE
WEMARLIRERABHZ5H
FEU R FREBR B AT -

(a)

The credit period generally granted to customers in relation
to sales of pipelined gases is up to two months. As for the
customers in relation to engineering construction service,
the Group generally requests advance payments, and in
circumstances of credit sales, management closely monitors
the credit quality of the customers, and credit period was
granted case by case with maximum of two years. The
following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables and
receivables due from related parties in trade nature amounting
to RMB318,417,000 (2019: RMB488,258,000), presented
based on billing date at the end of the reporting period:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B2 T -TF - HA=+—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

20. EWERFm KR HMEYF 20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(4&) (continued)
(@) (&) (@)  (continued)
W+=BA=+—H
As at 31 December
b et 33 —T-NEF
2020 2019
ARET T AREETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
=+TRUAT Less than 30 days 518,483 659,252
—+t—XEATX 31 days to 90 days 18,150 22,683
ht+—XRE—F 91 days to 1 year 14,685 47,986
—F M E Over 1 year 16,216 32,433
RF A E Over 2 years 38,405 29,450
605,939 791,804
(b)  FEURERFRN I E fb B UL SR A BR (b)  The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables
HERAALEBEER— approximate their fair values.
o
(c)  FEURBRFOR E I E A (c)  See Note 3.1 for the movement on the provision for
BERBEHFL2REMF impairment of trade receivables and other receivables. And
3.1 JE U AR 3R % H th JE LK the other classes within trade and other receivables do not
RAMEAMBERISEREE contain impaired assets.
MEEE -
(d) HREH Z=EARRSR (d)  The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
fﬁﬁiﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁuﬁlmﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁﬁ is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned
BE - KEETHFHTAE above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
AETROERD -
(e) YRR HAth e A ER (e)  The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables were
AEBEAARKE - denominated in RMB.
() RZEZEF+—A="1— () As at 31 December 2020, the trade receivables with
A AEEEABNAAR carrying value of approximately RMB91,970,000 (2019:
?f"i§91 977,000 JT H fE U BR RMB23,940,000) were pledged for the Group’s borrowings
HEERIEAEREBRMENE (Note 29).

ﬁ%(_?*jlﬁ FPARE
23,940,000 7T ] J& H BR 3K
TERE Y (£ 29) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(RBEENBARKE T (BRIESEHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

21. Ht3ERENE E MRS 21. PREPAYMENTS RELATED TO OTHER NON-

OREERE CURRENT ASSETS
R+t=—A=+—8
As at 31 December
—BIEE —T-NEF
2020 2019
ARET T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR EN BB RIE () Prepayments related to share purchase
agreements (i) 208,340 41,788
RHEEZRBNR Prepayments related to long-term assets
construction 10,046 7,621
218,386 49,409
(i) RZEZEF+HA="1— (i) As at 31 December 2020, prepayments amounting to
H BN REARK RMB208,340,000 (2019: RMB41,788,000) were related
208,340,000t ( = — N, to the prepayments made for purchasing the equity of other
F: AR¥ 41,788,000 7T) private companies in gas industry.
ERTET B E MR AT R B AL
EARIRERR -
22. & 22. INVENTORIES
B+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
e —TNF
2020 2019
AR¥T T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
MR EERME Materials for gas pipelines 110,772 202,042
SHAEmM Consumables 5,104 2,907
115,876 204,949
RZE-ZEF+_A=+—HBK= As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, no inventories
TZ-NF+-_A=1+—8  K#7F write-down was provided.
ERHERELERE o
GFERAER AN S BRI The cost of inventories recognised as the Group’s expense
ABHEKANESBEHNARARE and included in cost of sales amounted to approximately
3,507,196,0007t( = & — L. : RMB3,507,196,000 (2019: RMB3,772,782,000).

AR®3,772,782,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B2 T -_FF+—HA=+—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHA))
For the year ended 31 December 2020
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

23. UAREEFEAR

()

23.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

SETABENETR THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
TH
DAREEFEEESEF (@) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
ABEHNE/MEE
R+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—E_EHE —E-NF
2020 2019
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
REBEE Current liabilities
SNET B (i) Forward exchange instrument (i) 30,445 —
30,445 —
(i) ROMAEEEERITHI (i) In order to deconcentrate the Group’s foreign exchange
“bffﬁgAEﬁgZFﬁEﬁ%E risk between USD and its functional currency RMB, the
CAEERZZZTZF Group entered into RMB/USD forward exchange instruments
iaT_LT/\E%/%TE% in 2020. The forward exchange instruments including
ETEAR - INETEA four tranche, tranche one amounting to USD13,750,000
EEENHD  F—3F5 with maturity in 2021, tranche two/three amounting to

% %8 /513,750,000 7t
BR_FE=Z—FH - F
—Hn BN EA
27,500,000 7T+ # M =
T_FRE - FNEHE
% /% 13,500,000% 7T 5

R _=FRH - AR
S ETINR GIERET.261-
7.447 2 [ - HMNE T BER

EHRRURABENE - %
NARBENRSERZHETFE
BB RERETE -
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USD27,500,000 with maturity in 2022, tranche four
amounting to USD13,500,000 with maturity in 2023. The
transaction exchange rates RMB/USD vary from 7.261-7.447.
The forward exchange instruments are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period which is determined by
reference to the prices as quoted by the counterparty financial
institution.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—FE-_FFEf - A=1—HIFEF

(LHREMBAREF T (BIESFHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

23. UAREEFEREH 23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

BETFABENSRA THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
IH(Z
(b) FABZHNEE (b) Amounts recognised in profit or loss
REFAREEFATHERBL During the year, the following gains and losses were recognised in
FFAEE - profit or loss:
R+=HA=+—8H
For the year ended
—E-FF ZE-NF
2020 2019
ARET T AREEFT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
BT AEH TG Fair value losses on forward exchange instrument
(1B%) — F8EH recognised in other gains/(losses) — net (Note 7)
HNE T B8 (FH5E7) (30,445) —
ERLIRE NS Investment gains on investment in a trust = 8,984
SRITIEMEMFBULA  Interest income from bank financial products 5,680 433
24. BERREEEY 24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(@) BHERRESEEY (a) Cash and cash equivalents
R+=A=+—8H
As at 31 December
—E-FF =N
2020 2019
ARET T AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FHERE Cash in hand 15 54
IRITIER Cash at banks 1,640,066 1,349,782
1,640,081 1,349,836
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

24. BERBEEEY 24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(45 (continued)
(@) BHERBREEEW(E) (a) Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
FHB 2 RRITERTIATIEE Cash in hand and at banks are denominated in the following
FHE - currencies:
R+=—A=+—8H
As at 31 December
—E-FF ZE-NF
2020 2019
ARBTR AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREE RMB 1,610,998 1,335,466
ETT usbD 2,698 22
Vot HKD 26,385 14,348
RekReEFEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,640,081 1,349,836
AN RBEHEN &R IR AINE The conversion of the RMB denominated balances into foreign
N5 E o R B EE ST currencies and the remittance of these funds out of the PRC are
B IR T 28 4 D SN 5 61 7B AR Bl S subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
VAR o promulgated by the PRC government.
(b) ZRFIRE (b) Restricted cash
R+=—A=+—8H
As at 31 December
—ECEF —T-NF
2020 2019
ARBTT AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 7,680 208,700
B HKD 11,101 27,023
ETT usb 5,872 —
2R HIIE Restricted cash 24,653 235,723
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RERBEEEY
(4)

ZRERE (F)

RZE_ZEF+_A=+—H"
x 71900,00075( 4B AR
5,872,000 ) & /& # 13,191,000
(B AR E11,101,0007T )
(ZZ=— N5 : B ¥30,166,000
JL A B AR #27,023,0005T )
BXRHIRE  FRRIEITIEAR
TREERNEEHE: ARE
200,000 L( ZZE—NF: AR¥
200,00070) tEAtHEmEE X
ARAMIFHRIBITHRES AR
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ERINET BRES  BASIEN
EENREBS(ZE-NEFE: AR
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BERRESD)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(continued)

b) Restricted cash (continued)

As at 31 December 2020, USD900,000 (approximately
RMB5,872,000), HKD13,191,000 (approximately
RMB11,101,000) are restricted deposits held at bank as reserve
for serving of debt for loans provided by the bank (2019: USD: Nil;
HKD30,166,000, approximately RMB27,023,000); RMB200,000
(2019: RMB200,000) are restricted deposits held at bank for
purchasing natural gas from the suppliers; RMB7,385,000
(2019: Nil) are restricted deposits at bank as reserve for forward
exchange instruments; and there is no restricted cash (2019:
RMB208,500,000) held as the deposits of notes payable.

B2 R B A s 25. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM
REE EEk R A st
Number of shares  Ordinary shares ~ Share premium Total
(FH&) AREFT ARETFT ARETT
(thousands) RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
BRTIEHE Issued and fully paid:
R=ZE-R&E—-HA—H At1 January 2019 989,615 8,340 1,188,151 1,196,491
“E-AFERENE  Dividends relating to 2019
(F3E31) dividend (Note 31) — — (211,838) (211,838)
BIERERIET 1% Issue of shares pursuant to share
option scheme 10,000 90 53,053 53,143
R-E-h&§ At 31 December 2019
+ZRA=+- 999,615 8,430 1,029,366 1,037,796
“E-ZEERSHE  Dividends relating to 2020
(Pis31) dividend (Note 31) — — (235,003) (235,003)
BIRBRIEET 231717 Issue of shares pursuant to share
option scheme 4,000 36 23,092 23,128
R-BZEF
+=ZA=+-H At 31 December 2020 1,003,615 8,466 817,455 825,921

ARAEBERNEERBRAER
2,000,000,000 & ( =& — fL F -
2,000,000,000/% ) * FREE &
BE0OIT(ZZE—NF : 8REA
BEA%0.017T) -

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2,000,000,000
shares (2019: 2,000,000,000 shares) with a par value of HKD0.01
per share (2019: HKDO.01 per share).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

EiE

CEFFf A —HIFFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHA))
For the year ended 31 December 2020
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

26.

U0 B ER AV

R-ZT—1tF ARAR=REER
BT R - X TN
EERRETERNTE ERT
B #a1 R B et F I E R A
HEENZEE - =02 HERE
ARZF-N\FLATN\HE=ZF
—hFLtA+EBEHERTETSE
—H)) ZE=D2MBRER
RZF-NAFELATNAE=ZT=
TELATERHEARTETS
—H) - Hfp=o2z— m%&%T
R-Z_ZEFLATNREC

_*ﬁtﬁ+t5%ﬁWﬂﬁU%
=8  HRUESNITEGER
EERE - REEREAANDEZET
B - AEET AT NHEER
1% LIREMEESE B -

R-ZZE—NAFLtA+H"
—ﬂitﬂ+t5&_f—h¢
NAZH  RBEATETEHR

10,000,000 B i # - 1T (E &
Fh4.97 BT WEHR S AL
RAR®A44,314,0007T © 170
Pigig - REBERAFRM A
341 10,000,000 f% °

RZEZZFEFEA=+—8 &
B AT T 4 4,000,000
BEkiE TEEABTRLIIE
T MEMReBENRARE
17,918,000 » 171 i IR #E 1% -
REBEEMHRMAEBENT
4,000,000 % -
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26.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

In 2017, share options were granted to three directors of the
Company. The exercise price of the granted options represents
the highest of the closing price on the date of grant, the average
closing price for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of the grant, and the nominal value of the share. One third of
the share options may be exercised within the period from 18 July
2018 to 17 July 2019(“tranche 1"); another one third of the share
options may be exercised within the period from 18 July 2019 to 17
July 2020(“tranche 2"); and the remaining one third of the share
options may be exercised within the period from 18 July 2020 to 17
July 2021(“tranche 3”). The share options are conditional on the
directors’ remaining in the entity’'s employ for a specified period of
time. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase
or settle the options in cash.

On 16 July 2019, 17 July 2019 and 2 September 2019, the
grantees exercised a total number of 10,000,000 share options, the
exercise price was HKD4.97 per share, with a total cash received
approximately RMB44,314,000. Upon the exercise of share options,
the total number of the shares held by the directors of the Group
increased by 10,000,000 shares.

On 31 July 2020, the grantees exercised a total number of 4,000,000
share options, the exercise price was HKD4.97 per share, with a total
cash received approximately RMB17,918,000. Upon the exercise of
share options, the total number of the shares held by the directors of
the Group increased by 4,000,000 shares.
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B2 —F—FF+—HA=+—HIFE
(2B BARE T (BIZEHA))
For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

26. URtp AEBA AT 26. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(&)

RITERHIEE B M AR T

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their

BITEEMEEHINT related weighted average exercise price are as follows:
FI91TEE R EAES A
BRAEY Number of
Average exercise share options
price in HKD (F5t)
per share option (thousands)
R-Z-THE—F—H At 1 January 2020 4.970 5,000
217 Exercised 4.970 (4,000)
e Forfeited 4.970 (1,000)
R-B-EF At 31 December 2020
+t=A=+—H — —
FHITEE A1 BRI 2L B
FRHEE Number of
Average exercise share options
price in HKD (F&H)
per share option (thousands)
RZZFE—NFE—HA—H At1 January 2019 4.970 15,000
21THE Exercised 4.970 (10,000)
R-E—NF At 31 December 2019
+=A=+—8 4.970 5,000

R-FB-_FTFE+-_A=+—H8"
ﬁﬂifﬂiﬂ’]ﬁﬁﬂﬂié(:f—hi
5,000,00017) - REIF - T -4

T - A=1+—H%ER4,000,000 10,000,000).
Pﬁ%ﬁﬁ%?ﬁfﬂf(_ —NF:

10,000,000 3

BRRTESNBRMNMERERR
P2 AT -

As at 31 December 2020, there is no outstanding options
(2019: 5,000,000) exercisable. 4,000,000 of the share options
were exercised in the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:

See Note 9 for the total expenses recognised in profit or loss for
share options granted to directors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE
(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

27. #ENEFR=

27. RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

(@) f#f& (@) Reserves
URABEE
BEBEHFA
HipRE W
EXGE EERE SREE @5t
Financial
assets at fair
value through
other
Capital Statutory  comprehensive
reserves reserves income Total
AREFT AREFT AREFT AEBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R=Z-AE-A—8  At1Janvary 2019 (90,806) 345,265 27,483 281,932
Eff — @8 (Mi£19)  Revaluation-gross (Note 19) — — 931 931
Eft —HE(5E30)  Revaluation-tax (Note 30) — - (233) (233)
IR ER#E  Waives liabilities from non-controlling
interests 12,260 — — 12,260
BB Appropriation (i) — 162,166 — 162,166
BT HE: 2 Employee share option scheme:
—BIRBmES — Value of employee services 6,303 — — 6,303
— REBERETE — Issue of shares pursuant to share
BIRM option scheme (8,829) — — (8,829)
R=ZB-NF At 31 December 2019
+=ZA=+-H (81,072) 507,421 28,181 454,530
RZEZEF-HF—H At 1January 2020 (81,072) 507,421 28,181 454,530
Efh — @5 (35 19)  Revaluation-gross (Note 19) — — (18,246) (18,246)
Bff — HE(H:30)  Revaluation-tax (Note 30) — — 4,562 4,562
BEO Appropriation (i) — 124,867 — 124,867
WEEIRB AT 2 Z8IMERS  Acquisition of additional interests
(H5E36) of a subsidiary (Note 36) (5,276) — — (5,276)
BT E Employee share option scheme:
— B IREOEES — Value of employee services 950 = = 950
— RiEERETE — Issue of shares pursuant to share
ki option scheme (5,210) — — (5,210)
RZIBZEF At 31 December 2020
+=A=+-A (90,608) 632,288 14,497 556,177
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27.

()
(i)

REME TS (&

(&)

EEME

KR BB ERER MAKER
BRI T B A F A B ([
BFom ) ESERARNR
E o REFRARAEREBEFE
EER > NRBEANASRTEE
AHERIBEE M FRATEALN 10% B
EXRERBAES c ERETF AT
HEERBRAER MR EIEME
K50% 8 - RRAIMBERERSHE
— R

EEBBATES A RARNRHBES
EER(NE) - TRa@BIERRR
R R B IR AR LL 1 R BB R 31T
AL - MEEITRATRIEERBRAD
BB ADNEMERH 25% °

BE-T-TF+-A=1-8
EER - ETRET AR
GRS -V ES T TINA
124,867,000 T( —F—F : A
FR#162,166,0007T) °

B OB FE IR AR B EE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

27. RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

(@)
(i)

(continued)

Reserves (continued)

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and
Articles of Association of the companies incorporated in the PRC
now comprising the Group (the “PRC Subsidiaries”), it is required
to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory net profits of the PRC
Subsidiaries, after offsetting any prior years’ losses as determined
under the PRC accounting standards, to the statutory surplus
reserves fund before distributing the net profit. When the balance
of the statutory surplus reserves fund reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the PRC Subsidiaries, any further appropriation is at the
discretion of shareholders.

The statutory surplus reserves fund can be used to offset prior years’
losses, if any, and may be converted into share capital by issuing new
shares to shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholding,
provided that the remaining balance of the statutory surplus reserves
fund after such issue is not less than 25% of registered capital.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, approximately RMB124,867,000
(2019: RMB162,166,000) were appropriated to the statutory surplus
reserves funds from net profits of certain PRC subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B2 T -TF - HA=+—HIFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

27. HENBFKRE (&)

(b)

(c)

27. RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

(continued)
BEWEE (b) Retained earnings
AREF T
RMB’'000
R-E-hE—H—H At 1 January 2019 1,771,445
BEERARAIFBEENFE Profit attributable to owners of the Company 789,179

T Appropriation (162,166)
R-ZZE—hhE+=-H=+—H At 31 December 2019 2,398,458
R-E-_ZEHF—H—H At 1 January 2020 2,398,458
FBRARAIFEENFE Profit attributable to owners of the Company 1,043,512
B A& Appropriation (124,867)
R-Z-_ZHF+-HA=1+—H At 31 December 2020 3,317,103
Hibim e - HBRBE (c) Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Hthiz e
Hithf#E Wiz
Total other
comprehensive
Other reserves income
ARBT T ARBT T
RMB'000 RMB'000

BZE=-Z-ZfF+=-H VYear ended 31 December 2020

=t+—BLFE
AREBEFGEZHAE  Change in value of financial assets at

BT AHMESRE fair value through other comprehensive

EafemEEN income, net of tax

EEZE) - HRTHIE (13,684) (13,684)
Hibim e WA %E Total other comprehensive income (13,684) (13,684)
BZ=-Z—hE+=H VYearended 31 December 2019

=t+—HLFE
AR BEEBHE  Change in value of financial assets

BEETAHMER S at fair value through other comprehensive

EaemEEN income, net of tax

BEEZH - MERHIE 698 698
HihiR & Wi 258 Total other comprehensive income 698 698
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28. BRI

B OB FE IR AR B EE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

HubpE{SF 28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

®+=—BA=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-EF —E—nF
2020 2019
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FETARFR (@ 2 b) Trade payables (a and b) 823,855 320,601
e =& Notes payables 44,400 423,800
FE 1~ A 75 5RIE (a) Amounts due to related parties (a) (Note 37)

(F$3E37) 12,654 29,182
EstE© RER Accrued payroll and welfare 2,135 3,661
FERTHE Interest payables 11,850 15,009
H b pE s Fi 18 Other taxes payables 225,886 93,821
e B EE Contingent consideration payables 111,708 138,128
E M ERF (a) Other payables (a) 131,079 177,922

1,363,567 1,202,124
(@) RZZTZF ¢‘|’ A=+— (@)  As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, all such

(b)

Ak-ZZ-—AF+ZA
:‘f’—El RNEE it At
IRk R B BT _\Eﬁlr&c'ﬁﬂk
ARRE - ARHIRE - H
ARBERFOEEEE

R-B_ZF+_A=+—
H )32 ZF-NLFt+=A
=t+—B  EARFRER
BRHRE DT

(b)

trade payables and other payables of the Group were non-
interest bearing and their fair values approximated to their
carrying amounts due to their short maturities.

At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the ageing
analysis of the trade payables, based on billing date was as

follows:

B+=—A=+-—H

As at 31 December
—EEHF —E-NF
2020 2019
AR®T ARBTIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
=F+XKUT Less than 30 days 686,121 189,361
=t+—XZENTX 31 days to 90 days 51,692 46,415
N+—XKE—F 91 daysto 1 year 42,988 45,596
—FEMF 1 year to 2 years 24,655 18,062
MEE=4F 2 years to 3 years 10,854 5,483
=FUE Over 3 years 7,545 15,684
823,855 320,601
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B2 T -TF - HA=+—HIFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

28. B ERRREMEN 28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

ENG -

() AEBEMENERREME (c)  The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other payables
NRBEREEETI A TIE were denominated in the following currencies:
HEHE -
B+=—A=+-—H
As at 31 December
—ECEF —TNF
2020 2019
ARET T ARBETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR # RMB 1,354,186 1,185,568
ET usD 3,790 7,482
et HKD 5,591 9,074
1,363,567 1,202,124
[+ =
29. {83 29. BORROWINGS
R+=—HA=+—8H
As at 31 December
—EC-BE —T-NF
2020 2019
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
EREB Non-current
RITER Bank borrowings
— B (a) — pledged (a) — 484,000
— BER (b) — guaranteed (b) 1,593,268 2,445,340
— BHEHAIER (c) — pledged and guaranteed (c) 1,172,210 806,040
AR R AR (d) Borrowings from a shareholder (d) — 139,524
EMEFR (e) Other borrowings (e) 4,577 5,130
IEMENE R EER Total non-current borrowings 2,770,055 3,880,034
B Current
IRITHER Bank borrowings
— B (a) — pledged (a) — 62,500
— BHER(b) — guaranteed (b) 1,491,035 479,848
— BEIRFIIELR () — pledged and guaranteed (c) 622,830 530,231
— EAER — unsecured 45,000 95,039
B &K (d) Borrowings from a shareholder (d) 130,498 139,524
HEHER (e) Other borrowings (e) 5,221 5,226
MBS R AERE Total current borrowings 2,294,584 1,312,368
B4t Total borrowings 5,064,639 5,192,402
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29. B (&

(a)

(b)

RZB-NF+-A=+—
B REMIERBIRITER
mASEME QR LHX R
SSENAPN PRtz f A E
REVERIEAR

RIZBZTFT_HA="1—
H - 8 RIERBRITER
AARAIRRE 2 —RRE%
A LA R AN SR B REEE A R
MR IEREERARR
AEAmEHEERQRE
R o

RoB—AEt- A=+
B RS RIDRBRITIEN
AR AR —RBS
£ LA R AE BB R
MEREARATRR -

B OB FE IR AR B EE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

29. BORROWINGS (continued)

(@)

(b)

As at 31 December 2019, the current and non-current
bank borrowings were secured by the gas charging rights of
Shangjie Tianlun and Henan Tian Lun Gas.

As at 31 December 2020, the current and non-current
bank borrowings were guaranteed by the related parties of
the Group, which were Henan Tian Lun Gas Engineering
Investment Limited, Henan Tian Lun Real Estate Limited and
Mr. Zhang Yingcen (one of the shareholders of the Company).

As at 31 December 2019, the current and non-current bank
borrowings were guaranteed by the related parties of the
Group, which were Henan Tian Lun Real Estate Limited and
Mr. Zhang Yingcen.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE
(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))
For the year ended 31 December 2020
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

29. B (&

(c)

R-ZE-_ZTF+-_RA=+—
B REMIERBIRITER
B E#EXM WX
R RERH - KRR -
AXRETH  LEEE - N
AR BAKM - KK
e BEAM - BEHK
-~ BAE R B R A
IR ERE - RfeRE
B 2EMR - mIIAE -
#MKXfm M =AEERAEE
# A % 91,970,000 7T #
FEYERR - 2 EMRR - KIE
RE - RERE - AFHES
B O)IBREE - BERERK
L SR B R F R
o AW A B R R R
AERMIRAEREBRERA
A ABRmELERRA
A RBRSEL - FRIEERK
TORBSREREXE) IR
HIELR

RZE-NF+ZA="+—
A - B RIERERITER
MIEE G - BR &K
Hh o R AMH - EBH K
NaXH - BEAH - Bk
R~ R REM - =8
ZE -HMKXMm FEX
fm ~ PO)IIRAEE - KAG R -
RERAERARES AR
R EB#E KaMRES
MEEMRMREMEHAR
# 23,940,000 T K & U BR
o eEME - KIERE -
RERARARESHBNK
RESIERIEI - WHAS
B R E AR EES
FRAF] - sRBmEIE - B
BRAZ TRAELIEIR o
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29. BORROWINGS (continued)

(c)

As at 31 December 2020, the current and non-current
bank borrowings were secured by the gas charging rights of
Shangjie Tianlun, Henan Tian Lun Gas, Wubu Changxing,
Mizhi Changxing, Shijiazhuang Jinming, Shenqiu Huixin,
Jiutai Dadi, Panshi Dadi, Da’'an Dadi, Baicheng Dadi,
Zhenlai County Dadi, Dunhua Dadi and Tongyu County
Dadi, trade receivables with carrying value of approximately
RMB91,970,000 of Tianlun Pipeline, Jintang Gas, Sichuan
Mingsheng, Suzhou Tianlun and Sanming Huiji, equity
shares of Jintang Gas, Mizhi Changxing, Wubu Changxing,
Shijiazhuang Jinming, Sichuan Mingsheng, Hui ji Energy
and Shengiu Huixin, and guaranteed by the related parties of
the Group, which were Henan Tian Lun Investment Holdings
Group Limited, Henan Tian Lun Real Estate Limited, Mr.
Zhang Yingcen and Ms. Sun Yanxi (a family member of Mr.
Zhang Yingcen).

As at 31 December 2019, the current and non-current
bank borrowings were secured by the gas charging rights of
Zhenlai County Dadi, Tongyu County Dadi, Da’an Dadi, Panshi
Dadi, Jiutai Dadi, Baicheng Dadi, Dunhua Dadi, Tianlun
Pipeline, Sanming Huiji, Suzhou Tianlun, Xuchang Tianlun,
Sichuan Mingsheng, Mizhi Changxing, Wubu Changxing and
Shijiazhuang Jinming, trade receivables with carrying value
of approximately RMB23,940,000 of Tianlun Pipeline and
Jintang Gas, equity shares of Jintang Gas, Mizhi Changxing,
Wubu Changxing and Shijiazhuang Jinming, and guaranteed
by the related parties of the Group, which were Henan Tian
Lun Real Estate Limited, Mr. Zhang Yingcen and Ms. Sun
Yanxi.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

29. BORROWINGS (continued)

(d)

(e)

As at 31 December 2020, borrowings of USD20,000,000,
equivalent to approximately RMB130,498,000
(2019: USD40,000,000, equivalent to approximately
RMB279,048,000) were from International Finance
Corporation, one of the Company’s shareholders, which was
guaranteed by Mr. Zhang Yingcen and two of his family
members.

As at 31 December 2020, such borrowings represented
borrowings of RMB4,798,000 (2019: RMB5,356,000)
from local government assumed by the Group to acquire
the exclusive operating rights for city pipeline network
in Xuchang City of Henan Province in 2003. Borrowings
of RMB5,000,000 (2019: RMB5,000,000) from local
government which were secured by gas charging right,
buildings and gas pipeline of Xiping Kaida (Note 15).

The maturities of the Group’s borrowings at respective end of
reporting period are set out as follows:

R+=—A=+—8

As at 31 December
—ECEF —hEF
2020 2019
AR®T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
— —FR — Within 1 year 2,294,584 1,312,368
— —FEZMF  — Between 1 and 2 years 1,824,482 1,816,252
— MEERF — Between 2 and 5 years 855,331 1,873,157
— AFLLE — Over 5 years 90,242 190,625
5,064,639 5,192,402
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B2 T -TF - HA=+—HIFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

£ /g .
29. B (4 29. BORROWINGS (continued)
(8 AEBEERNEAEBENT (g0  The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are
HEMERBEBAL denominated in the following currencies:
B+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-EF —E—NF
2020 2019
ARET T ARBETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 2,040,040 2,179,809
ET usD 592,038 284,404
P HKD 2,432,561 2,728,189
5,064,639 5,192,402
(h)y SEREMEFNEEEAELA (h)  The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current
AEBEMT : borrowings are as follows:
R+=-A=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-EF —E—NF
2020 2019
ARETT ARBETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REEE Carrying amounts 2,770,055 3,880,034
NAEE Fair value 2,781,135 3,895,554
RRITIRFZETEABHR The carrying amounts of current borrowings approximated
2o U REERAEREE their fair value due to short maturities, as the impact of
BERAEALEEBEMEE - discounting was not significant.
ERBERN AR EBTIIE The fair value of non-current borrowings are estimated
BRI REE  UAEE based on discounted cash flow approach using the
A ARSI R A B K BB A prevailing market rates of interest available to the Group
& T ANRITHISHE for financial instruments with substantially the same terms
HEt RZE=ZF+=A and characteristics, which was 4.13% as at 31 December
=+ —HZHMEXRL13% 2020 (2019: 5.82%) and is within level 3 of the fair value
ZZE—NF :5.82%) * I hierarchy.

ERAAEBEERNFEIEA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—FE-—FFEf - HA=1—HIFE

(RBEENBARKE T (BRIESEHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

29. B (4 29. BORROWINGS (continued)

(i) REBARYE - R RBE (i) The effective interest rates of the Group’s borrowings
BRREZHRERRNEERF denominated in RMB, USD and HKD at the end of each
R reporting date are set out as follows:

R+=A=+—8

As at 31 December
—ECTH —E-NF
2020 2019
AR RMB 3.48%~6.00% 4.35%~6.00%
ETT UshD 2.26%~3.58% 6.04%~6.36%
B HKD 2.87%~3.35% 4.69%~5.11%

30. EEATIBH 30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX
(a) BEMBHREEREBENSD (@)  The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as
o follows:
R+=-—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—F-BF —TNF
2020 2019
AR¥ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ELFSTIEE Deferred tax assets
— 121E A% — Deferred tax assets to be recovered
## o] {3 T after more than 12 months
MIBEE 10,199 21,782
— 12 {& A N[l — Deferred tax assets to be recovered
ROIERERIE within 12 months
BE 17,263 6,896
27,462 28,678
ELFTSTI B E Deferred tax liabilities
— 12fE@ A% — Deferred tax liability to be recovered
(0] {3 T after more than 12 months
FrSfiasE (566,749) (528,870)
— 121E& A R#E [0 — Deferred tax liability to be recovered
RO IR IE within 12 months
afE (26,472) (17,683)
(593,221) (546,553)
IEIEFTSH Deferred tax liabilities — net
81&(FE) (565,759) (517,875)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B2 T -TF - HA=+—HIFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

30. ELEFTEBL (& 30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
(a) (#&) (@ (continued)
BELEAMSHRE NAZEE The gross movements on the deferred income tax account are
IR ¢ as follows:
BE+-A=+—-HLEE
Year ended 31 December
—E-EF —T-hF
2020 2019
ARET T AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
n—HA—H At 1 January (517,875) (441,319)
WHEF A Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 35)
(Pt5E35) (32,559) (14,771)
EHEH ML AIESHR)  Tax credit/(charge) relating to other
ER@FENR, comprehensive income (Note 12)
(RRfR) (M3E12) 4,562 (233)
MBI AR Charged to profit or loss (Note 12)
(fizE12) (19,887) (61,552)
M+ZHA=+—H At 31 December (565,759) (517,875)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—FE-—FFEf - HA=1—HIFE

(RBEENBARKE T (BRIESEHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

30. ELEEB (& 30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
(b) FAREREMESHEENAE (b)  The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
VBN - during the year are as follows:
EEFRESHEE Deferred tax assets
HALER
fEEE
BHHAER
BEfeR
EENERE  EER REEE &  EEER A B it
Revaluation
of financial
assets at
Provision for fair value
impairment Accrued through
of assets expenses  Taxlosses  Depreciation profit or loss Others  Offsetting Total

ARRTL  ARBTRL  ARBTR  ARRTL  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETT  ARETR
RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBOOD  RWBO0D  RMBOOD  RMBIOOD

RoE-NE-A-H M1 Janvay 2019 2423 1,055 30,074 1,029 - 1,167 (2,056) 33692
i S Acquisition of a subsidiary - - 6,784 - - - - 6,784
NBEMIR/ (%) Creditedi(charged)
to profit or loss 1,543 (485) 42 (51) - 1,128 (13,975) (11,798)
WZF-NE As at 31 December 2019
TZA=t-H 3,966 510 36,900 978 - 2,29 (16,031) 28678
RIE-NE-A-B M1 Janvay 2020 3,966 570 36,900 978 - 2,295 (16,031) 28,678
WETAR Acquisiton of subsiciaries
(B3 35) (Note 35) 682 - 2,111 - - 235 - 3,028
ERRAR/(38)  Credited!(charged) to
profit or loss 2,351 464 (7,650) 1) 7611 577 (7,524) (4,244)
WZF-nE s at 31 December 2020
t2A=1-A 6,999 1,034 31,361 905 7611 3,107 (23,555) 21,462
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
B2 T -TF - HA=+—HIFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

30. EEFRBH (& 30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

(b) FRIEEFEHAENE S (b)
EBIIT ¢ ()

The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
during the year are as follows (continued):

ELEFEHAasE Deferred tax liabilities
NAREE  EREER
Fpizt:S SO
gHTARE  ARRA/
EMAtN GAkEN  WEBASHEE
MEEER SREEEfR  NE0HE bk i @t
Revaluation  Withholding
of financial  tax relating to
Fair value assets at  dividends to be
adjustments fairvalue  distributed/
relatedto  through other interests eared
busingss  comprehensive  from the PRC
combinations income  subsidiaries  Depreciation Offsetting Total
AEETL  ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RZE-NE-F-H At 1 January 2019 447895 9,162 9,834 10,176 (2,056) 475,011
W&+ 1) (3 35) Acquisition of a subsidiary
(Note 35) 21,555 — - - — 21,555
FEMSARETTE  Charged to other comprehensive income - 233 - - - 233
PNEEM(AR) /2B (Credited)icharged to profit or loss (8,555) - 4072 68212 (13,975) 49754
RZE-N As at 31 December 2019
E+-f=1-H 460,895 9,39 13,906 78,388 (16,031) 546,553
R=E-FF-F-H At 1 January 2020 460,895 9,395 13,906 78,388 (16,031) 546,553
Wb 7] (B3E 35) Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) 27,069 = = 8,518 = 35,587
EEMEANERTR  Credited to other comprehensive income = (4,562) = = = (4,562)
REEM(AR) /2B (Credited)icharged to profit or loss (23,099) = 8,471 37,795 (7,524) 15,643
S =2 As at 31 December 2020
T-A=1-H 464,865 4,833 22,371 124,701 (23,555) 593,221
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

30. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

(b)

(c)

The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
during the year are as follows (continued):

As at 31 December 2020, deferred income tax liabilities of
approximately RMB199,448,000 (2019: RMB149,341,000)
had not been recognised for the withholding tax that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries.
Such amounts are permanently reinvested. Unremitted
earnings totalled approximately RMB3,988,955,000 as at 31
December 2020 (2019: RMB2,986,819,000). The Group
does not intend to remit these unremitted earnings from the
relevant subsidiaries to the Hong Kong holding entity in the
foreseeable future.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
approximately RMB17,502,000 (2019: RMB17,385,000)
in respect of losses amounting to approximately
RMB698,736,000 (2019: RMB662,992,000) that can
be carried forward against future taxable income. The
unrecognised tax losses will expire in the following years:

—E-BF —E-NEF

2020 2019

ARBTF T ARBFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

2022 2022 2,121 2,121
2023 2023 2,495 2,495
2024 2024 23 23
2025 2025 467 —
mEEA No expiry date 693,630 658,353
698,736 662,992
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

31. RE 31. DIVIDENDS
RZZE-ZFEANMREREAA The dividend paid in 2020 was RMB235,003,000 (2019:
R#235,003,0007L(ZE—NF : RMB211,838,000).

AE#211,838,0007T) °

—EEF —ET-NF
2020 2019
AR¥T AREETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
@R —Z— R4 Final dividend for the year ended
BRI EFAK 31 December 2019 of RMB12.00 cents
AREE12.00 5 per share (2018: RMB10.00 cents per share)
—E-N\F: paid to ordinary shares
HEARYE10.005) 120,027 98,310
TR ZZ—ZF Interim dividend for the year ended
[EH AR B B 31 December 2020 of RMB11.40 cents
AREE11.40% per share (2019: RMB11.42 cents per share)
—E-NEF paid to ordinary shares
SRARE11.429) 114,976 113,528
235,003 211,838
BRE_Z-_—F=-A=1+—HKE Pursuant to the resolution of the Board of Directors dated 31 March
ARG ARREEEZRIRER 2021, the directors of the Company proposed to distribute total
E-E-FEE+-_A=+—HIE final dividend of RMB153,589,000 (RMB15.30 cents per share)
r;ffi,ﬁﬁﬂx,%ﬁ%}\ﬁﬁ%wso% : for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB120,027,000,
4% A R# 153,589,000 (=% RMB12.00 cents per share), which was not recognised as a liability
—NF : BRARE12.005 + 4 at year end.

#E AR 120,027,0007T) © K
HAERLEFRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

32. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

generated from operations

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash

BE+t-A=T—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

= i —TNF
2020 2019
ARET T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
B P {545 B A Profit before income tax 1,418,375 1,127,380
FRIEH Adjustments for:
— T BE  BER — Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
BEARIEE M and investment properties (Notes 15,16)
EHEFE
(KIzE 15 16) 166,375 145,803
— EREEEREE — Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17)
TE B IE R 8
(F3¥17) 97,502 90,227
— FRAREENE — Depreciation of right of use assets (Note 14)
(fF7E 14) 11,789 9,266
— BIFSUES (M15E£ 10)  — Finance income (Note 10) (11,228) (25,311)
— BN (155 10)  — Finance costs (Note 10) 244,675 288,018
— FER () — Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses (Note 7)
1Bk (1 7) (188,536) 61,724
— SNET A%k — Losses on forward exchange instrument (Note 7)
(P& 7) 30,445 —
— EWEE N NAEE  — Loss from fair value change of notes
BENEL (HFE7) receivable (Note 7) 2,691 2,337
— EIEBE AR — Share of results of associates and a joint
BEPEEE venture (Note 11(b))
(BIzE11(b)) 45,880 42,317
— BRETEE - BME  — Gains on disposal of property, plant
FAERFITF (b) and equipment (b) (3,281) (377)
— RETARFIEK  — Net losses on disposal of a subsidiary — 10,718
— REHELAREE  — Changes in fair value of contingent
2E) (fH7x7) consideration (Note 7) (8,480) (54,303)
1,806,207 1,697,799
HEESEE) Changes in working capital:
—FE — Inventories 94,040 (2,416)
— ZRHRS — Restricted cash (95) 3,510
— BUERFR & — Trade and other receivables
HAth & R 209,725 (140,659)
— ERERR R — Trade and other payables
H b T3k 239,741 103,403
— &REE — Contract assets (652,830) (271,876)
—AR&aE — Contract liabilities (45,733) 73,793
(155,152) (234,245)
HEELHNRS Cash generated from operations 1,651,055 1,463,554
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B2 T -TF - HA=+—HIFE

(2B BAREF T (RIS EHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. REELWNIHS(4Z) 32. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(continued)
(b) BETHE WMEKRXMEF  (b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
(EEN

75/\/_\13\:F£ﬁi//w§2§¢' &E&EZ—@J
E - BERBRERERIERRE

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from disposal
of property, plant and equipment comprise:

BE+T-A=+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-EF —E-NF
2020 2019
ARET T ARBETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRMESHE (MIFE 15) Net book amount (Note 15) 9,049 775
BEETEE  MEN  Gains on disposal of property,
BERFE (FFEET) plant and equipment (Note 7) 3,281 377
ET@JF %= K Proceeds from disposal of property,
RABFTS IR plant and equipment 12,330 1,152
(c) MBEXFEAD (c) Net debt reconciliation
BN 3 B 1R HA T R P B TR B FHE This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in
BRI DT EE) o net debt for each of the periods presented.
BZE+-A=+—HILLEE
Year ended 31 December
—ECEF —E-NF
2020 2019
AR¥T T ARBT T
B FE Net debt RMB’000 RMB’000
ReRREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,640,081 1,349,836
&3 — BE—FNIEE Borrowings — repayable within one year (2,294,584) (1,312,368)
&3 — BHE—F 1428 Borrowings — repayable after one year (2,770,055) (3,880,034)
eV Net debt (3,424,558) (3,842,566)
Re RREERE Cash and liquid investment 1,640,081 1,349,836
RIER — BER =X Gross debt — fixed interest rates (557,497) (408,395)
RIEW — FEIFER Gross debt — variable interest rates (4,507,142) (4,784,007)
&R F 5 Net debt (3,424,558) (3,842,566)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. REELWNIHS(4Z) 32. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(continued)
(c) EXFHEAHE) (c) Net debt reconciliation (continued)
HitEE BEEBNER
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
BeR ik —FREH —FREE
REZEN RE() R MR HESE gt
Borrowings Borrowings
Cash and cash Liquid due within due after Leases
equivalents  investments (i) 1 year 1 year liability Total
ARBFTL ARBTL ARETTL ARBFL ARBFL ARBFTL
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RZB-NE-A-B  Netdebtasat
EEFE 1 January 2019 1,075,907 305,000 (1,608,223) (3,809,825) — (4,037,141)
FRERHHRLEL  Recognised on adoption
£16% of HKFRS 16 - — - - (6,362) (6,362)
Bahg Cash flows 270,884 (305,000) 339,664 (44,337) 1,677 262,888
ERATEN Increase from business
combination - — (5,000) - - (5,000)
BiEHE Acquisition leases - - - - (4,981) (4,981)
iR Foreign exchange
adjustments 3,045 — (38,809) (25,872) — (61,636)
RZB-AE+ZA Net debt as at
=+-BEHFE 31 December 2019 1,349,836 — (1,312,368) (3,880,034) (9,666) (3,852,232)
Baihg Cash flows 295,235 — (1,080,257) 1,014,810 4316 234,104
BEHE Acquisition leases - — - - (2,852) (2,852)
[E3F 4 Foreign exchange
adjustments (4,990 — 98,041 95,169 - 188,220
2 | Net debt as at
Z+-BERFR 31 December 2020 1,640,081 - (2,294,584) (2,770,055) (8,202) (3,432,760)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

33. XABEHE 33. CONTINGENCIES
RZEZZEF+_A=+—HEKZ= As at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the Group did
E-NE+-_A=+—8 K%M not have any material contingent liabilities.
mEANBALE -
34. &g 34. COMMITMENTS
(@) EXREH (a) Capital commitments
REBEERDFTHERBEZER Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of each reporting
AT period, but not yet incurred is as follows:
R+=A=+—~H
As at 31 December
—EC-EF —T-NEF
2020 2019
ARET T AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HAELPEEANERE Capital investment to a joint venture 3,600,000 3,600,000
RS AE Uk B S (B s Share purchase consideration commitment 899,508 280,000
HEE AR EAMRE  Capital investment to associate 100,000 100,000
THE - BB MK Property, plant and equipment 16,850 15,450
4,616,358 3,995,450
(b) REEBRAE (b) Licensing fee commitments
®+=—BA=+—H
As at 31 December
—EC-BFE —T-hF
2020 2019
ARMT T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
THBE—F Not later than one year 1,100 1,100
HBB—FETEBATE Later than one year and no later than five years 4,400 4,400
BB hF Later than five years 7,700 8,800
13,200 14,300
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PREE MR FINEEERARE
BEREREE UERXRARSH
LIEEXER - BHEBEHNAARE
108,000,000t °

B B RS - NEETER R EAR
HEMGHER - WEEENOARE
160,406,000 T H) EE - 88 E N
WEEERERFMHSTHEENEN
REFHRAES - BAKEHEMBE
BEBZENHRBUE - ﬁﬁ%t
TR N BT R B (E 2 -
&TﬁﬁiﬁHLLfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁFEEﬁﬁﬁ%%@
RWE - R BRI N AI IR
U

TREANKE A RHREZRER
HERE  TREEELAAER
1 Z’Aﬁf 18 DA R IR 11

o

Bk

B OB FE IR AR B EE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

HE T -_FFf - H=+—HIFE

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 31 January 2020, the Group acquired 100% of the equity
interests of Shengiu Huixin, an independent third party established in
the PRC with limited liability, which is principally engaged in natural
gas pipeline investment and construction, distribution and sales of
natural gas in Shengiu County, Zhoukou City, Henan Province. The
total consideration was approximately RMB280,000,000.

On 30 September 2020, the Group acquired 100% of the equity
interests of Zizhou Shunxing, an independent third party established
in the PRC with limited liability, which is principally engaged in
natural gas pipeline investment and construction, distribution and
sales of natural gas in Zizhou County, Yulin City, Shaanxi Province.
The total consideration was approximately RMB108,000,000.

As a result of the above mentioned acquisition, the Group is
expected to increase its presence in these markets. The goodwill
of approximately RMB160,406,000 arising from the acquisition
is attributable to the pre-existing and well positioned business
operating in competitive markets, operating synergies with other
existed operations of the Group, the expansion to and the strategic
advantages of the upper stream of the industry, and economies of
scale expected to be derived from combining the operations. None of
the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes.

The following table summarises the consideration paid and
contingent consideration for the acquisition, the fair value of assets
acquired, liabilities assumed and the non-controlling interests at the
respective acquisition date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. ¥R (=Z 35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
MEES FiMIERE
R-B-2F R=B=EH
—HB=+-—H hB=+H @et
Shenqiu Huixin  Zizhou Shunxiang
as at as at
31 Jan 2020 30 Sep 2020 Total
ARBETIT ARBT T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
$E Consideration
—BEffRE — Cash paid 276,049 97,195 373,244
— g BHE — Contingent consideration 3,951 10,805 14,756
g Total consideration 280,000 108,000 388,000
MEES FIMIERE
R-ZE-EF R-B-FF
—A=t+—H hBA=+H @st
Shenqiu Huixin  Zizhou Shunxiang
as at as at
31 Jan 2020 30 Sep 2020 Total
AREFIT AREFIT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AHRROKEEER Recognised amounts of identifiable
EEABENRRRE assets acquired, and liabilities
assumed:
ReRBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 4,489 2 4,491
TEE - BE L& E Property, plant and equipment 99,831 11,653 111,484
RS EARNIEE Investments accounted for
using the equity method 2,607 — 2,607
BREE: Intangibles:

— W — Exclusive operating rights 87,934 57,515 145,449
FREEE Right of use assets 9,000 542 9,542
FE Inventories 4,652 315 4,967
ERFTEERE Deferred tax assets 3,028 — 3,028
FEMRBR N K A FEULER  Trade and other receivables 34,568 907 35,475
HindEme & E Other non-current assets 835 — 835
FERBRF N B ERIZY Trade and other payables (17,726) (401) (18,127)
EREE Contract liabilities (32,904) — (32,904)
EREWA Deferred income (3,666) — (3,666)
BEFEHAE Deferred tax liabilities (31,081) (4,506) (35,587)
ERRATHAFEELS  Total identifiable net assets acquired 161,567 66,027 227,594
[EES Goodwill 118,433 41,973 160,406

@E Total 280,000 108,000 388,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—FE-—FFEf - HA=1—HIFE
(REE BAREFIL (IS EHY))

For the year ended 31 December 2020
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

EBast(E) 35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

REES %?JHJI[E#
R-BZ2F  RIB-FF

-A=1+-H AA=+A AT EE W @t
Shenqiu Huixin Zizhou Shunxiang

as at as at Prior years

31 Jan 2020 30 Sep 2020 acquisitions* Total

ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

WEEEBELNRS Outflows of cash to acquire

R BRKEES businesses, net of cash acquired

iopkn
—BfiRe — cash paid 276,049 97,195 32,696 405,940
— WETFAFNES KR — cash and cash equivalents in
ReEEY a subsidiary acquired (4,489) (2 — (4,491)
WEEENR SR Cash outflows on acquisition 271,560 97,193 32,696 401,449
* BE_T-_FTF+-_A=+— * For the year ended 31 December 2020, such cash consideration

HIEFE MixHNRSHE
BIEARTFEWER T ILE
o) BHEE A S A SRR E
DR " A R 10,254,000
7T AR®17,479,0007T & A
% 4,963,000 7T °

BUBHABENERO/SAR ()
% 35,500 - Bt ABEE

—E-TH+-A=
L FEREANITHER -

I

\ [
+
m

/

HEHE (b)

ABEHELHERALCEZERT
IR PRt iR — S R IR
BEREELREDRUY  TF
EREERERNHABRERD
FARFEERBEEMBENEGE
R AXREEBFESHIXHTARKE
3,951,0007t £ 10,805,000 7T %f
EBYHED -

paid out included the amount of approximately RMB10,254,000,
RMB17,479,000 and RMB4,963,000 for the acquisitions of Xiping
Kaida, Sichuan Mingsheng and Shijiazhuang Jinming, respectively in
prior years.

Acquisition-related costs of approximately RMB35,500 have been
charged to administrative expenses in the profit or loss for the year

ended 31 December 2020.

Contingent consideration

The contingent consideration arrangement requires the Group to
pay in cash RMB3,951,000 and RMB10,805,000 respectively, to
the former owners of Shengiu Huixin and Zizhou Shunxiang under
the condition that within one year of the equity transfer of them, no
dispute on the legal right of the equity and assets, no undisclosed
obligations or unrecorded liabilities to be discovered by the Group
and the revalued result of the assets and liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. ¥%86 (&) 35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

(c) CUBEREKIER (c)  Acquired receivables
FEM AR R R E A FEM R A (BB The fair values of trade and other receivables approximate their
#m ANR¥ 35,475,000 0 BE carrying amounts totalling RMB35,475,000.
REEBMEE -

(d) WARFEEE (d)  Revenue and profit contribution

RKBERE T _TF+_H
=+t—HHHE- FﬁH&EﬁJEEE%%
BRAEEERMBRANRARE
16,265,0007T - BEEUVFFIEA &
AR 48,547,000 7T °

Hﬂlﬁﬁﬁ T-_TF—-H—H
CRIBE T _FTF 4
HE-I——EIJtiJEE’UﬁZﬁéﬁL
WAMEGFFAERD R BA
K ¥175,742,000T & A K #&
42,107,000t °

REEBHE T -_TF+ A
E+*E%ﬁ'%W%¥Nﬁﬁ¥
BAAEBERMBRALOABARE
16,285,000t ' EEVFFBELO A
AER#3,731,000 7T °

”ﬁﬁﬁ'ﬁ_ S_FTF—H—H%

R E—_Z_EF+ A
E‘f’— HiIEFENERE KA
MeatFHNEESMNAARE
33,146,000t X AR#1,325,000
IT o
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The acquired business Shenqiu Huixin contributed aggregated
revenues of approximately RMB168,265,000 and aggregated net
profit of approximately RMB48,547,000 to the Group for the period
from the acquisition date to 31 December 2020.

Had the respective acquisition been consolidated from 1 January
2020, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income would
show pro-forma revenue of RMB175,742,000 and net profit of
RMB42,107,000, respectively.

The acquired business Zizhou Shunxiang contributed aggregated
revenues of approximately RMB16,285,000 and aggregated net
profit of approximately RMB3,731,000 to the Group for the period
from the acquisition date to 31 December 2020.

Had the respective acquisition been consolidated from 1 January
2020, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income would
show pro-forma revenue of RMB33,146,000 and net profit of
RMB1,325,000, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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36. FIEFIHERRS 36. TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

W iE A B R IME RS Acquisition of additional interests in a subsidiary
RZZEZZTEFNA=1H  ~&E On 30 September 2020, the Group acquired an additional 30% of
A A R % 26,000,000 7T # 4s B % the equity interests of Henan Luyuan for a purchase consideration
1B U B8 ] B 4% R 30% I #E - A& of RMB26,000,000. The Group recognised a decrease in non-
BEERIEESIEREZ R D ARE controlling interests of RMB20,724,000 and a decrease in equity
20,724,0007T + AR R A & E attributable to owners of the Company of RMB5,276,000.

IHHERR D AR 5,276,000 7T ©

RENRERIR B &R B The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Henan Luyuan on
RARFBE RGN ER M the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the year is
R summarised as follows:
S R AR IR
R-B-BF
hBA=+H
Henan Luyuan
As at 30
September 2020
AR¥T T
RMB’000
SR IHEHIERZAHIRE S5  Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired 20,724
IR RS R (E Consideration paid to non-controlling interests (26,000)
RSP EROB M EBE  Excess of consideration paid recognised within equity (5,276)
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BREAE RS

BT RIE— T BRENESNE T
REEMBMELERR EBIMEX
FE o BN RARES - AR
R FTRERE

37.
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=+ —BRHEEREE S SRR o

37.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control the
other party or exercise significant influence in making financial and
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they
are subject to common control.

The Group is controlled by Tian Lun Group Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of Gold Shine Development Limited (incorporated
in the BVI), and is ultimately controlled by Mr. Zhang Yingcen and
his wife (“Controlling Shareholders”).

The following is a summary of the significant transactions carried
out between the Group and its related parties in the ordinary course
of business during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019, and balances arising from related party transactions
as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

() BHLEEBRER (@) Name and relationship with related parties
B BB @&
Name of related party Relationship
Bl SN NN 4

International Finance Corporation (“IFC")

RN TR
Suzhou Ping Zhuang

ARBRER RES

Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund

AR IRRFREIR AR AR

Henan Yutian New Energy Limited

X ERRIRREARAR (DIRRRRE D

Henan Tian Lun Gas Engineering Investment Limited

(“Henan Tian Lun Investment”)
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Shareholder of the Company

ik W/NC]

Associate of the Group

BEhE

Joint venture of the Group

AEBRERMESIESZ AT

Controlled by Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund

PERR AR R 12 ] 2 A )
Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

37. BBARE (&

BE—FE-_FFEf - A=1—HIFEF

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(b) EXBEHRS (b) Significant related party transactions
REE BB FET INIERRZ The Group had the following significant transactions with related
Z o parties.
BE+-A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December
—ECEF —E-NF
2020 2019
AR%T AREEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MRRHEE Sales of gas
BRI Suzhou Ping Zhuang 24,562 25,842
AERAFEREERE AT Henan Yutian New Energy Limited 24,284 2,760
48,846 28,602

BE+T-A=1+—HLFE

Year ended 31 December

—B-FF —TNF
2020 2019
ARET T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RAREE Purchase of raw materials
A% AHEERARAR  Henan Yutian New Energy Limited — 17,510

BE+t-A=+—-HLEE

Year ended 31 December

—E-FF —TNEF
2020 2019
ARET T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
TR E Interest charged by
Eilf SN IFC 9,052 19,175
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

37. BHMAREG (& 37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(b) EXBEXZ(E) (b) Significant related party transactions (continued)

BE+-A=1+—-HLFE

Year ended 31 December

e R
2020 2019
ARET T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
HEERESE Repayment the principle of borrowing
Bl SN IFC 138,919 136,765
BZE+-A=+—RHILLEE
Year ended 31 December
- —TNF
2020 2019
ARET T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
W EI BRI Dividends received
AEBREREES Henan Yuzi Tianlun Fund — 8,123
BZ+=-A=+—HILLEE
Year ended 31 December
—E-EF —E-NF
2020 2019
ARET T AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
R TERK Construction Service
SRR AFRAMR LT Henan Yutian New Energy Limited 1,771,606 1,591,209
LB X 5 BB R ILE These transactions are carried out on terms agreed with the counter
2 15 ik O IR T © party in the ordinary course of business.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—FE-_FFEf - A=1—HIFEF

(2FEE BAREFT (RIS EHS))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

37. BBARXS (&) 37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(c) CEERFEER W&RR (c) Balances with related parties
B+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
—ECEF —E-NF
2020 2019
AR¥ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FEWERF R E U FR  Trade and other receivables
— AR BRRIEER — Henan Yutian New Energy Limited
BRAF 318,387 487,635
— AEXmIEE — Henan Tian Lun Investment 13,607 13,617
— RN — Suzhou Ping Zhuang 30 623
332,024 501,875
W+=A=+—H
As at 31 December
—ECEF —E-NF
2020 2019
AR¥ET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERAEE Contract assets
— AR RIEIR — Henan Yutian New Energy Limited
BRAF 1,120,224 406,600
R+=B=+—8
As at 31 December
= —TNF
2020 2019
AR¥ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ENRR R EMENT  Trade and other payables
— A E R RIEEIR — Henan Yutian New Energy Limited
BRAH 9,891 21,175
— BB emAn —IFC 2,563 7,480
— EXRIEE — Henan Tian Lun Investment — 327
— RN — Suzhou Ping Zhuang 200 200
12,654 29,182
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

37. BBARS (& 37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
(c) EERAEEAMAEER(2) (c) Balances with related parties (continued)
R+=—A=+—H
As at 31 December
. —T-NEF
2020 2019
AR¥TR AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERER Loan due to
— B[RS RAF — IFC 130,498 279,048
(d) PFAREEASEH (d) Key management compensation
HE+-A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December
. —T-NEF
2020 2019
ARETR AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EARFH 2R Basic salaries and allowances 18,857 18,527
IRPRABFI AR Retirement benefit contributions 1,858 1,858
20,715 20,385
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37.

(e)

BBLXS (&

BBEREX

AEER—REETENHEARR
BITHERIREER - RZTEZTF
T-A=Z1+—H A% ENWE
RAEHAEREEEAARE
246,000,000C(=ZZE—NLF : A
% 50,500,0007T) °

RZEZZFXAZ+WA - £l
BEDEN—BREMZEEDLE
B EAREHT RS BEERD
HOUBRB-ZE-ZE—A A
HE-_Z_NF+A+_HHME
B BReaAELASSBEAARE
3,000,000,0007T ° ANEEE] S &
BERERGE  REERERR
RERIER - AEEREBERERG
ERENRERETRETSER
HEHEERERMNMOEE -

BEERAE BE_ZT_TF+ =
A=+—HBRZZ—NF+=A
=+ HIEFERSEEHNITBE
BREANH AR EEBENE L BB
TERIWEFEL B - 1IN - =
ERARBEMZEERMITE AR
SEREMNKE TS -

Bt R M aE (&)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR T -TF | —A=1+—HIFE

(RBEENBARKE T (BRIESEHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(e) Financial guarantee contracts

The Group provided guarantees to bank borrowings of a subsidiary
of a joint venture. As at 31 December 2020, the guaranteed
facilities amount utilised by the subsidiary of a joint venture was
RMB246,000,000 (2019: RMB50,500,000).

On 24 June 2020, one shareholder of the aforesaid joint venture
provided a maximum amount entrusted guarantee agreement to a
subsidiary of the joint venture to secure the financing facility from 9
January 2020 to 12 July 2024 in a maximum outstanding principal
amount of RMB3,000,000,000. The Group entered into a maximum
amount counter-guarantee agreement which provide a counter
guarantee to the shareholder of the joint venture. The total amount
of the counter-guarantee liability assumed by the Group under the
counter-guarantee agreement shall not exceed the value of the shares
in the joint venture.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the financial
guarantee contracts of the Group issued during the year ended 31
December 2020 and 31 December 2019 was insignificant at the
date of issue of the financial guarantee and no provision is necessary.
In addition, the directors do not consider it probable that a claim will
be made against the Group under any of these guarantees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

38.

BREHRSEE

RZEZZTF+A=-+=ZH =&
EEME=FETN—HKRED
FOLUBERRBOHMRRER
N F100% A% - HEABARYE
233,300,000 7T ° BiZAEEFREH
HRAORMUERAREBER
LARKARBD D HMEE - S
BR-_Z_ZTF+_A=1+—HiH
%n& W& IEFR S = 5 & ERD
HITHE - BAEESERAHRIUS -

R-ZE-_ZFFE+A-+=H" ZISE
BEE =~ WE RS
BEHBRMWHERERAR 7(
BRECHWMRERAGF  EBES
HRRA R A B RoAE S & R AR
AARBR AR REBHENRELE
RARBR AT 100% K& - 4 &
#@EE R AR 832,760,000 7T © B
SRRETEEBETED SR
MRHFRAAREBRERARKIAR
D HMIAE - WEFER _F—
TEFT-A=Z+—BHHEARTHK - I
BELAFE=HEMETHE
BEEARMARRG -

38. EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 22 October 2020, the Group entered into an acquisition
agreement with a third party to purchase 100% equity of
Jingyuan County Jindi Gas Co., Ltd. with a consideration of
RMB233,300,000. The acquiree engages in pipeline gas operation
and pipeline transportation in Baiyin City, Gansu Province, the PRC.
The acquisition has not been completed as of 31 December 2020,
the acquiree is being valued by a third-party valuer, and the valuation
result has not yet been obtained.

On 25 December 2020, the Group entered into an acquisition
agreement with a third party to purchase 100% equity of Gansu Jindi
New Energy Co., Ltd., Datong County Jindi Gas Co., Ltd., Huzhu
County Jindi Gas Co., Ltd., Datong County Jindi Compressed Natural
Gas Co., Ltd. and Huzhu County Jindi Compressed Natural Gas Co.,
Ltd. with a total consideration of RMB832,760,000. The acquirees
are engaged in sales of combustion appliances, gas equipment sales,
city gas business in Xining City and Haidong City, Qinghai Province,
the PRC. The acquisition has not been completed as of 31 December
2020, the acquirees are being valued by a third-party valuer, and the
valuation result has not yet been obtained.

RZZEZTF+R - —REER In December 2020, the Group formally entered into a banking facility
EERITIEREBLHEA - HEM agreement with a reputable commercial bank as the leading arranger

NKBPITEMERA BAEEG]
N-IRITBEREHZ - RIE
%ﬂ‘liﬁﬁ%ﬁz’ﬁ* ,\T)\AH . [7) 7R
REEE-F28EZT(HEAR
#1,304,980,0007T ) I E K - LA
AR —REERCHAENMEERST
@1 cBIEAAHUMBHRERIAL

F AEECRR LB RITE
E%EE

REBEEFENR _T_—F=A8
_+ Elm/;&ulﬁa ! %A%uﬁ/ﬁg’\%
%61_7_7¢+ A=+—H1t
FENREBREERARKE 15.30
e Em%%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂﬂ%;ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂx%
FFRE EFAIE  FIEFELR
BiE31 °
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together with other nine banks constituting the lender. According to
the banking facility agreement, the lender agreed to grant a loan of
USD200 million (equivalent to approximately RMB1,304,980,000)
to the Company for general operating capital turnover and vested
liability repayments. As of the date of the issue of these consolidated
financial statements, the Group has already drawn down all the
aforesaid banking facility.

Pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors on 31 March
2021, a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020 of
RMB15.30 cents per share was proposed. The proposal is subject to
approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting, details refer to
Note 31.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—FE-—FFEf - HA=1—HIFE

(RBEENBARKE T (BRIESEHA))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

ARRINEEEER 39. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE

EkREZESER MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
ARIEEAEX Balance sheet of the Company
R+=B=+—8
As at 31 December
—ECTH —E-NF
. 2029 2019
BsE ARET T ARBTIT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BE ASSETS
EREBEE Non-current assets
HAb R Other receivables 7,941 26,501
FRRIEE Investments in subsidiaries 11(a) 129,220 128,270
137,161 154,771
REEE Current assets
%@F&EHQ%\ Other receivables 2,805,065 2,872,596
ZIRHIR & Restricted cash 16,974 26,933
He kReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 28,709 30,392
2,850,748 2,929,921
HWEE Total assets 2,987,909 3,084,692
EEREE EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
HERAATE Equity attributable to owners
FrE& 2z of the Company
N Share capital 8,466 8,430
P A5 A Share premium (M5t Note (a)) 817,455 1,029,366
S Reserves (Bf5F Note (a)) 19,179 23,439
25158 Accumulated losses (Ff5E Note (a)) (776,408) (742,079)
R Total equity 68,692 319,156
= LIABILITIES
FRBEE Non-current liabilities
B Borrowings 1,587,475 2,350,340
RBAE Current liabilities
EE Borrowings 1,296,035 377,848
H b FERT R Other payables 35,707 37,348
1,331,742 415,196
BEF Total liabilities 2,919,217 2,765,536
HEZNEE Total equity and liabilities 2,987,909 3,084,692
AARMEEABREHESERN The balance sheet of Company was approved by the Board of
—E-—HFZA=Z+—8#tZ I Directors on 31 March 2021 and was signed on its behalf.
REESEZEE -
Mr. Zhang Yingcen Mr. Xian Zhenyuan
EZE EZE
Director Director
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

39. XARMEEEER 39. BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE

RizEEEER (& MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
PfisE (a) AR BIRAHEF) - R R Note (a)Share premium, reserves and accumulated losses movements of the
EEZHIER Company
R A F E:5y 2o
Share Accumulated #E
premium losses Reserves
AREFTT ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R—ZE—NF—HA—H At 1 January 2019 1,188,151 (595,811) 25,965
KEERE Loss for the year — (146,268) —
S5 ERAR R HR R AR A Interim and final dividends paid (211,838) — —
BT ARSHIEE Value of employee services — — 6,303
IRIRRE AR BB TR D Issue of shares pursuant to
share option scheme 53,053 — (8,829)
R-ZE-hFE+=A=+—8H At 31 December 2019 1,029,366 (742,079) 23,439
R-E-_ZTF—HA—H At 1 January 2020 1,029,366 (742,079) 23,439
KEEE Loss for the year — (34,329) —
S5 ERAR R HA R AR A Interim and final dividends paid (235,003) — —
BT ARSHIEME Value of employee services — — 950
BRI B3 TAR 1D Issue of shares pursuant to
share option scheme 23,092 — (5,210)
R-ZB-_ZF+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2020 817,455 (776,408) 19,179
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—FE-_FFEf - A=1—HIFEF

(LHREMBAREF T (BIESFHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

40 EEMFHIMELR(F 40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF

B R BMRBIN (56 622 DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
F)E 3831 (AT BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG
(HEEENRER) KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
BROINE6226E) & 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
EHRAIRENIKE) INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF

DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES)

(@) EERTBEZTM (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
FREFSNITHRBENEFMOT - The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set out
below:
BE-Z-_FTF+_A=+—AH1F For the year ended 31 December 2020:
FE -
AEEK
AAFHFA
ALENEE

RIMEA HfER  REEMES
2HR itEN &Bé@ LT SES

fe e Hifke ENER R A BEU&E%%Q &t
ther
emoluments paid
or receivable in

respect of director's

other services in

connection with

Employer's Other the management

contributionto ~ benefitsand  of the affairs

Allowances ~ aretirement  share-based of the Company

Discretionary  and benefits benefit  compensation or its subsidiary
4 Name Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme expenses undertaking Total
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETR AT ARBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

FRSE Mr. Zhang Yingcen - 780 = 53 = - 837
HRxE Mr. Liu Min = 601 = = = - - 601
BRELE Mr. Feng Yi* = - - — - _ _ _
FELL Ms. Li Tao = 432 = 4 16 238 = 690
TR Mr. Wang Jiansheng* 33 = = = = - - 33
s . Liu jin 132 = = = - - - 132
FRERE Mr. Li Liuging 60 = = - - - - 60
#ELL Ms. Zhao Jun 60 = = = - - - 60
RRRLE r. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael 130 = = = = - - 130
s Chief executive:
HREEE Mr. Xian Zhenyuan - 600 — 4 53 712 - 1,369
415 2413 - 12 122 950 — 3912
* BREE - RZ_T_FF=A * Mr. Feng Yi: resigned with effect on 31 March 2020.
=t+—B8fF-
FREEE : RZTEZTF= Mr. Wang Jiansheng: resigned with effect on 31 March 2020.
A=+—HgHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BE—E-—FTFEf - HA=1—HIFFE

(LHENBARKETFIL(BIESEH))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

40 EEWFmMELR(F 40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF

A TE G (38 622 DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
E)E3831% - (AT BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG
(BEEERZER) KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
RO (E622GE) K& 622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
J:jﬁ%ﬁﬂ']ﬁﬁﬁ'ﬂﬂi?é) INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
(#& DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES) (continued)
(@) ESBRITEHEARTM (a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)
BHE-ZT-NAF+-_A=+—AH1t For the year ended 31 December 2019:
R
HER
YN
FRALEN
i i ShiRg
el Etigd AfrEs
2R BEG REG  REAAS
ik e HiEke B i Fakb J@U&E%E{Nheﬁr 25
emo\um;gitg
or receivable
in respect
of director's
other serviges
in connection
with the
management
Employer's Other o the affairs
contributionto ~ benefits and of the
Allowances ~ aretirement  share-based Company or
Discretionary ~ and benefits benefit  compensation its subsidiary
2 Name Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme expenses undertaking Total

AEBTT  ARETT  ARETn  ARBTr ARETL ARMTn ARBT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Ey it Mr. Zhang Yingeen - 780 — 4 48 - — 832
FrEgL: M Zhang Sure - 157 - 1 6 - - 164
ARGE Mr. Liu Min* - 400 - 3 11 — — 414
Bl Mr. Feng Yi* — 390 — 4 15 1,261 — 1,670
TERT Ms. Li Tao — 390 — 4 15 1,261 - 1,670
TRERES Mr. Wang Jiansheng* 132 - — — - - - 132
Bt M. Liu jin 122 - - - - - - 12
RERE Mr. Li Liuging 60 - - - - - - 60
HELT Ms. Zhao Jun 60 - - - - - - 60
HRREE Mr. Yeung Yui Yuen Michael 138 - - — - - - 138
nEs Chief executive:
HRERE Mr. Xian Zhenyuan — 600 — 4 48 3,781 — 4,433
522 2,717 — 20 143 6,303 — 9,705
* REEREEE: RZTE—NEAX * Mr. Zhang Suwei: resigned with effect on 17 June 2019.
A++HHEHT -
BR%E : RZE—NF XA Mr. Liu Min: appointed with effect on 17 June 2019.
+EHZE -
BREE - R-_Z-_ZTF=A Mr. Feng Yi: resigned with effect on 31 March 2020.
=+ —HEHE -
TEREE R _ZTF= Mr. Wang Jiansheng: resigned with effect on 31 March 2020.
R=+—HB#Ht -
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(f)

B OB FE IR AR B EE ()

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BE—FE-_FFEf - A=1—HIFEF
(2REEBAREF T (BRIFSFHE))

For the year ended 31 December 2020

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

EEWH@ZMEZE (F  40. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF

B A B RBI (5 622
T)% 3831k - (AF
(KBEESHNmER)

BB (% 622G E) &
LR AR EREE)
(4)

EERRNER

RAFEER - EEEHETAL
A MEFRAREFHIEFEEMBIRS
SPEE AR RE T AR FEHME
2 RIS T 2 IR AR Ml s e MR
KM (ZF—NF &) -

EEHRRER

RAFER  MEREERILESR
R B Z kMR AESE S FKE
BRI RERARF] « IR AL (A A
FBE(ZE—NF |-

RRHESRBEMOE=S
REHHE

RAFER  HELENEE RS
MENFE=TRE=TERKRZKE
(ZF-NF:E|)-

BBEUES B ZE4F
EZERBEEESRAZHAZ
B EERRHEMRZZ
RAFERN  MBAEE EFZ
XESEEMBEEERREA

—NE ) -

ESHERS - RYEREEH
EXEHE

RAFER » ARRUEERFT R
WRARBZRBEMARRZES
BEESHEEERTHREEAEE 2
EERS  ZHLER(ZF N
FE) e

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG

KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES) (continued)

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year, no retirement benefits were paid to or receivable
by the directors in respect of their services as directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries or other services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the company or its subsidiary
undertaking (2019: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year, no payments or benefits in respect of termination
of directors’ services were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the
directors; nor are any payable (2019: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year, no consideration was provided to or receivable by
third parties for making available directors’ services (2019: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the year, there are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings
in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies corporate and
connected entities (2019: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

During the year, no significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year (2019: Nil).
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BE+T-A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December
E4 —EDEF _T-NF ZT-N\F ET—tF ZTRF
RESULTS 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ARETT AREFTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

A Revenue 6,439,777 6,548,618 5,113,254 3,109,014 2,693,094
E7 Gross profit 1,786,125 1,703,892 1,428,216 767,944 692,349
B PS5 B 1B Profit before income tax 1,418,375 1,127,380 864,804 575,839 444,708
Fri5fiE A Income tax expense (354,702) (313,915) (264,444) (146,682) (110,299)
FEAH Profit for the year 1,063,673 813,465 600,360 429,157 334,409
R+=A=t-8
As at 31 December
BE  BERESR —ECEE —E-AF ZE-N\F ZE—+F ZE—RF
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

ARBTRE ARETT ARBTIT ARETT ARBTE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000

BEE Total assets 12,918,138 11,938,781 11,434,093 8,472,249 7,633,412
FEN=Ri Total liabilities 7,937,851 7,751,461 7,890,324 5,354,446 4,881,703
iR Total equity 4,980,287 4,187,320 3,543,769 3,117,803 2,751,709
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